
Please ask for  Julie Britton DDI (01362) 656343
e-mail: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information 
only

Committee - GOVERNANCE & AUDIT 
COMMITTEE

Date & Time - Thursday, 25th July, 2019 at 10.00 am

Venue - Norfolk Room, Conference Suite, 
Elizabeth House, Dereham

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 

available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee.

Members

Mr W.P. Borrett (Chairman)
Mr R.G. Kybird (Vice-Chairman)
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mrs E. Grey

Mrs J. James
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr R.W. Duffield (Substitute Member)

Democratic Services 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Date: Tuesday, 16 July 2019

Public Document Pack





Governance & Audit Committee
25 July 2019

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith

1. MINUTES 5 - 12
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 5 June 2019.

2. ACTIONS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES (IF ANY) (STANDING ITEM) 

3. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.

4. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

5. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has a 
disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

6. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
To note the names of any non-members wishing to address the meeting.

7. TRAINING (STANDING ITEM) 13
To note if there are any training issues/ requests.

8. Q1 STRATEGIC RISK REPORT 14 - 26
Report of the Executive Director for Strategy & Governance.

9. AUDIT RESULTS REPORT 27 - 69
Report of External Audit, Ernst & Young.

10. AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018-19 70 - 187
Report of the Executive Director for Commercialisation (Statutory S151 
Officer).

11. TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUT-TURN 2018-19 188 -203
Report of the Executive Director for Commercialisation (Statutory S151 
Officer).

12. ANNUAL REPORT ON STANDARDS ARRANGEMENTS 204 - 207
Report of the Executive Director Strategy & Governance.



Governance & Audit Committee
25 July 2019

Page(s)
herewith

A training session will take place at the end of the meeting on Standards 
arrangements, Hearing Panels, and Members' responsibilities.

13. WORK PROGRAMME 208 - 209
A copy of the Committee’s work programme is attached.  The Committee is 
asked to consider whether any additions, deletions or amendments to the 
programme are required.

14. NEXT MEETING 
To note the arrangements for the next meeting to be held on Thursday, 3 
October 2019 at 10am in the Norfolk Room.

15. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
To consider passing the following resolution:

“That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Act.”

PART B – ITEM FROM WHICH THE PRESS AND THE PUBLIC ARE 
EXCLUDED

16. Q1 STRATEGIC RISK REPORT 210

TRAINING SESSION - STANDARDS ARRANGEMENTS, HEARING 
PANELS AND MEMBERS' RESPONSIBILITIES

Facilitated by Rory Ringer, Democratic Services Manager and Sarah 
Wolstenholme-Smy, Legal Services Manager.



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE

Held on Wednesday, 5 June 2019 at 10.00 am in
Norfolk Room, Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr W.P. Borrett (Chairman)
Mr R.G. Kybird (Vice-Chairman)
Mrs E. Grey

Mrs J. James
Mrs L.H. Monument

Also Present
Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr J. Plaskett

Mrs F. Haywood

In Attendance
Ross Bangs - Corporate Innovation, Change & 

Performance Manager (shared)
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 

Officer) (BDC)
Faye Haywood - Internal Audit Manager

Action By

20/19 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 15 February 2019 were 
confirmed as a correct record.

21/19 ACTIONS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES (IF ANY) (STANDING 
ITEM) 

None.

22/19 APOLOGIES 

An apology was received from Cllr Clarke.

23/19 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

24/19 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

25/19 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillor Cowen was in attendance.

5

Agenda Item 1



Governance & Audit Committee
5 June 2019

2

Action By

26/19 TRAINING (STANDING ITEM) 

It was discussed the following training would be scheduled and 
available for all Members to attend:

Course Date Venue
Governance & 
Audit Training

11 June  (10.00am – 
11.30am)

Broads Authority 
Office, Yare 
House, 62-64 
Thorpe Road, 
Norwich, 
Norfolk, NR1 
1RY

Governance & 
Audit Training

20 June  (2.00pm – 
3.30pm)

Broads Authority 
Office, Yare 
House, 62-64 
Thorpe Road, 
Norwich, 
Norfolk, NR1 
1RY

Dealing with 
standards cases 
against members

25 July 2019  
(following G&A 
Meeting)

Norfolk Room

Treasury 
Management 
Training 

3 October 2019  
(following G&A 
Meeting)

Norfolk Room

Risk management 
training

tbc tbc

Understanding the 
role of the S151 
Officer

To be provided via a 
brief paper

n/a

Understanding local 
authority financial 
statements

To be provided via a 
briefing paper from 
Ernst Young.

n/a

27/19 UN-AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018-19 

 (a) Update on audit of accounts (verbal update)  

Mr Hodgson informed Members that the Audit of Accounts had 
been originally planned to take place from the 27 May. However 
due to unforeseen circumstances the date had been moved to 
the 1 July.  He apologised for the change of date, but said he 
needed to be able to give full assurances to the Committee to 
approve the accounts.  The Audited Financial Statements 2018-
19 would still be reported at the next meeting of Governance 
and Audit in July.

 (b) Un-audited Statement of Accounts 2018-19  

The Chief Accountant highlighted the salient points of the un-
audited statement of accounts for 2018-19 and the Annual 
Governance Statement to Members.  

6



Governance & Audit Committee
5 June 2019

3

Action By

It was noted that following previous comments, the narrative 
report had been made clearer and provided a summary rather 
than figures. 

The Chief Accountant went onto explain the main changes on 
the balance sheet which were as follows:

 Property Plant and Equipment – The lease had come to 
an end on the Eco-Tec Centre and as a result the 
valuation had changed.  

 Investment Property – values had been increased by 
around £5m.  An investment had been made of £2m from 
the Growth & Investment fund to purchase a commercial 
unit. It was noted there had been a trend of increase in 
value for commercial units.

 Provisions Value – had increased to £2m – the reason 
for the increase was due the volatile area of business 
rates appeals.  An example provided was that an appeal 
had been resolved in March of which Breckland Council 
were liable for part of that provision of £600,000 which 
had been back-dated to 2010.

 Pensions Liability – had been increased by £8m to cover 
the level of deficit that the Council would have to 
contribute over the next 20-year period to bring the 
pension contribution to an acceptable level.  

The Annual Governance Statement had been added to the 
report for Members to review and the Committee should be 
comfortable it reflected the audit reports over the last year and 
the assurances that had been given.  The Annual Governance 
Statement would be audited as part of the accounts and 
approved by the Committee in July.

Councillor Kybird asked what the practical implications were of 
the change within the pension liability.  The Chief Accountant 
clarified it was an accounting change and the pension 
contribution would be reviewed in 2020 for budget purposes.  

Mr Plaskett asked for an explanation as to why £3.5m had been 
carried over from the final capital programme budget.  It was 
explained there were a number of projects in progress which 
had been delayed for a number of reasons and therefore would 
be carried over.  

Mr Plaskett sought clarification as to why there was a large 
decrease in the Growth and Commercialisation directorate 
spend, compared to the previous year.  The Chief Accountant 
explained it was due to an increase in commercial property 
values which created a credit in 2018/19 as well as grant funding 
spend in 2017/18 which increased the spend in 2017/18.

It was requested that for clarity the wording under ‘Adjustments 

7



Governance & Audit Committee
5 June 2019

4

Action By

to Revenue Resources’ should read ‘Depreciation and Re-
evaluations’.

Mr Plaskett queried why under re-evaluations there was £5m in 
Land showing an increased value and asked why this had not 
been considered to be sold.  The Chief Accountant explained 
there were some small pieces of land that were sellable which 
the Land Management Officer would look to sell to the home 
owner, but there were also pieces of land that were not sellable.  
In addition pieces of land had been set aside in the LABV and 
would be sold to Breckland Bridge as part of the business plan.

Mr Plaskett noted there had been little activity with Breckland 
Bridge and asked for a brief update. The Executive Member for 
Finance and Delivery informed Members that the site for 
development at Attleborough had been significantly delayed due 
to a number of technicalities with Norfolk County Council and 
Department for Education.  Members were advised that there 
were a number of alternative project sites for Breckland Bridge 
that were being considered.  

The Executive Member for Finance and Growth suggested that 
the narrative provided with the Statement of Accounts be 
available to all Members as a standalone document. It was 
agreed that updates to the document be carried out and be 
available to all Members following the next committee meeting in 
July.

RESOLVED that:
1) The committee noted the un-audited statement of 

accounts for 2018-19; and
2) The Annual Governance Statement for 2018-19 was 

reviewed.

28/19 PROGRESS REPORT ON INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY - AUDIT 
PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 2018-19 

The Internal Audit Manager presented the progress report on 
Internal Audit activity from 5 December 2018 to 24 April 2019 in 
relation to the completion of the Annual Internal Audit Plan for 
2018/19. 

Members were reminded that at the committee meeting held on 
the 16 February, the Annual Internal Audit Plan for the year had 
been approved however, since the last report to the Committee in 
December 2018, there had been one significant change to that 
plan.  It related to the Service Desk area where it had been 
decided that Office 365 audit would be deferred to the 2019/20 
internal audit plan.  

A total of nine Internal Audit Services had been carried out 
however three were concluded with a limited assurance opinion – 
Housing Needs; Payroll and HR; and, Procurement and Contract 
Management.  Position statements had been completed with 

8



Governance & Audit Committee
5 June 2019

5

Action By

suggested actions and areas of improvement that had been 
outlined within the report.

Mr Plaskett felt concerned that the priorities for Housing Needs 
had not been delivered against management timescales and 
asked how the Committee could gain assurances that they were 
being achieved.  Members heard that the Urgent Priority 
recommendation had been completed however two still remained 
outstanding.  Housing in particular were in a difficult period due to 
resourcing, however Members were assured that management 
were giving it their full attention.

Councillor Kybird asked if the key issues were to do with 
temporary accommodation and if moves were afoot to provide 
facilities to alleviate the pressure.  The Executive Member for 
Finance and Growth responded that the Council had additional 
legislative responsibilities which had given Local Authorities 
additional work with regard to homelessness.  He assured the 
Committee that it was a high priority for Members.

The Chairman asked if there had been recent legislative changes 
to the procurement process.  The Internal Audit Manager clarified 
whilst a total of eight recommendations had been raised during the 
Procurement and Contract Review, six important actions had been 
completed.  Management had moved quickly to implement the 
recommendations which gave assurance to the Audit Team.

It was asked for an explanation as to why Payroll and HR were 
showing limited assurance.  Members were informed that the 
biggest concern had been with regard to the DBS checking; 
however since finalising the report the issue had now been 
resolved.  In addition there had been one important 
recommendation outstanding that outlined issues with the annual 
performance review. 

Mr Plaskett asked if there were plans in place to re-audit the 
Contracts and Procurement Team.  It was confirmed that controls 
in Procurement and Contract Management were very important to 
the Governance framework and therefore due to the limited 
grading given another audit would be carried out in Quarter 4 of 
2019/20.  

RESOLVED that Members reviewed the outcomes of the nine 
audits completed by TIAA, in the period covered by the report, and 
the amendments to the 2018/19 internal audit plan.

29/19 FOLLOW UP ON INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS 

The Internal Audit Manager presented the report that provided 
Members with the position on the progress made by management 
in implementing agreed Internal Audit recommendations as at 31 
March 2019.

Members were informed that three recommendations remained 

9



Governance & Audit Committee
5 June 2019

6

Action By

outstanding from the 2016/2017 audit; 14 remained outstanding 
from 2017/18 and 9 remained outstanding from 2018/19.  
Explanations were covered within the Appendix of the report of 
which internal audit urged management to focus on completion of 
the three outstanding recommendations for 2016/17, together with 
the urgent and important recommendations raised in 2017/18.

Mr Plaskett was disappointed to hear that the actions remained 
outstanding and asked what had been put in place to ensure they 
would be dealt with.

The Chairman also asked if there was a reason why, as an 
example, the Taxi Licence fees had been delayed for two-years 
due to changes in legislation.  It was accepted Members would not 
want Officers to do the task twice within a short period, however it 
was felt that if a recommendation had been made then it should 
be completed in a timely manner.

Members discussed the suggestion that Officers be invited to the 
Committee to explain reasons why recommendations were over-
due.  As a result it was asked that Officers should attend the next 
meeting where the follow-up report is on the agenda for the 
outstanding actions for 2016/2017 and 2017/2018 and provide an 
explanation as to why the delivery had been delayed.

The Corporate Innovation, Change & Performance Manager 
advised Members it had also been agreed at the recent 
Performance Board that Officers would be invited to attend the 
Board meetings so the importance to achieve the target date could 
be reinforced.

Members noted the content of the report.  In addition it was 
AGREED that the responsible Officer for any outstanding 
recommendations not achieved by 12-months of the target date 
set be called to the Governance and Audit Committee. 

30/19 ANNUAL REPORT AND OPINION (REPORT ON THE PAST 
YEAR) 2018-19 

The Internal Audit Manager presented the report that provided the 
Council with an Annual Report and Opinion for 2018/2019 drawing 
upon the outcomes of the Internal Audit work performed over the 
course of the year.  

Members were informed that a ‘Reasonable’ audit opinion had 
been given to the Council in relation to Governance, Risk 
management and control for the year ending 31 March 2019.  The 
specific areas of: accounts payable; key controls and assurance, 
service desk and ARP enforcement all received a substantial 
assurance grading.

Councillor Kybird asked how specific items were identified.  
Members were informed that strategic objectives and risks 
identified were discussed at length with each service area and 

10



Governance & Audit Committee
5 June 2019

7

Action By

added to the Internal Audit Plan.

RESOLVED that Members note and approve:

1) the contents of the Annual Report and Opinion of the Head 
of Internal Audit.

2) that a reasonable audit opinion has been given in relation 
to governance, risk management and control for the year 
ended 31 March 2019.

3) the opinions expressed together with significant matters 
arising from internal audit work and contained within this 
report should be given due consideration, when developing 
and reviewing the Council’s Annual Governance Statement 
for 2018/19.

4) the conclusions of the Review and the Effectiveness of 
Internal Audit.

31/19 QUARTER 4 RISK REPORT 

Members agreed the Exclusion of Press and Public at this point of 
the meeting (agenda item 15) to enable the Capita Risk Report 
(Agenda item 16) to be discussed with this item.

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 the press and public be excluded from the 
meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

The Corporate Innovation, Change & Performance Manager 
presented the status of the Council’s strategic risks that covered 
the period from January to April 2019.  Out of the 14 risks 
identified, two were considered as high: the risk of a critical ICT 
breach; and, the continued impact following the introduction of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act.

The risk of a breach to ICT security remained high however the 
ICT team continued to take multiple steps to mitigate that risk 
which remained static.

He gave assurance to Members that there was a high focus and 
support given to the Housing team to mitigate the current risk 
following the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act 
which had resulted in unprecedented levels of demands on the 
team.  Members had also asked for a peer review of the housing 
service which would look to improve ways of working.

Members were informed that whilst they had asked for some risks 
to be removed, it had been decided to keep those risks within the 
report due to a review of all risks and performance indicators 
being carried out.  The Quarter 1 report would then show a robust 
risk register following that review.

Mr Plaskett thanked the Corporate Innovation, Change & 

11



Governance & Audit Committee
5 June 2019

8

Action By

Performance Manager for the work on the risk register and 
Members noted that the comments with in the report were much 
more salient than had been in the past.

Members asked that the following amendments be made to the 
risk register:

 Homelessness Reduction target date should be amended;
 Medium Term Financial Plan should be updated to reflect 

the deliverables achieved;

Members noted the contents of the report.

32/19 WORK PROGRAMME 

Members asked that the Training discussed be added to the work 
programme.

Councillor Kybird asked if the Constitution should be reviewed by 
the Governance and Audit Committee.  The Chairman requested a 
response before the date of the next meeting.

In addition, it was asked if Members of the Committee could 
receive training on their role in dealing with standards complaints.  
Training would be arranged and added to the work programme.

33/19 NEXT MEETING 

Members confirmed that the dates for all future meetings for 
2019/20.

The arrangements for the next meeting to be held on Thursday 25 
July at 10.00am in the Norfolk Room, Elizabeth House were 
noted.

34/19 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

See Minute no: 31/19.

35/19 QUARTER 4 RISK REPORT 

See Minute no: 31/19.

The meeting closed at 11.40 am

CHAIRMAN

12



Course Date 2019 Venue
Governance & Audit 
Training

11 June  (10.00am – 11.30am) Broads Authority Office, 
Yare House, 62-64 
Thorpe Road, Norwich, 
Norfolk, NR1 1RY

Governance & Audit 
Training

20 June  (2.00pm – 3.30pm) Broads Authority Office, 
Yare House, 62-64 
Thorpe Road, Norwich, 
Norfolk, NR1 1RY

Dealing with 
standards cases 
against members

25 July 2019  (following G&A Meeting) Norfolk Room

Treasury 
Management Training 

3 October 2019  (following G&A Meeting) Norfolk Room

Risk management 
training

tbc tbc

Understanding the 
role of the S151 
Officer

To be provided via a brief paper n/a

Understanding local 
authority financial 
statements

To be provided via a briefing paper from Ernst 
Young.
(Plus Alison Chubbock will be available to 
provide any 1-2-1 training prior to the July 
Governance & Audit meeting if required 
when the accounts are presented for 
approval – please email her directly 
Alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk)

n/a

13

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk


BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Maxine O’Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy and Governance, 
Executive Manager People & Public Protection

To: Governance and Audit Committee – Thursday 25th July 2019

Author: Ross Bangs – Corporate Innovation and Performance Manager

Subject: Quarter 1 19/20 Strategic Risk Report

Purpose: To inform the Committee on the status of the Councils’ strategic risks

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the contents of the report are noted.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The report presents the status of the Council’s 14 identified strategic risks as of the 
end of quarter 1 19/20. 

1.2 Strategic risks are captured on the Corporate Dashboard which is available to the Executive 
Management Team (EMT) and reviewed by EMT quarterly.  In addition, risks are reviewed 
monthly at the internal Performance, Risk & Audit Board chaired by the Executive Director 
of Strategy and Governance.

1.4. Strategic risks have been reviewed and updated with responsible members of the 
Executive Management Team.  The strategic risk register includes 14 strategic risks (see 
Appendix A).  These cover the over-arching risks that may affect the strategic direction of 
the council, rather than risks linked to business continuity or those that affect discreet 
service areas.

1.5 In their nature, strategic risks have been identified as having the potential to cause 
organisation wide impact and will often cover a number of key services and departments. 

1.6 The Council’s risk scoring mechanism is based on a 5x5 matrix and is comparable with 
best practice in other similar organisations. The risk matrix provides a comprehensive 
assessment and understanding of risk likelihood and impact. The matrix results in a 
numerical score which combines the impact of the risk occurring with the likelihood of it 
happening.

1.7 Risks fall into High, Medium or Low categories depending on their rating

1.8 Risks are tracked below in a heat map to represent the number of strategic risks currently 

High
Medium
Low

14

Agenda Item 8



reported at each score 
                               

1.9 There are 14 risks included within the Q4 risk Report.

The risks are made up of the following.

Level of identified Risk Quarter 1 19/20 Quarter 4 18/19
High 2 2
Medium 7 7
Low 5 5

Although the number of risks identified have remained static, it should be noted that there 
have been some positive movements within the categories. 

The risk relating to a critical breach of ICT security has been reduced both in terms of the 
likelihood and potential impact that this would have on the Council. This is as a result of 
the multiple steps, which are being taken to protect the internal IT systems from Cyber-
attack, these include firewalls to restrict external access, up to date antivirus and malware 
software which is updated on a regular basis.

The risk relating to the Council’s ability to maximize income from its asset portfolio 
remains static, this is in the main due to the two existing vacant properties in Swaffham. 
Roman House which was the former Balfour Beatty site is currently undergoing a 
feasibility study to determine the long future of this asset whilst the former Green Brittan 
Centre is currently being marketed. 

The impact of the Homelessness Reduction Act on the Council remains static and the 

15



service continues to experience sustained levels of unprecedented demand. The Council 
recently invited a review of the Housing Service which was facilitated by the LGA, the 
results of which are due imminently with an action plan to be implemented.  

Staff recruitment and retention continues to respond positively, although there was a small 
spike in the number of officers leaving the Council in Quarter 1, 5.1% compared with 3.4% in 
Quarter 4 this increase is a regular trend and the Council remains below the 6.5% national 
average. When vacancies have occurred, staff recruitment is performing very strongly which 
can be attributed to the new and innovative approaches currently being deployed by the HR 
service. 

The risk relating to the implementation of the General Data Protection Regulation continues to 
be above target and a new target date is proposed for the 31st July to ensure audit 
recommendations are implemented and approved, these recommendations also involve new 
terms being drafted to include new contractual obligations to our suppliers and how they 
handle and process Council data. 

The risk relating to how the Council’s contracts are procured and managed remains static 
within the medium rating. The team continue to undergo and develop thorough supplier 
appraisals and are measuring the effectiveness through to contract award. In addition the 
team are keeping a watching brief on how implications surrounding Brexit may impact the 
Council’s contracted supplier supply chains. 

As part of the annual risk review, the team have reviewed all service areas and 
departments with the relevant Executive Director to ensure that any new identified risks 
are included within the register and suitable mitigation put in place. In addition, a 
wholesale review of all existing risks has been undertaken to ensure that the register 
remains current and relevant. There are a number of risks which have reached their target 
score and which has now been sustained for two quarters. It is proposed that these risks will 
be discussed at the meeting for the committee to decide whether or not they are demoted to 
operational risks as oppose strategic.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Note the contents of the report and the recommendation and do nothing

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 Not applicable

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1   That the Committee is made aware of the Council’s strategic risks and understands that 
they are being managed and mitigated effectively.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no carbon footprint or environmental 
implications.

16



5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct constitutional or legal implications.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct contract implications.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 The report contains information on strategic risks relevant to the delivery of the Council’s 
corporate priorities.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct crime and disorder implications.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct equality or human rights implications.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 The report contains information on strategic risks relevant to the Council’s budgets and 
financial management.

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no health or wellbeing implications.

5.9 Reputation 

5.9.1 Risks which come to fruition have some reputational consequence. It is the purpose of the 
risk management strategy to manage potential outcomes by means of control measures.

5.10 Risk Management 

5.10.1   The report provides detail on the Council’s strategic risks.

5.11   Safeguarding

5.11.1   It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct safeguarding implications as a 
result of this report

5.12   Staffing

5.12.1   The report  contains  information  on  strategic  risks  relevant  to  the  delivery  of  the 
Council’s corporate priorities.

5.13 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

17



5.13.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct implications arising from this 
report.

5.14 Transformation Programme

5.14.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct implications arising from this 
report.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 Not applicable. 

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 ICT - Information Communication Technology

7.2   EMT - Executive Management Team

Background papers: - None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Ross Bangs – Corporate Innovation and Performance Manager
Telephone Number: 01362 665268
Email: ross.bangs@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Discretionary Service

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A Breckland District Council Strategic Risk Register Q4 2018-19
Appendix B                           Breckland District Council Strategic Risk Register Q4 2018-19 (Below 

the line - Exempt)

18

mailto:ross.bangs@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


BDC Strategic Risk Report inc Targets

Title Description Original 
Score Current Risk Score Impact Likelihood Trend (last qtr) Latest Note Target 

Impact
Target 
Likelihood

Target 
Date

Impact of 
Homelessnes
s Reduction 
Act

The implementation of the new 
act places additional burdens 
on BDC which may mean a 
reduced ability within the 
service to adhere to the act 
due to an unpredictable 
increase of persons 
approaching the housing 
options service. Capacity may 
be impacted by increased 
volumes of homeless 
applications, increased time 
needed to manage each case 
in order to fulfil the 
requirements of the new 
legislation and risk that the 
expansion of the duty could 
lead to a serious shortfall in 
available temporary housing 
options to accommodate 
homeless individuals and 
families

12 16 4 4

The impact of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 
continues to result in 
increased levels of demand 
into the Housing Service.

We are in the process of 
internally analysing our 
processes and the impact of 
service demand and have 
also commissioned an LGA 
peer review of the service 
which will provide an 
objective critique of the 
service and make a series of 
recommendations for 
improvement.

3 2 31-Oct-
2019

19



Title Description Original 
Score Current Risk Score Impact Likelihood Trend (last qtr) Latest Note Target 

Impact
Target 
Likelihood

Target 
Date

Critical 
breach of ICT 
security

Attacks are happening with 
increasing frequency at 
present. Ransom and theft 
specialists are targeting 
banking details and personal 
information, as with all other 
government systems and 
private companies 

25 8 4 2

As per the previous 
statement the risk still exists 
but impact and likelihood has 
reduced. Reasons for this is 
that Breckland Council ICT 
takes multiple steps to 
protect its internal IT systems 
from Cyber attack, these 
include firewalls to restrict 
external access, up to date 
antivirus and malware 
software (which is updated 
on a regular basis), end user 
education, system patching 
on servers and desktop 
devices to ensure risks from 
OS vulnerabilities is 
minimised.
.

4 2 30- Jun- 
2019

Contracts 
Monitoring

This risk covers the councils 
monitoring of contracts with 
external partners to ensure 
arrangements are financially 
secure and performing

16 9 3 3

The status for this risk 
remains the same, there 
have been no incidents to 
note with existing contracted 
suppliers or service providers 
which the team continues to 
monitor closely.

In addition the service 
continues to maintain a 
watching brief in relation to 
Brexit developments and 
what impact this may have 
on our contracted supplier 
supply chains.

2 3 31-Jul-
2019

20



Title Description Original 
Score Current Risk Score Impact Likelihood Trend (last qtr) Latest Note Target 

Impact
Target 
Likelihood

Target 
Date

Failure to 
maximise 
income from 
investment 
asset 
portfolio

This risk covers the councils 
failure to maximise income 
from the investment asset 
portfolio (commercial property)

16 9 3 3

No change to the score that 
remains in the yellow risk 
category.

 

We continue to actively 
market the current core void 
units and interest is good and 
properties continue to churn 
in the portfolio. The Council 
currently has two large void 
investment assets impacting 
on this risk.  One is being 
marketed through an external 
agent and there is some 
interest.  The other property 
is currently off the market 
pending the outcome of a 
feasibility study on the 
potential opportunity for an 
alternative use which may 
result in the conversion of 
this property into an 
operational asset.

3 2 31-Oct-
2019

Staff 
recruitment 
and retention 
at all levels 
within the 
organisation

Staff recruitment and retention 
issues could undermine the 
effectiveness of the 
organisations though loss of 
experience and knowledge 

15 6 3 2

Overall our turnover rate is 
slightly over target for the 
quarter at 5.1% against a 
target of below 4.3%. The 
resignations we have 
received are mainly due to 
long service and other 
opportunities being pursued 
and we have not picked up 
any issues or retention 
concerns in those exit 
interviews. A large % of the 
leavers are not returning 
after maternity leave, this has 

3 2 31-May-
2019

21



Title Description Original 
Score Current Risk Score Impact Likelihood Trend (last qtr) Latest Note Target 

Impact
Target 
Likelihood

Target 
Date

been their choice to spend 
time with their young 
families.

Medium Term 
Financial Plan 
Not Delivered

 
The council's medium term 
financial strategy has identified 
a budget gap, the 
transformation programme will 
need to make this level of 
saving for the organisation 
over that period to balance the 
budget. 

12 6 2 3

The medium term financial 
plan and balanced budget is 
reliant on the delivery of the 
moving forward 
transformation programme 
and the delivery of income 
streams such as planning 
and commercial property.

The transformation 
programme is already well on 
track to deliver the majority of 
savings in 19-20 and this is 
closely monitored by finance 
board and any issues would 
be reported to Members in 
the quarterly financial 
Cabinet report.

Many income streams could 
be affected by economic 
conditions (i.e. Property 
rentals) and competition from 
others (i.e. Building control 
income) and therefore the 
risk likelihood remains at a '3' 
and slightly above the target 
set for this time period.  It is 
likely the risk will remain at 
the score it is at currently 
whilst there is so much 
economic uncertainty within 
the UK.

However, the Council is well 
placed to deal with any 

2 2 31-Mar-
2019

22



Title Description Original 
Score Current Risk Score Impact Likelihood Trend (last qtr) Latest Note Target 

Impact
Target 
Likelihood

Target 
Date

impacts, as reliance on RSG 
and New Homes Bonus has 
been removed from the 
budget, the transformation 
programme is on track and 
we have set up a 'buffer fund' 
to cushion impacts of major 
property tenants moving 
out/ceasing trading.

General Data 
Protection 
Regulation 
Implementatio
n

With the implementation of the 
General Data Protection 
Regulation, which replaces the 
Data Protection Action of 
1998, there is a risk that the 
council will not manage its 
data appropriately and in line 
with the new regulations.

16 6 3 2

Continued progress with the 
GDPR Project Plan and 
provision of in house training 
and advice reduces the 
likelihood to unlikely, 
however the potential impact 
remains at Medium.

3 2 31-Jul-
2019

Failure to 
deliver the 
council's 
Corporate 
Priorities

Would lead to missed targets 
and failure to deliver objectives 
and may result in the Council 
suffering reputational damage 
and a failure to deliver 
priorities to residents. 

6 4 2 2

The CIP team are currently 
working with all services to 
ensure that the councils 
corporate priorities are 
achieved and measured 
against the corporate plan, 
any areas within the 
corporate priorities that are 
not achieved will be raised 
accordingly.

2 2 30-April-
2019

Failure to 
maximise 
trading 
opportunities

Failure to maximise trading 
opportunities could result in 
lack of commercial exploitation 
of assets or income from 
trading arms 

9 4 2 2

The commercial activities 
that the Council undertakes 
(excluding commercial 
Property) are relatively 
limited (BTS and EHC) and 
these are now established 
services, with relatively small 
budgets overall.

2 2 31-March-
2019

23



Title Description Original 
Score Current Risk Score Impact Likelihood Trend (last qtr) Latest Note Target 

Impact
Target 
Likelihood

Target 
Date

The Commercial Property 
service is very well 
established and has 
temporary resources 
engaged currently to work on 
specific projects as required.

Monitoring of income and 
expenditure is carried out 
through the usual budget 
monitoring and any financial 
risks are highlighted through 
this process.

Therefore this risk is within 
target and unlikely to change 
unless new commercial 
activities are undertaken.

Failure to 
deliver Local 
Plan and its 
Delivery Plan

Failure to deliver Local Plan 
and its Delivery Plan - 
reputational and financial risk 
due to possible Secretary of 
State intervention. there is also 
a new risk emerging due to 
New Homes Bonus. 

8 4 4 1

Following the Local Plan 
Examination in Public 
hearings, a number of 
modifications to the plan 
were discussed. These have 
been subject to consultation 
from 18th February to 1st 
April. The Inspector has 
requested a period of further 
consultation on the proposed 
modification to Policy HOU5 
as a result of an 
administrative error. As a 
result, the Inspector's report 
is now expected in early 
summer 2019. The risk rating 
therefore remains 
unchanged. 

4 1 30-Apr-
2019

24



Title Description Original 
Score Current Risk Score Impact Likelihood Trend (last qtr) Latest Note Target 

Impact
Target 
Likelihood

Target 
Date

Impact of 
County 
Council 
Budget 
Reductions

Impact of County Council 
Budget Reductions - this will 
potentially impact on our ability 
to deliver Services. This will 
potentially impact on resident 
wellbeing. 

9 4 2 2

Funding pressures faced by 
the Council Council may lead 
them to make changes to 
their budgets which in turn 
impact on the costs of the 
District Councils.

There has been no change to 
this risk score this quarter, 
we will await the consultation 
for the 20-21 budget which is 
likely late summer/early 
autumn 2019 and will review 
the score again at this time.

 

2 2 31-May-
2019

Business rate 
retention 
scheme

Business rate retention and 
fair funding review changes 
from 2020-2021 reduce the 
level of funding to the council

16 4 2 2

There is still little information 
on the fair funding review 
(FFR) and business rates 
retention changes and 
Spending Review 2019 
which would allow us to 
forecast future levels of 
funding.

It is now possible that these 
changes may not take place 
for 2020-21 as planned.  
There have been no further 
consultations issued and 
unless we see a consultation 
in Q2 of the year, then the 
likelihood is this will be 
delayed by a year.

If delayed a year, we will still 
need to see the Spending 
Review 2019 to know the 
overall level of funding, but 

2 2 31-Dec-
2018

25



Title Description Original 
Score Current Risk Score Impact Likelihood Trend (last qtr) Latest Note Target 

Impact
Target 
Likelihood

Target 
Date

expect if delayed we will 
receive similar funding to the 
current year.

We continue to monitor 
working group minutes and 
publications and subscribe to 
an advisory service for the 
most up to date information.

The Council set a budget 
with no reliance on RSG or 
NHB, which means we are 
well placed to deal with any 
impacts from the fair funding 
review once forecasts are 
known.

The risk score will be 
reviewed as more 
information becomes 
available.

Failure to 
effectively 
implement 
corporate 
business 
continuity 
plan

Failure to effectively 
implement the corporate 
business continuity plan, 
thereby exposing the authority 
to the risk of service outage 
following a major incident 

4 3 3 1

All services BIAs have now 
been completed. All contact 
details have been updated. 
Critical services have 
ensured all callout 
procedures and IT systems 
have been checked. Key 
staff have undergone gold 
and silver training and 
corporate plans have been 
updated accordingly.

3 1 31-Mar-
2019

 

26



Breckland Council
Audit Results report 

Year ended 31 March 2019

22 July 2019

27

A
genda Item

 9



2

Governance & Audit Committee  22 July 2019
Breckland Council

Dear Committee Members

We are pleased to attach our audit results report for the forthcoming meeting of the Governance & Audit Committee. This report summarises our 
preliminary audit conclusion in relation to the audit of Breckland Council for 2018/19. 

We have substantially completed our audit of Breckland Council for the year ended 31 March 2019. Subject to concluding the outstanding 
matters listed in our report, we confirm that we expect to issue an unqualified audit opinion on the financial statements in the form at Section 3, 
by the accounts publication date of 31 July 2019. We also have no matters to report on your arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in your use of resources.

This report is intended solely for the use of the Governance & Audit Committee, other members of the Council, and senior management. It should 
not be used for any other purpose or given to any other party without obtaining our written consent.

We would like to thank your staff for their help during the engagement.

We welcome the opportunity to discuss the contents of this report with you at the Governance & Audit Committee meeting on 25 July 2019.

Yours faithfully 

Mark Hodgson

Associate Partner

For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP

Encl

28



3

Contents

Executive 
Summary01 0502 Areas of 

Audit Focus 03 Audit 
Report 04

Other reporting 
issues 07

Audit 
Differences

AppendicesAssessment of Control 
Environment 08 09Independence

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) have issued a ‘Statement of responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies’. It is available from the Chief Executive of each audited body and via the PSAA 
website (www.psaa.co.uk). This Statement of responsibilities serves as the formal terms of engagement between appointed auditors and audited bodies. It summarises where the different responsibilities 
of auditors and audited bodies begin and end, and what is to be expected of the audited body in certain areas. The ‘Terms of Appointment (updated April 2018)’ issued by PSAA sets out additional 
requirements that auditors must comply with, over and above those set out in the National Audit Office Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and statute, and covers matters of practice and procedure which 
are of a recurring nature.

This Audit Results Report is prepared in the context of the Statement of responsibilities. It is addressed to the Members of the audited body, and is prepared for their sole use. We, as appointed auditor, 
take no responsibility to any third party.

Our Complaints Procedure – If at any time you would like to discuss with us how our service to you could be improved, or if you are dissatisfied with the service you are receiving, you may take the issue up 
with your usual partner or director contact. If you prefer an alternative route, please contact Steve Varley, our Managing Partner, 1 More London Place, London SE1 2AF. We undertake to look into any 
complaint carefully and promptly and to do all we can to explain the position to you. Should you remain dissatisfied with any aspect of our service, you may of course take matters up with our professional 
institute. We can provide further information on how you may contact our professional institute.

06

Value for 
Money

V
F
M

29

http://www.psaa.co.uk/


4

Executive Summary01

30



5

Executive Summary

Scope update

In our Audit Plan presented at the 15 February 2019 Governance & Audit Committee meeting, we provided you with an overview of our audit scope and approach for 
the audit of the financial statements. We carried out our audit in accordance with this plan., with the following exceptions:

• Changes in materiality: We updated our planning materiality assessment using the draft financial statements and have also reconsidered our risk assessment. Based 
on our materiality measure of gross expenditure on provision of services, we have updated our overall materiality assessment to £1.4 million (Audit Plan — £1.5 
million). This results in updated performance materiality, at 2% of overall materiality, of £1 million, and an updated threshold for reporting misstatements of 
£68,000.

Status of the audit

We have substantially completed our audit of Breckland Council’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 and have performed the procedures outlined 
in our Audit Plan. Subject to satisfactory completion of the following outstanding items we expect to issue an unqualified opinion on the Council’s financial statements in 
the form which appears at Section 3. However until work is complete, further amendments may arise. The outstanding work at the date of this report is:

- Receipt of one outstanding investment confirmation;

- Property, Plant and Equipment and Investment Property valuation testing;

- Debtors and creditors testing; 

- Provisions;

- Pensions IAS 19;

- Capital grants receipts in advance;

- Reserves;

- Completion of income and expenditure testing;

- Journals testing;

- Financial instruments;

- Related Party Transactions;

- review of the final version of the financial statements;

- completion of subsequent events review;

- receipt of the signed management representation letter;

- completion of procedures required by the National Audit Office (NAO) regarding the Whole of Government Accounts submission;  and

- final Manager and Engagement Partner reviews.

We will update the Committee on progress of these items at the meeting on the 25 July 2019. 

We expect to issue the audit certificate at the same time as the audit opinion.

31



6

Executive Summary

Our Audit Plan identified key areas of focus for our audit of Breckland Council’s financial statements. This report sets out our observations and conclusions, including our 
views on areas which might be conservative, and where there is potential risk and exposure. We summarise our consideration of these matters, and any others identified 
in the “Areas of Audit Focus“; section 2 of this report.

We ask you to review these and any other matters in this report to ensure:

• There are no other considerations or matters that could have an impact on these issues;

• You agree with the resolution of the issue; and

• There are no other significant issues to be considered.

There are no matters, apart from those reported by management or disclosed in this report, which we believe should be brought to the attention of the Governance & 
Audit Committee.

Areas of audit focus

There are no unadjusted audit differences arising from our audit.

There are no adjusted audit differences to the primary statements. We have identified a limited number of disclosure adjustments, none of which we  deem so significant 
as to merit bringing to your attention.  Details can be found in Section 4 Audit Differences.

Until our work is complete, further amendments may arise. We will update the Governance & Audit Committee should any further adjustments arise from our remaining 
work.

Audit differences

In addition to the above, there was an ongoing national issue which has required a late and pervasive change to the accounts and related IAS19 Pensions liability 
disclosures. It relates to legal rulings regarding age discrimination arising from public sector pension scheme transitional arrangements, commonly described as the 
McCloud ruling. The draft accounts have recognised this matter as a contingent liability in line with the recognised position as at the year-end and industry guidance on 
the matter. However, since the year-end there has been additional evidence, including the legal ruling by the Supreme Court on 27 June 2019 which rejected the 
Government’s appeal, which suggested that the amounts should in fact be able to be fully calculated and so included within the financial. In addition, there has been 
some movement on the Guaranteed Minimum Pension ruling, which has also had an impact on the pension liability.

In summary, the changes have increased the past service costs and in turn the pensions liability figure by approximately £0.925 million. 

Status of the audit

32



7

Executive Summary

Other reporting issues

We have reviewed the information presented in the Annual Governance Statement for consistency with our knowledge of the Council. We have no matters to report as a 
result of this work. 

We have yet to perform the procedures required by the National Audit Office (NAO) on the Whole of Government Accounts submission. However, as the Council is below 
the testing threshold set by the NAO for detailed procedures on the consolidation return, we do not expect to have any issues to report.

We have no other matters to report. 

Independence

Please refer to Section 8 for our update on Independence. There are no relationships from 1 April 2018 to the date of this report, which we consider may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence and objectivity. 

Correspondence from the Public

We have not received any correspondence from members of the public. We did not receive any formal objections or questions from members of the public. We identified 
that the Council had set the incorrect inspection period under the Account & Audit Regulations 2015. A revised notice and correct inspection period was then advertised 
which allowed members of the public the full quantum of inspection days.

We have considered your arrangements to take informed decisions; deploy resources in a sustainable manner; and work with partners and other third parties. 
In our Audit Plan we did not identify any significant risks. 

We have no matters to report about your arrangements to secure economy efficiency and effectiveness in your use of resources.

Value for money

Control observations

We have adopted a fully substantive approach, so have not tested the operation of controls.

33



8

Areas of Audit Focus02

34



9

Areas of Audit Focus

Significant risk
What is the risk?

The financial statements as a whole are not free of material misstatements whether caused by fraud or error.

As identified in ISA (UK and Ireland) 240, management is in a unique position to perpetrate fraud because of its ability 
to manipulate accounting records directly or indirectly and prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding 
controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively. We identify and respond to this fraud risk on every audit 
engagement.

One area susceptible to manipulation is the capitalisation of revenue expenditure on Property, Plant and Equipment 
given the extent of the Council’s capital programme. The specific procedures undertaken to address this are set out 
on the next page. This page details the standard procedures we undertake to respond to the risk of fraud and error on 
every engagement.

Misstatements due to 
fraud or error

What are our conclusions?

From our work to date, we have not identified any material weaknesses in controls or evidence of material management override, any instances of inappropriate 
judgements being applied or any management bias in accounting estimates or any other transactions during our audit which appeared unusual or outside the Council’s 
normal course of business. 

We are currently concluding our work in this area and will provide an update at the Governance & Audit Committee on 25 July 2019.   

What did we do and what judgements are we focused on?

In order to address this risk we undertook the following audit procedures:

• Identified fraud risks during the planning stages;

• Inquired of management about risks of fraud and the controls put in place to address those risks;

• Documented our understanding of the oversight given by those charged with governance of management’s processes over fraud;

• Considered the effectiveness of management’s controls designed to address the risk of fraud; 

• Tested the appropriateness of journal entries recorded in the general ledger and other adjustments made in the preparation of the financial statements;

• Reviewed the accounting estimates for evidence of management bias; and

• Evaluated the business rationale for significant unusual transactions.

ISA 240 mandates we perform procedures on: accounting estimates, significant unusual transactions and journal entries to ensure they are appropriate and in line with 
expectations of the business.

Significant Risk

35



10

Areas of Audit Focus

Significant risk

What is the risk?

Under ISA 240 there is a presumed risk that revenue may be misstated due to improper revenue recognition. In the 
public sector, this requirement is modified by Practice Note 10 issued by the Financial Reporting Council, which states 
that auditors should also consider the risk that material misstatements may occur by the manipulation of expenditure 
recognition. 

As the Council is more focused on its financial position over medium term, we have considered the risk of 
manipulation to be more prevalent in the inappropriate capitalisation of revenue expenditure on Property, Plant and 
Equipment given the extent of the Council’s capital programme (see above).

Incorrect capitalisation of 
revenue expenditure

What are our conclusions?

Our testing did not identify any items incorrectly classified as capital expenditure.

What did we do and what judgements are we focused on?

In order to address this risk we carried out a range of procedures including:

• Obtaining an analysis of capital additions in the year, reconciling to the Fixed Assets Register (FAR), and reviewing the descriptions to identify whether there are any 
potential items that could be revenue in nature; 

• Performing sample testing on additions to Property, Plant and Equipment, ensuring that they had been correctly classified as capital and included at the correct 
value, to identify any revenue items that have been inappropriately capitalised; and

• Testing the appropriateness of journal entries recorded in the general ledger moving expenditure items from revenue codes to capital codes.

Significant Risk

36



11

Areas of Audit Focus

Other Areas of Audit Focus
What is the risk?

The fair value of Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) and Investment Properties (IP) represent significant balances in 
the Council’s accounts and are subject to valuation changes, impairment reviews and depreciation charges. 
Management is required to make material judgemental inputs and apply estimation techniques to calculate the year-
end balances recorded in the balance sheet.

The Council will engage an external expert (valuer) who will apply a number of complex assumptions to these assets. 
Assets are assessed annually to identify whether there is any indication of impairment.

As the Council’s asset base is significant, and the outputs from the valuer are subject to estimation, there is a risk that 
these assets may be misstated.

ISAs (UK and Ireland) 500 and 540 require us to undertake procedures on the use of experts and assumptions 
underlying fair value estimates.

Valuation of land and 
buildings – inherent risk

What are our conclusions?

Following full consideration of their work, we have placed reliance on the Council’s valuation expert.

Our testing to date has not identified any material misstatements from inappropriate judgements being applied to the property valuation estimates. We are currently 
concluding our work in this area and will provide an update at the Governance & Audit Committee on 25 July 2019.   

What did we do and what judgements are we focused on?

In order to address this risk we carried out a range of procedures including:

• We have considered the work performed by the Council’s valuer (Valuation Office Agengy), including the adequacy of the scope of the work performed, their 
professional capabilities and the results of their work;

• We have undertaken sample testing key asset information used by the valuer in performing their valuation (e.g. floor plans to support valuations based on price per 
square metre);

• We have considered the annual cycle of valuations to ensure that assets have been valued within a 5 year rolling programme as required by the Code for PPE. We 
also considered whether there were any specific changes to assets and that these had been communicated to the valuer;

• Reviewed assets not subject to valuation in 2018/19 and confirmed that the remaining asset base is not materially misstated;

• Considered changes to useful economic lives as a result of the most recent valuation; and

• Tested accounting entries had been correctly processed in the financial statements.

37



12

Areas of Audit Focus

Other Areas of Audit Focus
What is the risk?

The Local Authority Accounting Code of Practice and IAS19 require the Council to make extensive disclosures within 
its financial statements regarding its membership of the Local Government Pension Scheme administered by Norfolk 
County Council.

The Council’s pension fund deficit is a material estimated balance and the Code requires that this liability be disclosed 
on the Council’s balance sheet. At 31 March 2018 this totalled £41.609 million.

The information disclosed is based on the IAS 19 report issued to the Council by the actuary to the County Council.
Accounting for this scheme involves significant estimation and judgement and therefore management engages an 
actuary to undertake the calculations on their behalf. 

ISAs (UK and Ireland) 500 and 540 require us to undertake procedures on the use of management experts and the 
assumptions underlying fair value estimates. 

Pension Liability Valuation 
– inherent risk

What are our conclusions?

We have assessed and are satisfied with the competency and objectivity of the Council’s actuary. EY pensions team and PwC (Consulting Actuary to the NAO) have 
reviewed the work of the actuaries and have deemed the assumptions used to be reasonable.

In addition, there is an ongoing national issue in relation to IAS19 pension fund liability disclosures. It relates to legal rulings regarding age discrimination arising from 
public sector pension scheme transitional arrangements, commonly described as the McCloud ruling. 

The draft financial statements had recognised this matter as a contingent liability. However, since the year-end there have been some movement in the understanding 
and assessment of the likely outcome and in the potential impact of any outcome, which has led to the need for a re-assessment of the scheme liabilities under IAS19, 
together with supporting disclosure notes. The Guaranteed Minimum Pension ruling has also had an impact on the pension liability. 

In summary, the changes have increased the past service costs and in turn the pensions liability figure by approximately £0.925 million .

Our work on pensions is on going and we will provide a verbal update at the committee.

What did we do and what judgements are we focused on?

We have performed the following procedures:

• Liaised with the auditors of Norfolk Pension Fund, and obtain assurances over the information supplied to the actuary in relation to Breckland Council;

• Assessed the work of the Pension Fund actuary (Hymans Robertson) including the assumptions they have used by relying on the work of PWC - Consulting Actuaries 
commissioned by National Audit Office for all Local Government sector auditors, and considered any relevant reviews by the EY actuarial team; and

• Reviewed and tested the accounting entries and disclosures made within Breckland Council’s financial statements in relation to IAS19.

38



13

Areas of Audit Focus

Other Areas of Audit Focus

What is the risk?

The CIPFA Code of practice on local authority accounting (the Code) requires the Council to comply with the 
requirements of two new accounting standards for 2018/19. These standards are:

IFRS 9 financial instruments 
This new accounting standard will change how financial assets are classified and measured, how the impairment of 
financial assets are calculated; and the disclosure requirements for financial assets. 
There are transitional arrangements within the standard; and the 2018/19 Code provides guidance on the 
application of IFRS 9. However, until the Guidance Notes are issued and any statutory overrides are confirmed 
there remains some uncertainty on the accounting treatment.

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts
The key requirements of the standard cover the identification of performance obligations under customer contracts 
and the linking of income to the meeting of those performance obligations.
The 2018/19 Code provides guidance on the application of IFRS 15 and includes a useful flow diagram and 
commentary on the main sources of LG revenue and how they should be recognised.
The impact on local authority accounting is likely to be limited as large revenue streams like council tax, non 
domestic rates and government grants will be outside the scope of IFRS 15. However where that standard is 
relevant, the recognition of revenue will change and new disclosure requirements introduced.

New Accounting 
Standards – inherent risk

What are our conclusions?

We are currently concluding our work on the implementation of the new standards, and will provide an update at the Governance & Audit Committee on 25 July 2019.

What did we do and what judgements are we focused on?

• Assessed the Council’s implementation arrangements and impact assessment of the application of the new standard, transitional adjustments and accounting for 
2018/19;

• Considered the classification and valuation of financial instrument assets;

• Reviewed the new expected credit loss model impairment calculations for assets; 

• Considered the application to the Council’s revenue streams, and where relevant tested to ensure revenue is recognised when (or as) it satisfies a performance 
obligation; and

• Checked additional disclosure requirements.

39



14

Audit Report03

40



15

Audit Report

Our proposed opinion on the financial statements

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF BRECKLAND COUNCIL

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Breckland Council for the year ended 31 March 2019 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. The financial 

statements comprise the:

• Authority and Group Movement in Reserves Statement, 

• Authority and Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, 

• Authority and Group Balance Sheet, 

• Authority and Group Cash Flow Statement, 

• Authority and Group Expenditure and Funding Analysis;

• the related notes 1 to 31 to the Authority Accounts and 1 to 5 to the Group Accounts;

• and Collection Fund and the related notes 1 to 3. 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 

the United Kingdom 2018/19.

In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of Breckland Council and Group as at 31 March 2019 and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended; 

and

• have been prepared properly in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are 

further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report below. We are independent of the authority and group in 

accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard and the Comptroller 

and Auditor General’s (C&AG) AGN01, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

41



16

Audit Report - continued

Our proposed opinion on the financial statements

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where:

• the Executive Director Commercialisation’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or

• the Executive Director Commercialisation has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about 

the Authority’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements 

are authorised for issue.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the “Statement of Accounts 2018/19”, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.  

The Executive Director Commercialisation is responsible for the other information.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 

inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material 

misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are 

required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014

Arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General (C&AG) in 

November 2017, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects, Breckland Council put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 

its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2019. 

42



17

Audit Report - continued

Our proposed opinion on the financial statements

Matters on which we report by exception

We report to you if:

• in our opinion the annual governance statement is misleading or inconsistent with other information forthcoming from the audit or our knowledge of the Council;

• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014;

• we make written recommendations to the audited body under Section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; 

• we make an application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to law under Section 28 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014;

• we issue an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or

• we make an application for judicial review under Section 31 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

We have nothing to report in these respects. 

Responsibility of the Executive Director Commercialisation 

As explained more fully in the “Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts” set out on page 21, the Executive Director Commercialisation is responsible 

for the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the financial statements, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of 

Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19, and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Executive Director Commercialisation is responsible for assessing the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Authority either intends to cease operations, or 

have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper 

stewardship and governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 

and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at 

https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.  This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

43

https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities


18

Audit Report - continued

Our proposed opinion on the financial statements

Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and 

Auditor General (C&AG) in November 2017, as to whether Breckland Council had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed 

resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as that 

necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether Breckland Council put in place proper arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2019.

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a 

view on whether, in all significant respects, Breckland Council had put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 

resources.

We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to satisfy ourselves that the Authority has made proper arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. The Code of Audit Practice issued by the National Audit Office (NAO) requires us to report to you our 

conclusion relating to proper arrangements. 

We report if significant matters have come to our attention which prevent us from concluding that the Authority has put in place proper arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Authority’s 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively. 

Certificate

We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of Breckland Council in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 

and the Code of Audit Practice issued by the National Audit Office.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the members of Breckland Council, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and for no other 

purpose, as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. To the 

fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Authority and the Authority’s members as a body, for our audit work, 

for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

44



19

Audit Differences04

45



20

Audit Differences

In the normal course of any audit, we identify misstatements between amounts we believe should be recorded in the financial statements and the disclosures and 
amounts actually recorded. These differences are classified as “known” or “judgemental”. Known differences represent items that can be accurately quantified and 
relate to a definite set of facts or circumstances. Judgemental differences generally involve estimation and relate to facts or circumstances that are uncertain or open to 
interpretation. 

Summary of adjusted differences

We highlight the following misstatements greater than £68,000 which have been corrected by management that were identified during the course of our audit:

We have not identified any misstatements in the financial statements during the audit above this level. 

Disclosure Adjustments 

The level of disclosure adjustments is limited, and we do not deem any to merit being included in this report.

Summary of unadjusted differences

There are no unadjusted differences to report. 

46



21

Audit Differences

As noted in the Executive Summary a national issue has resulted in a relatively late change to the pension fund accounts and IAS 19 fund liability disclosure.  It relates to 
legal rulings regarding age discrimination arising from public sector pension scheme transitional arrangements, commonly described as the McCloud ruling. The draft 
pension fund accounts did recognise this matter as a contingent liability.

However, since the year-end there have been some movement in the understanding and assessment of the likely outcome and in the potential impact of any outcome, 
which has lead to the need for a re-assessment of the scheme liabilities under IAS19, together with supporting disclosure notes.

The Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) ruing has also had an impact on the pension liability. This was also uncertain how the equalisation would be carried out. This 
has now been finalised.

A final impact on the liability related to a reduction in asset values as a result of changes in the valuation of the pension fund assets at 31 March 2019.

Revised actuarial reports provided by the actuary show an increase in the liability of £0.925 million to the Pension Liabilit ies as a result of the total adjustments, with 
further associated disclosure added to recognise this as a source of estimation uncertainty and an adjusted Post Balance sheet event.  

McCloud ruling

47



22

Value for Money Risks05 01V
F
M

48



23

Value for Money

Background

We are required to consider whether the Council has put in place ‘proper arrangements’ to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness on its use of resources. This is known as our value for money 
conclusion. 

For 2018/19 this is based on the overall evaluation criterion:

“In all significant respects, the audited body had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed 
decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local 
people”

Proper arrangements are defined by statutory guidance issued by the National Audit Office. They comprise 
your arrangements to:

▪ Take informed decisions;
▪ Deploy resources in a sustainable manner; and
▪ Work with partners and other third parties.

In considering your proper arrangements, we will draw on the requirements of the CIPFA/SOLACE 
framework for local government to ensure that our assessment is made against a framework that you are 
already required to have in place and to report on through documents such as your annual governance 
statement.

V
F
M

Proper arrangements for 
securing value for money  

Informed 
decision making 

Working with 
partners and 
third parties

Sustainable 
resource 

deployment

We did not identify any significant risks around these criteria.

We therefore expect having no matters to report about your arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in your use of resources. 

Overall conclusion

As part of our assessment of your proper arrangements, we considered the Council’s financial resilience over the medium term and the impact on the level of General 
Fund balances at the 31 March 2019 and at the 31 March 2022.  

Our assessment of this is set out on the next page.

Financial Resilience and Assessment of the Authority’s Reserve Position

49



24

Value for Money

Our Assessment

In our assessment we considered: 
• The Council’s level of savings requirement to balance the General Fund budget in each of the next 3 years;
• The Council’s planned use of reserves to support the General Fund budget in each of the next 3 years;
• The Council’s history of delivering savings plans and therefore the potential to call upon reserves to make up a shortfall in future savings plan delivery; 
• The Council’s history of over or under spending on the General Fund budget, and the impact this trajectory would have on the use of General Fund reserves;  and
• Any other considerations upon which the Medium Term Financial Plan is reliant.

The Council has no planned use of borrowing over the same time frame.

As a result of our assessment, we are satisfied that the Council’s General Fund reserve balance at the 31 March 2022 will remain above the Council’s approved minimum 
level.

V
F
M

50



25

Other reporting issues06 01

51



26

Consistency of other information published with the financial statements, including the Annual Governance Statement

We must give an opinion on the consistency of the financial and non-financial information in the Statement of Accounts 2018/19 with the audited financial 
statements.

We must also review the Annual Governance Statement for completeness of disclosures, consistency with other information from our work, and whether it complies 
with relevant guidance. 

Financial information in the Statement of Accounts 2018/19 and published with the financial statements was consistent with the audited financial statements. 

We have reviewed the Annual Governance Statement and can confirm it is consistent with other information from our audit of the financial statements. 

We have no other matters to report.

Other reporting issues

Other reporting issues

Whole of Government Accounts

Alongside our work on the financial statements, we also review and report to the National Audit Office on your Whole of Government Accounts return. The extent of 
our review, and the nature of our report, is specified by the National Audit Office.

As the Council falls below the £500 million threshold for review as per the NAO’s group instructions, we are not required to undertake detailed procedures on your 
consolidation schedule. We have yet to perform our work in this area, however we do not expect to report any matters to the National Audit Office (NAO) regarding 
the Whole of Government Accounts submission. 

Other powers and duties

We have a duty under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to consider whether to report on any matter that comes to our attention in the course of the audit, 
either for the Council to consider it or to bring it to the attention of the public (i.e. “a report in the public interest”).
We did not identify any issues which required us to issue a report in the public interest. 

We also have a duty to make written recommendations to the Council, copied to the Secretary of State, and take action in accordance with our responsibilities under 
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. We did not identify any issues and have not had course to use this duty. 

52



27

Other reporting issues

Other reporting issues

Other matters

As required by ISA (UK&I) 260 and other ISAs specifying communication requirements, we must tell you significant findings from the audit and other matters if they 
are significant to your oversight of the Council’s financial reporting process. They include the following:

• Significant qualitative aspects of accounting practices including accounting policies, accounting estimates and financial statement disclosures;
• Any significant difficulties encountered during the audit;
• Any significant matters arising from the audit that were discussed with management;
• Written representations we have requested;
• Expected modifications to the audit report;
• Any other matters significant to overseeing the financial reporting process;
• Related parties;
• External confirmations;
• Going concern;
• Consideration of laws and regulations; and
• Group considerations.

Public Inspection Period
The Council did not advertise the public inspection period in accordance with the Account and Audit Regulations 2015. The original notice, ran from 20 May 2019 
when the draft accounts were not published until the 21 May 2019. The Council updated the inspection notice to provide the full quantum of inspection days from the 
22 May 2019.

We have no other matters to report.

53



28

Assessment of Control 
Environment

07

54



29

Assessment of Control Environment

Financial controls

It is the responsibility of Breckland Council to develop and implement systems of internal financial control and to put in place proper arrangements to monitor their
adequacy and effectiveness in practice. Our responsibility as your auditor is to consider whether Breckland Council has put adequate arrangements in place to satisfy 
itself that the systems of internal financial control are both adequate and effective in practice. 

As part of our audit of the financial statements, we obtained an understanding of internal control sufficient to plan our audit and determine the nature, timing and 
extent of testing performed. As we have adopted a fully substantive approach, we have therefore not tested the operation of controls. Although our audit was not 
designed to express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control we are required to communicate to you significant deficiencies in internal control.

We have not identified any significant deficiencies in the design or operation of an internal control that might result in a material misstatement in your financial 
statements of which you are not aware. 

55



30

Independence08

56



31

Independence

We confirm that there are no changes in our assessment of independence since our confirmation in our audit plan dated 31 January 2019. 

We complied with the FRC Ethical Standards and the requirements of the PSAA’s Terms of Appointment. In our professional judgement the firm is 
independent and the objectivity of the audit engagement partner and audit staff has not been compromised within the meaning of regulatory and 
professional requirements.

We consider that our independence in this context is a matter which you should review, as well as us. It is important that you and your Governance & Audit 
Committee consider the facts known to you and come to a view. If you would like to discuss any matters concerning our independence, we will be pleased to 
do this at the meeting of the Governance & Audit Committee on 25 July 2019.

Confirmation

Relationships, services and related threats and safeguards

The FRC Ethical Standard requires that we provide details of all relationships between Ernst & Young (EY) and your Authority, and its directors and senior management 
and its affiliates, including all services provided by us and our network to your Council, its directors and senior management and its affiliates, and other services 
provided to other known connected parties that we consider may reasonably be thought to bear on the our integrity or objectivity, including those that could 
compromise independence and the related safeguards that are in place and why they address the threats.
There are no relationships from 1 April 2018 to the date of this report, which we consider may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and objectivity. 

57



32

Independence

Services provided by Ernst & Young

Below includes a summary of the fees that you have paid to us in the year ended 31 March 2019 in line with the disclosures set out in FRC Ethical Standard and in 
statute.

We confirm that none of the services listed in have been provided on a contingent fee basis. 

As at the date of this report, with the exception of our Reporting Accountant role, set out below, there are no future services which have been contracted and no written 
proposal to provide non-audit services has been submitted.

Fee Analysis

As part of our reporting on our independence, we set out below a summary of the fees paid for the year ended 31 March 2019. 

We confirm that we have not undertaken non-audit work outside the PSAA Code requirements to date, though we are engaged to act as reporting accountant in respect 
of the Housing Benefit Subsidy claim, as set out below. 

Final Fee  2018/19 Scale Fee 2018/19 Final Fee 2017/18

£’s £’s £’s

Total Audit Fee – Code work 36,653 – Note 1 34,293 47,789

Grant Claims 12,765 – Note 2 N/A 14,959

Total Fees 49,418 34,293 62,748

Note 1 – The 2018/19 final fee includes a scale fee variation approved by PSAA Ltd for the costs associated with the audit of the Council’s group accounts. 

Note 2 – From 2018/19, the Council is responsible for appointing their own reporting accountant to undertake the work on their claims in accordance with the 
instructions determined by the relevant grant paying body. 

As your appointed auditor for the financial statements audit, we are pleased that for 2018/19 the Council has appointed us to act as reporting accountants in relation 
to the housing benefit subsidy claim. There is therefore no scale fee prescribed by PSAA as it is now no longer within their remit.

The planned fee shown, is based on the level of error within the current claim and the work required to certify that. This may change dependent on the level of error 
within the claim under review.

We will confirm our final fees following the completion of our work and report this within our Annual Audit Letter.

58



33

Appendices09

59



34

Appendix A

Required communications with the Governance & Audit Committee 

There are certain communications that we must provide to the Audit Committees of UK clients. We have detailed these here together with a reference of when and where 
they were covered:

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Terms of engagement Confirmation by the Governance & Audit Committee of acceptance of terms of engagement 
as written in the engagement letter signed by both parties.

The statement of responsibilities serves as the 
formal terms of engagement between the 
PSAA’s appointed auditors and audited bodies. 

Our responsibilities Reminder of our responsibilities as set out in the engagement letter. Audit Plan – 31 January 2019 presented to 
the Governance & Audit Committee on 15 
February 2019

Planning and audit 
approach

Communication of the planned scope and timing of the audit, any limitations and the 
significant risks identified.

Audit Plan – 31 January 2019 presented to 
the Governance & Audit Committee on 15 
February 2019

Significant findings 
from the audit

• Our view about the significant qualitative aspects of accounting practices including 
accounting policies, accounting estimates and financial statement disclosures

• Significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the audit

• Significant matters, if any, arising from the audit that were discussed with management

• Written representations that we are seeking

• Expected modifications to the audit report

• Other matters if any, significant to the oversight of the financial reporting process

Audit Results Report presented to the 
Governance & Audit Committee on 25 July 
2019

60



35

Appendix A - continued

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Going concern Events or conditions identified that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, including:

• Whether the events or conditions constitute a material uncertainty

• Whether the use of the going concern assumption is appropriate in the preparation 
and presentation of the financial statements

• The adequacy of related disclosures in the financial statements

No conditions or events were identified, either 
individually or together to raise any doubt 
about Breckland Council’s ability to continue 
for the 12 months from the date of our report.

Misstatements • Uncorrected misstatements and their effect on our audit opinion

• The effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods 

• A request that any uncorrected misstatement be corrected

• Material misstatements corrected by management

Audit Results Report presented to the 
Governance & Audit Committee on 25 July 
2019

Subsequent events • Enquiry of the Governance & Audit Committee where appropriate regarding whether any 
subsequent events have occurred that might affect the financial statements.

We made enquiries of management and those 
charged with governance. We have no matters 
to report.

Fraud • Enquiries of the Governance & Audit Committee to determine whether they have 
knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud affecting the Council

• Any fraud that we have identified or information we have obtained that indicates that a 
fraud may exist

• Unless all of those charged with governance are involved in managing the Council, any 
identified or suspected fraud involving:

a. Management; 

b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control; or 

c. Others where the fraud results in a material misstatement in the financial statements.

• The nature, timing and extent of audit procedures necessary to complete the audit when 
fraud involving management is suspected

• Any other matters related to fraud, relevant to Governance & Audit Committee 
responsibility.

We made enquiries of management and those 
charged with governance. We have not 
become aware of any fraud or illegal acts 
during our audit.

61



36

Appendix A - continued

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Related parties Significant matters arising during the audit in connection with the Council’s related parties 
including, when applicable:

• Non-disclosure by management 

• Inappropriate authorisation and approval of transactions 

• Disagreement over disclosures 

• Non-compliance with laws and regulations 

• Difficulty in identifying the party that ultimately controls the Council

We have no matters to report.

Independence Communication of all significant facts and matters that bear on EY’s, and all individuals 
involved in the audit, objectivity and independence.

Communication of key elements of the audit engagement partner’s consideration of 
independence and objectivity such as:

• The principal threats

• Safeguards adopted and their effectiveness

• An overall assessment of threats and safeguards

• Information about the general policies and process within the firm to maintain objectivity 
and independence

Communications whenever significant judgments are made about threats to objectivity and 
independence and the appropriateness of safeguards put in place.

Audit Plan – 31 January 2019 presented to 
the Governance & Audit Committee on 15 
February 2019

Audit Results Report presented to the 
Governance & Audit Committee on 25 July 
2019

External confirmations • Management’s refusal for us to request confirmations 

• Inability to obtain relevant and reliable audit evidence from other procedures

We are awaiting on one Investment 
confirmation for Lloyds

Consideration of laws and 
regulations 

• Audit findings regarding non-compliance where the non-compliance is material and 
believed to be intentional. This communication is subject to compliance with legislation 
on tipping off

• Enquiry of the Governance & Audit Committee into possible instances of non-compliance 
with laws and regulations that may have a material effect on the financial statements and 
that the Governance & Audit Committee may be aware of

We made enquiries of management, the 
Monitoring Officer and those charged with 
governance.

We have not identified any material instances 
or non-compliance with laws and regulations.

62



37

Appendix A - continued

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

External confirmations • Management’s refusal for us to request confirmations 

• Inability to obtain relevant and reliable audit evidence from other procedures.

We have received all requested confirmations.

Consideration of laws 
and regulations

• Subject to compliance with applicable regulations, matters involving identified or 
suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations, other than those which are clearly 
inconsequential and the implications thereof. Instances of suspected non-compliance 
may also include those that are brought to our attention that are expected to occur 
imminently or for which there is reason to believe that they may occur

• Enquiry of the audit committee into possible instances of non-compliance with laws and 
regulations that may have a material effect on the financial statements and that the 
audit committee may be aware of

We have asked management and those 
charged with governance. We have not 
identified any material instances or non-
compliance with laws and regulations.

Significant deficiencies in 
internal controls identified 
during the audit

• Significant deficiencies in internal controls identified during the audit. Audit results report – July 2018

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Internal controls • Significant deficiencies in internal controls identified during the audit Audit Results Report presented to the 
Governance & Audit Committee on 25 July 
2019

Group Audits • An overview of the type of work to be performed on the financial information of the 
components

• An overview of the nature of the group audit team’s planned involvement in the work to 
be performed by the component auditors on the financial information of significant 
components

• Instances where the group audit team’s evaluation of the work of a component auditor 
gave rise to a concern about the quality of that auditor’s work

• Any limitations on the group audit, for example, where the group engagement team’s 
access to information may have been restricted

• Fraud or suspected fraud involving group management, component management, 
employees who have significant roles in group-wide controls or others where the fraud 
resulted in a material misstatement of the group financial statements.

Audit Plan – 31 January 2019 presented to 
the Governance & Audit Committee on 15 
February 2019

Our procedures confirmed that there was no 
risk of material misstatement within the group 
consolidation of Breckland Bridge Ltd.

Written representations 
we are requesting from 
management and/or those 
charged with governance

• Written representations we are requesting from management and/or those charged with 
governance

Audit Results Report presented to the 
Governance & Audit Committee on 25 July 
2019

Material inconsistencies or 
misstatements of fact 
identified in other 
information which 
management has refused 
to revise

• Material inconsistencies or misstatements of fact identified in other information which 
management has refused to revise

Audit Results Report presented to the 
Governance & Audit Committee on 25 July 
2019

63



38

Appendix A - continued

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

External confirmations • Management’s refusal for us to request confirmations 

• Inability to obtain relevant and reliable audit evidence from other procedures.

We have received all requested confirmations.

Consideration of laws 
and regulations

• Subject to compliance with applicable regulations, matters involving identified or 
suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations, other than those which are clearly 
inconsequential and the implications thereof. Instances of suspected non-compliance 
may also include those that are brought to our attention that are expected to occur 
imminently or for which there is reason to believe that they may occur

• Enquiry of the audit committee into possible instances of non-compliance with laws and 
regulations that may have a material effect on the financial statements and that the 
audit committee may be aware of

We have asked management and those 
charged with governance. We have not 
identified any material instances or non-
compliance with laws and regulations.

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Auditors report • Any circumstances identified that affect the form and content of our auditor’s report Audit Results Report presented to the 
Governance & Audit Committee on 25 July 
2019

Fee Reporting • Breakdown of fee information when the  audit planning report is agreed

• Breakdown of fee information at the completion of the audit

• Any non-audit work 

Audit Plan – 31 January 2019 presented to 
the Governance & Audit Committee on 15 
February 2019

Audit Results Report presented to the 
Governance & Audit Committee on 25 July 
2019

Certification work Summary of certification work undertaken Annual Certification report – expected 
December 2019.64



39

Appendix B

Request for a Management Representation Letter

65



40

Appendix B – continued

Request for a Management Representation Letter

66



41

Appendix B – continued

Request for a Management Representation Letter

67



42

Appendix B – continued

Request for a Management Representation Letter

68



EY  |  Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

About EY
EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction and advisory 
services. The insights and quality services we deliver help build 
trust and confidence in the capital markets and in economies the 
world over. We develop outstanding leaders who team to deliver 
on our promises to all of our stakeholders. In so doing, we play a 
critical role in building a better working world for our people, for 
our clients and for our communities.
EY refers to the global organization, and may refer to one or 
more, of the member firms of Ernst & Young Global Limited, each 
of which is a separate legal entity. Ernst & Young Global Limited, a 
UK company limited by guarantee, does not provide services to 
clients. For more information about our organization, please visit 
ey.com.

© 2017 EYGM Limited.
All Rights Reserved.

ED None

This material has been prepared for general informational purposes only and is not 
intended to be relied upon as accounting, tax, or other professional advice. Please refer 
to your advisors for specific advice.

ey.com

69



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation 

To: Governance and Audit Committee, 25 July 2019

Author: Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant

Subject: Audited Annual Statement of Accounts 2018-19

Purpose: To present the audited statement of accounts to Governance and Audit 
Committee for approval 

Recommendation(s): 

1) That Governance & Audit Committee give delegated authority to the S151 Officer to approve:
a) The final audited statement of accounts 2018-19
b) The annual governance statement (AGS) 2018-19
c) The letter of representation 2018-19

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that the audited statement of accounts 
be considered and approved by a committee of the Council no later than 31 July each 
year.

At the 5 June 2019 Governance & Audit Committee meeting Members reviewed the un-
audited statement of accounts.  Since this meeting, Ernst & Young have begun their audit, 
however at the date of this report their audit has not completed.  Ernst & Young’s Audit 
Results Report provides an update on their progress to date and this item is included on 
this Governance & Audit Committee agenda.

Due to the audit not being completed, the Governance & Audit Committee are unable to 
approve the audited statement of accounts at this meeting and delegated authority is 
therefore requested for the S151 Officer to approve the accounts and related items.

1.2 The audit results are so far positive again for the latest financial year, only a small amount 
of changes have been made to the statement of accounts to date as a result of the audit 
and these are:

o Minor changes to formatting and titles.
o Minor changes to notes 9, 24, 28 and 30.

1.3 The un-audited accounts included a contingent liability note regarding two pensions issues, 
where there was insufficient information at the time to calculate potential values:

 McCloud - A legal ruling made regarding age discrimination arising from pension 
scheme transition arrangements; and

 Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) – this relates to where a pension scheme was 
‘contracted out’ of additional state pension arrangements.  If the contracted out 
pension benefits are less than the pensioner would have received if the contracting 
out had not applied, the pension scheme would be required to increase pension 
paid to reach the GMP.

70

Agenda Item 10



During June further information and assumptions have been forthcoming and the 
estimated liabilities for both of these have now been calculated and included in the 
Council’s Balance Sheet within the pension liability and pension reserve.  The contingent 
liability note has therefore been removed.

These estimates and other audit changes from the pension scheme audit have increased 
the pensions liability from £50,252k in the draft accounts to £51,177k:

 £164k McCloud
 £385k GMP
 £376k asset valuation changes arising from EY audit of Norfolk Pension Fund

These changes have also altered the values in the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 
Statement, the Movement in Reserves Statement, the Expenditure and Funding analysis, 
notes 4, 5, 7 and 18 and the Group Accounts.

1.4 The statement of accounts 2018-19 as at 22 July 2019 and the annual governance 
statement are attached at appendix A and the letter of representation is attached at 
appendix B.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That Governance & Audit Committee give delegated authority to the S151 Officer to 
approve the final audited statement of accounts, annual governance statement and letter 
of representation for 2018-19. (Recommended)

2.2 That Governance & Audit Committee re-convene a special meeting to approve the final 
audited statement of accounts, annual governance statement and letter of representation 
for 2018-19.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To comply with the Accounts and Audit regulations 2015.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Compliance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.2 Constitution & Legal
5.2.1 Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.

5.3 Financial 
5.2.1 The report and appendices are financial in nature. 

5.8 Risk Management 
5.3.1 Risks are included within the statement of accounts where appropriate.

71



6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 N/A

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 N/A

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant
Telephone Number: 01362 656865
Email: alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Statement of accounts and annual governance statement
Appendix B Letter of representation

72

../../../../Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
../../../../Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                           

 

73



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 Page 

NARRATIVE REPORT  

Narrative Report 1 - 20 

STATEMENTS OF ACCOUNTS   

Statement of Responsibilities 21 

Expenditure and Funding Analysis 22 

CORE ACCOUNTING STATEMENTS:  

     Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 23 

     Movement in Reserves Statement 24 

     Balance Sheet 25 – 26 

     Cash Flow Statement 27 

Notes to the Core Accounting Statements 28 – 78 

Commercial Property Trading Account 79 – 80 

Collection Fund 81 – 83 

Group Accounts 84 – 94 

Approval of the Statements of Accounts 95 

Independent Auditors report 96 – 98 

Glossary 99 – 102 

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT   

Annual Governance Statement 103 - 109 

If you would like the Statements of Accounts in large print, Braille, alternative format or in a different language,                                  
please call us on 01362 656870. 

74



NARRATIVE REPORT 

1 
 

Our District 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Breckland District spans over 500 square miles of beautiful countryside and 
forest in the heart of Norfolk.  With a range of thriving rural village 
communities and the five bustling market towns of Attleborough, Dereham, 
Swaffham, Thetford and Watton. 
 
The area’s rural nature is characterised by its 112 parishes, numerous 
villages and low crime rate which make Breckland one of the most 
attractive and safe places to live in the UK.  The Council is committed to 
reducing its impact on the environment by minimising its carbon footprint. 
 
Breckland’s population is set to grow from the current 140,500 residents to 
159,400 by 2041.  Half of the current residents live in one of the five market 
towns with the remainder living in rural village homes.  This means that the 
district has a low population density.   
 
Agriculture, advanced engineering and manufacturing, logistics and 
forestry are the dominant business sectors with professional, scientific and 
technical and food processing not far behind.  Breckland’s local economy 
continues to grow bringing new employment to the area. 
 
Thetford and Attleborough are key areas for future housing and business 
growth which is expected to deliver economic benefits for the whole district. 
 
Breckland's resident population is 50.3% female and 49.7% male. The 
average age of the Breckland district population is 43 years, the 
predominant age band in Breckland is 'Age 50 to 54' which represents 
7.3% of the total district population. 
 

 

0 2,000 4,000 6,000 8,000 10,000 12,000

Age 0-4

Age 5-9

Age 10-14

Age 15-19

Age 20-24

Age 25-29

Age 30-34

Age 35-39

Age 40-44

Age 45-49

Age 50-54

Age 55-59

Age 60-64

Age 65-69

Age 70-74

Age 75-79

Age 80-84

Age 85+

Population Count

Breckland Age Structure (Source: Norfolk Insight 2017) 

75



NARRATIVE REPORT 

2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

77% 

13% 

5% 5% Norfolk County
Council

Norfolk Police &
Crime
Commissioner

Breckland
Council

Average Parish

Our Commercial Property 
Assets have a total value of 
£44,658k (including finance 

leases) and generated 
£1,978k surplus in 2018-19. 

 
We emptied 3,206,722 bins in 
2018-19 and recycled 11,769 

tons of waste. 

In 2018-19 we received 1,911 
planning applications and 
1,353 applications were 

determined.  The number of 
dwellings approved was 1,913. 

In partnership with Norfolk 
Community Foundation, we 

have allocated £150k of grants 
to projects in the district. 

We paid out £29,668k in 
Housing Benefits for a 

caseload of 9,253. 

Our Moving Forward 
Transformation Programme 

has delivered £1,682k of 
ongoing savings in its first 3 

years of delivery. 

We collected £35,470k of 
Business Rates in 2018-19, 
from 4,527 businesses and 
achieved a collection rate in 

year of 96.5% (compared to the 
national average of 98.3%).   

We retain £6,357k (18%) to help 
fund services. 

 

We collected £74,509k of Council 
Tax in 2018-19, from 59,633 

homes and achieved a collection 
rate in year of 97.6% (compared to 

the national average of 97.0%). 
We retain £3,667k (5%) to help 

fund services.  The share of 
council tax is shown in the graph. 

 
 

76



NARRATIVE REPORT 

3 
 

Breckland Council 
The Council alongside its partner organisations and external contractors deliver a wide range of services to our residents, businesses and visitors.  These are 
detailed in the table below categorised by the Council’s Directorates: 
 

Commercialisation Economic Development, Enabling, Forward Planning, Council Tax, Business Rates, Housing Benefits, Enforcement Agency, 
Strategic Property, Programme Delivery, Treasury Management, Financial Services, Central Administration, Insurance, Strategic 
Planning, Housing Strategy. 

Place Arts, Building Control, Facilities Management, Car Parks, Voluntary Sector, Historic Buildings, Community Development, 
Community Safety, Development Control, Emergency Planning, Planning Enforcement, Street Cleansing, Housing Enforcement, 
Hostels, Homelessness & Advice, Strategic Housing, Land Charges, Trees & Countryside, PFI & Leisure, Parks Woods & Open 
Spaces, Footway Lighting, Match Funding, Roads & Paths, Street Naming, Community Transport, Waste Collection, Offices. 

Strategy & Governance Corporate Improvement & Performance, Committee Services, Corporate Management, Monitoring, Customer Contact, Food 
Safety, Public Health, Health & Safety, Licensing, Elections, Pollution Control, Marketing & Communications, ICT, Digital, HR, 
Legal Services, Pensions, Printing, Corporate Contracts & Procurement, BTS and Environmental Health Consultancy. 

 
Breckland Council is a district composed of 112 parishes; most parishes have their own town or parish council, or parish meeting.  The Council is composed 
of 49 Councillors who are elected every four years to represent the peoples of Breckland.  As at 31 March 2019, the Council was controlled by the 
Conservative Group and the Leader of the Council was William Nunn.  As at 31 March 2019 the political make-up of the Council was: 
 

 
 
All councillors meet together as the Council, here councillors decide the Council’s overall policies and set the budget and council tax each year.  The Council 
hold to account the Executive and Committees.  The Cabinet is made up of the Leader, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holders.  Each Portfolio Holder has 
specific responsibilities over an area of the Council’s activities. 

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40

Conservative

UKIP

Labour

Independent

Unionist

Vacancy

77



NARRATIVE REPORT 

4 
 

Council Priorities, Corporate Plan and Performance 
Our vision is ‘Breckland: a place where people and business can thrive’.  The Council has a corporate plan covering 2015 – 2019 and each year an annual 
delivery plan is drawn up to cover the actions for the next year.  The business plan shows what the Council will do to meet the needs and aspirations of 
residents.  The plan sets out the Council’s priorities which are: 
 

●  Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive ●  Providing the right services, at the right time and in the right way 
●  Enabling stronger, more independent communities ●  Developing the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth 

 
The priorities define the medium term goals of the Council and as such remain relatively constant from year to year, but the actions associated with them are 
set annually for each financial year.  The Corporate Plan is aligned to the Medium Term Financial Plan and these are available on the Council’s website. 
 
Our Corporate Plan runs for 4 years; during 2018-19 we were in the 2015-19 plan.  The new Corporate Plan 2019-23 has been approved by Council and runs 
from 1 April 2019.  Delivery of the plan is monitored through a performance framework and annually the delivery of the plan is refreshed to ensure it is 
relevant to the current political and economic climate.  Each Council service area has a number of team projects which deliver the corporate plan and these 
are monitored quarterly against the delivery plan to ensure the corporate plan is on track.  Internally there is a monthly performance board which holds to 
account all performance indicators, team projects and audit recommendations to ensure delivery of the corporate plan and performance framework.  Quarterly 
performance is reported to our member scrutiny panel and subsequently to cabinet as part of the constitutional governance. 
 

Annual Governance Statement 
The annual governance statement (AGS) provides a review of the effectiveness of the Council’s governance framework, internal control and risk management 
arrangements.  This can be found at the end of this Statement of Accounts. 
 
 

  

78



NARRATIVE REPORT 

5 
 

Our People 
The Council is headed by a shared Corporate Management Team (CMT).  The team is shared with South Holland District Council along with other senior 
managers.  The two Councils continue to exercise independent democratically accountable local government in their respective areas, each of us having our 
own governance arrangements.  The Corporate Management Team consists of a Chief Executive and three Executive Directors, each Executive Director has 
overall responsibility for a directorate, the services included in each directorate are detailed on page 3. 

 
 
The Council employs 294 staff as at 31 March 2019.  This includes 216 full time staff and 78 part time staff.  Included in this number are 5 apprentices, 3 
graduate trainees and 5 trainees.  Details of the makeup and age range of the Council’s staff are shown in the graphs below. 
 

                                 
 
The Council is one of seven partners in the Anglia Revenues Partnership (ARP) which provides Council Tax, Business Rates, Housing Benefits, Fraud and 
Enforcement services to all partners.  Staff are employed by any of the seven partners and all costs are recharged between partners based on caseload 
shares.  The total budget for the partnership in 2018-19 is £8,888k of which the majority is staff costs.  Overall there are 283 staff employed by the Anglia 
Revenues Partnership. 
 

Chief Executive 

Executive Director 

Strategy & Governance 

Executive Director 

Commercialisation 

Executive Director 

Place 

Male 
30% 

Female 
70% 

0

20

40

60

80

18-22 23-30 31-40 41-50 51-60 61-70

79



NARRATIVE REPORT 

6 
 

The Council strives for excellence in order to deliver services that local communities can be proud of.  So to make this happen, we need talented and 
ambitious people who inspire, empower and deliver change all around them.  The Council has embraced the Government’s agenda to modernise local 
government and our approach has been to lead change rather than follow it.  We believe that best value can only be achieved by developing staff to their full 
potential and to do this, we provide them with the relevant knowledge, equipment and authority to carry out their duties and we are recognised by Investors in 
People.   
 
The Council prides itself in the delivery of high-quality training and development, it offers creative and unique training solutions through one-to-one coaching 
as well as a variety of tailor made courses to suit both individual and Council needs.  During the course of an employee’s employment, there may be 
opportunities to undertake professional and/or academic qualifications where this benefits the individual and the Council. 
 
 
  

80



NARRATIVE REPORT 

7 
 

Financial Performance 
The Management Accounts below show the Council’s actual financial performance for the year, compared to the budget as reported to Cabinet in May 2019.  
Further information can be found in the Expenditure and Funding Analysis on page 22. 
 
 2018-19  

Budget 
2018-19  

Actual 
2018-19 

Variance 
2017-18 

Actual 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Expenditure on Services     
Strategy & Governance Directorate 5,126 5,387 261 5,632 
Growth & Commercialisation Directorate 965 1,026 61 616 
Place 6,019 6,363 344 6,020 
Housing Benefits (127) (25) 102 (70) 

Cost Of Services  11,983 12,751 768 12,198 

Contributions to/from reserves 790 919 129 227 

Total Cost of Services 12,773 13,670 897 12,425 

Funding & Appropriations     
Appropriations 1,460 1,264 (196) 1,962 
Government Grants (5,442) (5,735) (293) (6,045) 
Financing & Investment - - - (26) 
Council Tax (3,696) (3,696) - (3,461) 
Retained NNDR (5,095) (5,334) (239) (4,673) 

Total Funding (12,773) (13,501) (728) (12,243) 

Contribution (to)/from General Fund - 169 169 182 

 
The Council set a balanced budget in February 2018, subject to successful delivery of the ‘Moving Forward’ transformation programme.  The Moving Forward 
programme is a four year plan of projects to deliver efficiencies or generate additional income and is monitored by the Finance Board. 
 
The full year out-turn delivered above budget spend of £897k relating to service provision (mainly through high temporary accommodation demand, 
unexpected legal costs and lower income in some areas) and £728k of additional funding income.  This £169k has reduced the General Fund balance from 
£2,669k to £2,500k, which is still considered an adequate balance. 
 
There was a surplus of £1,978k on our Commercial Property Trading Account after adjusting for property revaluations and this was contributed from 
Commercial Property to the General Fund.  

81



NARRATIVE REPORT 

8 
 

Revenue expenditure and income and the services provided 
The charts below show in broad terms where the money came from, how it was spent and the services provided. 

 
Where the money came from  
 

  
 
Grant income includes £1,071k of Revenue Support Grant from the Government. 
 
Council Tax is the income received from taxpayers through the Council Tax levied by the Council for Breckland and the parishes.  The NNDR income is 
Breckland’s share of the retained business rates income less the levy and tariffs paid. 
 
Another source of income was interest earned on the Council’s cash deposits.  However continued low interest rates have impac ted on the level of interest 
income received and this figure therefore remains low.  This interest is used to support the revenue budgets. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

45% 

11% 
1% 

11% 

8% 

4% 

20% 

        

  
 

£'000 % 

  Housing Benefit Grant 29,735 45 

  Government Grants 7,544 11 

  Interest receipts 847 1 

  Council Tax (incl parish) 7,486 11 

  NNDR (net of levy & tariff) 5,335 8 

  Commercial Property 2,512 4 

 Fees, Charges & Misc 13,157 20 

  
 

66,616 100 

        

 

82



NARRATIVE REPORT 

9 
 

How the money was spent  

  
Housing benefits only includes costs relating to the actual benefits provided, it does not include any staffing or other related costs.  These benefits are funded 
from Government grants as can be seen from the “where the money came from” graph. 
 
Running expenses includes costs relating to: 

 Premises – such as rents, rates, electricity, water and similar 

 Transport – such as cars, fares and similar 

 Supplies and services – such as equipment, telephones, hired services and similar 

 Contract payments for services provided by external contractors (i.e. waste collection, leisure, etc) 
 
Employees expenditure includes costs relating to: 

 Staffing – such as salaries, pensions, additional staff, professional subscriptions and similar costs. 
 
Capital financing includes costs relating to: 

 Capital expenditure – such as depreciation and de-valuations of assets and similar costs. 
 
Transparency 
The Government’s transparency agenda encourages local authorities to make public data openly available.  Details of transparency items such as the 
Council’s spend on items over £500, contracts and pay and benefits for senior officers can be found on our website: 
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4246/Transparency 
 

45% 

28% 

18% 

6% 

1% 
1% 

1% 

        

  
 

£'000 % 

  Housing Benefits 29,668 45 

  Running Expenses 18,938 28 

  Employees 12,412 18 

 Precepts and Levies 3,870 6 

 Capital Financing 521 1 

 Cont’n to Reserves 750 1 

  Other 457 1 

  
 

66,616 100 

        

 

83

http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4246/Transparency


NARRATIVE REPORT 

10 
 

And the services it provides 

  
The table below shows the types of services which are included within each service area shown in the graph above:  
 

Commercialisation Economic Development, Enabling, Forward Planning, Council Tax, Business Rates, Housing Benefits, Enforcement Agency, 
Strategic Property, Programme Delivery, Treasury Management, Financial Services, Central Administration, Insurance, Strategic 
Planning, Housing Strategy. 

Place Arts, Building Control, Facilities Management, Car Parks, Voluntary Sector, Historic Buildings, Community Development, 
Community Safety, Development Control, Emergency Planning, Planning Enforcement, Street Cleansing, Housing Enforcement, 
Hostels, Homelessness & Advice, Strategic Housing, Land Charges, Trees & Countryside, PFI & Leisure, Parks Woods & Open 
Spaces, Footway Lighting, Match Funding, Roads & Paths, Street Naming, Community Transport, Waste Collection, Offices. 

Strategy & Governance Corporate Improvement & Performance, Committee Services, Corporate Management, Monitoring, Customer Contact, Food 
Safety, Public Health, Health & Safety, Licensing, Elections, Pollution Control, Marketing & Communications, ICT, Digital, HR, 
Legal Services, Pensions, Printing, Corporate Contracts & Procurement, BTS and Environmental Health Consultancy. 

 
 
 
 
 

6% 

14% 

22% 11% 

45% 

2% 

        

  
 

£'000 % 

  Precepts & Levies 3,870 6 

  Growth & Commercialisation 9,332 14 

  Place 14,422 22 

  
Strategy, Governance & 
Transformation 8,070 11 

  Housing Benefit 29,668 45 

  Other 1,254 2 

  
 

66,616 100 

        
 

84



NARRATIVE REPORT 

11 
 

Moving Forward Transformation Programme 
The council recognises the challenges faced through reducing Government funding and our budgets since 2016-17 have included a transformation 
programme ‘Moving Forward’.  This programme sets out the projects which the Council will undertake to deliver both improved customer outcomes (to both 
internal and external customers) and financial efficiencies (savings or income generation).  The programme includes four main themes: 

 Digitalisation 

 Aligning Public Services 

 Commercialisation 

 Organisational Design 
Our aim is to remove dependency on Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and New Homes Bonus (NHB) whilst continuing to provide relevant services to our 
communities.  The Council recognises that timely and successful delivery of this efficiency plan will be key to the success of its balanced budget over the 
medium term.  Funding has been identified and set aside to support delivery of the transformation programme to cover one off costs of delivery and 
investment.  In addition the Council has created a Growth and Investment Fund from income generated in the past from commercial property rentals and from 
utilising New Homes Bonus funding.  This fund will be used to invest in projects which deliver economic or housing growth in the area or to invest in assets 
which generate an ongoing return. 
 
Targets are flexed as necessary to allow for timing differences between years, the overall target by 2019-20 is £2,234k and this is on track to be achieved by 
this date.  Progress to date against the targets is: 
 

 
 

0

500

1000

1500

£
'0

0
0

 

Target

Achieved

85



NARRATIVE REPORT 

12 
 

Capital financial performance 
The capital out-turn was reported to Cabinet in May 2019 and details the Council’s £8,352k capital programme for 2018-19 of which £5,031k was spent, £4k 
was over spent and £3,325k budget moved into 2019-20 for spend on projects in progress or where the start date has moved into next year. 
 
 2018-19  

Budget 
Re-profile to 

2019-20 
2018-19 Out-

turn 
2018-19 

Variance 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Commercialisation 3,400 (867) 2,538 5 
Strategy & Governance 272 (165) 107 - 
Place 4,680 (2,293) 2,386 (1) 

Total Capital Programme 8,352 (3,325) 5,031 4 

 
During the year the Council purchased a large commercial property in Thetford, with costs totalling £2,137k.  This asset was funded from the Growth & 
Investment Reserve and will generate an ongoing rental income to the council.  There were no major non-current assets disposals during the year. 
 
This capital expenditure was funded from the following areas: 
 

 
 
 

10% 

44% 

14% 

29% 
3% Capital Receipts

Reserve

Revenue
Contributions

PFI Scheme

Specific Grants

S106/Commuted
Sums

An analysis of non-current assets and funding of the capital 
expenditure is shown in notes 8, 9 and 25.  Currently Breckland 
does not borrow externally to finance its capital programme, 
however the available capital funding is reducing year by year 
and therefore borrowing may be undertaken in future if the 
business case for a project supports it.  Available capital for 
future projects is limited unless it is relevant to use revenue 
funding, additional capital receipts are generated or the 
business case supports borrowing. 
 

86



NARRATIVE REPORT 

13 
 

Collection Fund financial performance 
The balance on the council tax Collection Fund at 31 March 2019 showed a £49k surplus.  This will be shared between Norfolk County Council, Norfolk Police 
and Crime Commissioner and Breckland Council in proportion with each authority’s relative precept.  This surplus has resulted from a higher than budgeted 
tax base. 
The balance on the NNDR Collection Fund at 31 March 2019 showed a £2,817k deficit.  This will be shared between Central Government, Breckland Council 
and Norfolk County Council in proportion with each party’s relative proportionate share.  This deficit has resulted from high levels of appeals from the 2017 
valuation. 
 
These balances were estimated and taken into account when setting the Council Tax for 2019-20 and changes since that time will be reflected in setting the 
Council Tax in 2020-21. 
 
Reserves and Balances 
Reserves and balances decreased by £4,105k during the year.  Major increases and (decreases) in reserves balances included: 
          £’000 

o Pensions reserve               (9,568) 
o Revaluation reserve     1,516 
o Collection Fund Adjustment Account             (1,667) 
o Capital Adjustment Account    4,837 
o Other un-usable reserves         92 
o Usable reserves        685 

The value shown for the pensions reserve is an increase in the deficit.  Further information on reserves can be found within the notes section (6, 17 & 18). 
 
Pension Fund 
The accounts and notes with relation to the pension fund have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standard (IAS) 19.  The Pension 
Fund liability shown in the Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2019 stands at £51,177k compared with £41,609k the previous year. This represents the liability to 
the Norfolk Pension Fund.  This amount is matched by a pension reserve also shown in the Balance Sheet and therefore has no impact on the Council’s 
overall financial position at 31 March 2019.  The IAS 19 Balance Sheet position for the Council has worsened in 2018-19 and the IAS 19 pension deficit is 
larger in monetary terms at 31 March 2019.  This is a result of lower corporate bond yields which increases the value placed on obligations (partly offset by 
higher investment returns).  This liability also includes the estimated impact of the Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) and the recent McCloud legal ruling.  
The actuary uses a set of demographic assumptions that are consistent with those used for the Norfolk Pension Fund. These are highlighted in note 7.  
Following the results of the triennial review in 2016, the Council’s budget includes both a pension contribution percentage and also a lump sum payment each 
year which is forecast to bring the pension scheme into a fully funded position over a 20 year term. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

87



NARRATIVE REPORT 

14 
 

Cash Flows 
The table below shows the level of investments held by the Council which are used to fund day to day cash flow requirements, achieve a return on 
investments to help support the low levels of council tax, support the reserves expenditure and to fund capital expenditure.  The table also shows the level of 
the PFI liability.  
 

 2018-19 2017-18 Change 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Long Term Investments 27 5 22 
Short Term Investments 20,089 17,092 2,997 
Cash & Cash Equivalents 4,610 7,994 (3,384) 
PFI Liability (8,277) (8,507) 230 

Total 16,449 16,584 (135) 

 
Capital spend will reduce the cash held, however the Council does not currently have a need to borrow externally over the medium term.  The Council’s 
overall Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) which details the Council’s underlying need to borrow can be found at note 25. 
 
Future years capital budgets include a £5,000k budget to purchase vehicles and equipment relating to the new waste contract which the Council is currently 
procuring.  The Moving Forward programme remains part of the budget and the Growth & Investment Fund will lead to investments once identified. 
 
There were no significant provisions, contingencies or write offs during the year, full details on provisions and contingencies can be found at note 15.  
However appeals from Business Rates (NNDR) continue to be a risk to the Council and the level of NNDR provisions required has increased in 2018-19. 
  

88



NARRATIVE REPORT 

15 
 

Achievements and Targets 
A summary of some project and delivery highlights for the year include: 
 

How We Performed in 2018/19 

Supporting Breckland to develop 
and thrive 

Providing the right services, at the 
right time and in the right way 

Enabling stronger, more 
independent communities 

Developing the local economy to 
be vibrant with continued growth 

 We secured £7.95m grant 
from Homes England to 
support delivery of 5,000 

homes near Thetford 

 We have funded 10 projects 
through a WW1 heritage 

grant scheme, reaching over 
8,000 people 

 Our Local Plan is on track to 
be adopted in 2019 

 We collaborated with 
partners to support 

vulnerable people to help 150 
cases avoid ‘crisis’ stage 

 We launched a new Landlord 
Forum to engage with 

property owners & support 
them to further improve 

housing options 

 Our £3.4m project to improve 
power supplies at Snetterton 

Heath is on track & will 
enable businesses to grow in 

the area creating jobs 

 Outline planning permission 
has been granted for up to 

4,000 homes & infrastructure 
on the outskirts of 

Attleborough 
 

 Our Silver Social project to 
tackle rural isolation was 

shortlisted in the Best Local 
Authority Arts Initiative 

category of the Heart for the 
Arts 2019 awards.  Silver 

Social had 640 participants 
across 19 venues 

 We successfully worked in 
partnership with Kings Lynn 
& West Norfolk Council and 

North Norfolk Council to 
commence procurement of a 
new Environmental Services 
contract across all 3 Councils 

 We continued to work closely 
with partners (including 

Capita, Serco & Parkwood 
Leisure) to review 

performance and further 
improve services 

 We co-located Department of 
Work & Pensions (DWP) into 

our offices in Thetford, 
creating a similar ‘one stop 
shop’ to our Dereham office 

 We achieved our highest 
digital response rates in our 

elections team to date at 
40% of all canvas responses 

received being on line 

 We launched the BreckWorld 
app to promote local 

attractions and drive visits to 
our towns through innovative 
films & a virtual treasure hunt 

 The Our Breckland Lottery 
raised around £40k for good 

causes in its 1
st
 year and 

continues to grow with 60+ 
good causes and 1,200 
tickets sold each week 

 We worked with local 
businesses to deliver our 
ShopAppy.com project, 

raising the profile of 
independent traders and 

providing them with an online 
platform 

 We continued to support 
almost 100 litter picking 

groups across the district & 
facilitated 110 litter picks 

 We had over 760,000 visits 
to our leisure centres, 

offering 80 exercise class 
options & 2,900 children 

attended swimming lessons 

 We set aside £1.4m for 
projects which directly 

support communities and 
businesses across the 
district, following £1.7m 

already allocated in 2018-19 

 We launched Tripstart, a 
new project to help people 
overcome barriers to get 
back into employment 

 Breckland innovation Den 
invited 10 promising 

businesses & new start-ups 
to pitch for a share of £100k 

business development 
funding 

 We continued to work with 
partners on scoping a 

business case for 
enhancements to the A47, 
including backing calls for 
central gov’t investment 

 We created a new 
Investment Strategy & 
Prospectus to focus on 
opportunities to achieve 

growth by helping existing 
businesses to grow while 

attracting new companies to 
the district 

 

89



NARRATIVE REPORT 

16 
 

Current Economic Climate, Outlook and Risk 
The current economic climate, Brexit and continuing reduction and un-certainty in Central Government funding continues to add pressures to the Council’s 
budgets.  Future changes relating to 75% retained Business Rates is now planned by Government to be implemented for 2020-21 alongside the Fair Funding 
review.  This is a fundamental review by Government on how to calculate the ‘needs’ of each authority in order to determine the amount of funding each local 
authority requires through grant funding.  This continues to add further uncertainty for our budget setting in the medium term as funding levels past 2019-20 
are still not known, neither is the percentage share of retained NNDR under the new scheme and neither is sufficient detail available on the Fair Funding 
review to calculate estimated funding shares. 
 
Measures taken to reduce revenue expenditure and the formation of our ‘Moving Forward’ transformation programme meant that the Council started 2018-19 
with a balanced budget with no impact on front line services, subject to successful delivery of the transformation programme, despite the reduced level of 
Government grant.  The successful delivery of the transformation programme will ensure a balanced budget for the medium term.  The transformation 
programme includes funding set aside to enable delivery of projects which generate future returns and also includes a Growth and Investment Fund, which 
will support the Commercialisation strand of the transformation programme by generating investment returns and promoting economic and housing growth in 
the region.   The medium term plan also removes reliance on Government RSG and on New Homes Bonus to nil in future years. 
 
The impact of Brexit on the Council’s corporate objectives and finances is a concern, particularly in relation to inflation levels (which impact our major 
contracts) and the impact on businesses. 
 
The Council remains in a strong financial position over the medium term, with robust plans for transformation, capital spend and delivery of services as well 
as investment in our communities.  This means the Council is well placed to deal with any changes in funding levels resulting from the Fair Funding review 
and 75% Rates Retention with a measured and planned approach.  Our Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) provides information on the Councils budget, 
transformation programme and reserves and can be found on our website at https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/3461/Strategies-Plans-and-Policies- 
 
The current level of reserves held by the Council is considered adequate to withstand current pressures and to invest in transformation projects, but it would 
not be financially sustainable to rely on these reserves to continue to fund the reduction in Central Government funding. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

90

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/3461/Strategies-Plans-and-Policies-


NARRATIVE REPORT 

17 
 

Risk  
The table below provides details of the current principle strategic risks facing the Council along with an assessment of the likelihood and impact. 
 

Risk Impact Likelihood Mitigation 

Impact of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 

Implementation of this Act places additional burdens on 
the Council, through increased demand volumes and 
increased time needed to manage each case.  The 
expansion of this duty could also lead to a serious 
shortfall in available temporary housing options 

4/5 = Likely Implementation of specialised software to manage 
cases under the new Act.  Additional temporary 
resources recruited, utilising government grant.  
Working with partners to open up options and 
identification of private sector options 

General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) 
implementation 

With the implementation of the GDPR, which replaces 
the Data Protection Act of 1998, there is a risk that the 
Council will not manage its data appropriately & in line 
with new regulations 

3/5 = Plausible Regular meetings of the statutory information group 
highlight areas to be addressed and these are 
followed up with the necessary actions (i.e. training) 

Critical breach of ICT 
security 

Attacks are happening with increasing frequency.  
Ransom & theft specialists are targeting banking details 
& personal information.  This would lead to reputational 
damage, financial fines and poor outcome for residents. 

3/5 = Plausible Through a suite of protection measures there is a 
good level of protection from viruses.  Disaster 
recovery is also well maintained.  Corporate firewall 
and email scanning provides additional protections 

Medium Term Financial Plan 
not delivered 

The Council’s medium term financial plan has identified 
a budget gap, the transformation programme will need to 
make this level of savings for the organisation over that 
period to balance the budget.  If this is not achieved, 
service changes may need to be made, or reserves 
might be utilised in the short term 

3/5 = Plausible The Moving Forward programme is continually 
monitored through finance Board and is adapted to 
ensure the most likely outcomes are achievable and 
the budget updated accordingly.   

Business Rates retention 
and Fair funding review  

Changes to the way local government is funded from 1 
April 2020 could reduce the funding levels provided to 
the Council 

2/5 = Possible Reliance on RSG and New Homes Bonus removed 
from the budget.  Financial reserves in place to allow 
time to put in place a measured action plan if 
required 

Failure to maximise trading 
opportunities 

This could result in lack of commercial exploitation of 
assets and/or income from trading arms 

2/5 = Possible Governance is in place through the Performance, 
Risk & Audit Board and Finance Board which monitor 
work towards maximising trading opportunities 

Failure to deliver Council 
priorities 

This would lead to missed targets & failure to deliver 
objectives and may result in the Council suffering 
reputational damage & a failure to deliver priorities to 
residents 

2/5 = Possible The corporate delivery plan sets out how we will 
achieve the corporate plan and this is monitored at 
Performance Risk and Audit Board each month 

 
 
 

91



NARRATIVE REPORT 

18 
 

The Councils Risk Management Framework can be found on the website.  The Performance, Risk & Audit Board reviews updates on strategic and 
operational risks on a quarterly basis and takes any remedial actions as necessary (for example, escalation to the Executive Management Team or 
Governance & Audit Committee).  Quarterly updates on the strategic risk register is provided to both the Executive Management Team and the Governance & 
Audit Committee.  The Governance & Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the arrangements in place for identification, monitoring and management 
of strategic risk. 
 
The Council is always looking for new opportunities, such as sharing services with other Councils, service improvements and cost reductions through digital, 
etc.  All opportunities will be examined on their own merits and business cases completed if the opportunity proves worthy.  

92



NARRATIVE REPORT 

19 
 

The Statement of Accounts 
The Council's accounts for 2018-19 have been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom.  The 
purpose of the Statements of Accounts is to give interested parties clear information about the Council’s finances.   
 
This year the major accounting changes made to the statement of accounts are: 

 Adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. 
 
The accounts consist of the following statements: - 
 
THE EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS – the objective of this analysis is to demonstrate to council tax payers how the funding available to the council (i.e. 
government grants, council tax and business rates) for the year has been used in providing services in comparison with those resources consumed or earned 
by councils in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices.  The Expenditure and Funding Analysis also shows how this expenditure is allocated 
for decision making purposes between the council’s directorates.  Income and expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting practices is 
presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
THE COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT - this statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from taxation.  Authorities raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance 
with statutory requirements; this may be different from the accounting cost.  The taxation position is shown both in the Expenditure and funding Analysis and 
the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
THE MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT -  this statement shows the movement from the start of the year to the end on the different reserves held by the 
Council, analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other ‘unusable’ reserves.  This 
statement shows how the movements in year of the council’s reserves are broken down between gains and losses incurred in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practices and the statutory adjustments required to return to the amounts chargeable to council tax for the year.  The Net 
Increase/Decrease line shows the statutory General Fund Balance movements in the year following those adjustments. 
 
THE BALANCE SHEET - which shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities recognised by the Council.  The net assets of the 
Council (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the Council.  Reserves are reported in two categories.  The first category of reserves are 
usable reserves (i.e. those that the Council may use to provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any statutory 
limitations on their use).  The second category of reserves are unusable reserves which are those that the Council is not able to use to provide services.  This 
category includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses, where amounts would only become available if the assets are sold; and reserves which 
hold timing differences shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement line ‘Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations’. 
 
THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT – which shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Council during the reporting period.  The statement shows how 
the Council generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities.  The amount of net cash 
flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations of the Council are funded by way of taxation and grant income or 
from the recipients of services provided by the Council.  Investing activities represent the extent to which cash outflows have been made for resources which 

93



NARRATIVE REPORT 

20 
 

are intended to contribute to the Council’s future service delivery.  Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash 
flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the Council. 
 
THE COMMERCIAL PROPERTY TRADING ACCOUNT  - which shows the income and expenditure on industrial and certain other commercial properties held by the 
Council within the District. 
 
THE COLLECTION FUND  - this account reflects the statutory requirement contained in Section 89 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (amended by 
Local Government Finance Act 1992 and the Local Government Finance Act 2012) for billing authorities to establish and maintain a separate fund for the 
collection and distribution of amounts due in relation to Council Tax and National Non-Domestic Rates.  
Breckland collects council tax on behalf of Norfolk County Council, Norfolk Police and Crime Commissioner and towns and parishes, and redistributes the 
precepts to these authorities. The balance on the council tax element of the Collection Fund is shared proportionately between Norfolk County Council, 
Norfolk Police and Crime Commissioner and Breckland Council. 
Breckland collects National Non-Domestic Rates on behalf of Central Government and Norfolk County Council and re-distributes the precepts to these 
authorities.  The balance on the National Non-Domestic Rates element of the Collection Fund is shared proportionately between Central Government, 
Breckland Council and Norfolk County Council. 
 
THE GROUP ACCOUNTS – show the accounts for the Council including its share of interest in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. 
 
THE ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT – sets out the Council’s approach to corporate governance and how it manages its governance arrangements in 
accordance with the Code of Governance. 
 
The accounts are supported by the notes to the financial statements.  These notes include a summary of significant accounting policies, further detail relating 
to items in the main financial statements, assumptions made about the future and major estimations made. 
 
This narrative report provides a brief explanation of the Council’s overall financial position and some key messages and aims to assist the readers in the 
interpretation of the accounting statements. 
 
The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting sets out a requirement to prepare group accounts where the authority has interests in subsidiaries, 
associates and/or joint ventures, subject to the consideration of materiality, in addition to their single entity financial statements.  The Council has an interest 
in Breckland Bridge Ltd and this is consolidated into the Group Accounts as a Joint Venture and more information can be found in the Group Accounts and 
related party transactions notes. 
 
There are no material or unusual charges or credits within the statement in 2018-19. 
 
 
 

94



STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENTS OF ACCOUNTS 

21 
 

The Council’s Responsibilities 

The Council is required:  
o to make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the 

administration of those affairs.  In this Council in 2018-19 that officer was the Executive Director Commercialisation. 
 

o to manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguard its assets. 
 

o to approve the Statements of Accounts. 

 

The Executive Director Commercialisation’s Responsibilities 

The Executive Director Commercialisation is responsible for the preparation of the Council's Statements of Accounts in accordance with proper practices as 
set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (‘the Code’).   
 
In preparing these Statements of Accounts, the Executive Director Commercialisation has:  

o selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently 
 
o made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent 

 
o complied with the local authority Code   

 
The Executive Director Commercialisation has also: 

o kept proper accounting records, which were up to date 
 

o taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
The Executive Director Commercialisation should sign and date the Statements of Accounts, stating that they provide a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Council at the reporting date and of its income and expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2019.  This certification can be found at page 26 
and page 89. 
 
The Chairman’s declaration confirming that the Statement of Accounts have been approved by the Governance and Audit Committee can be found at page 
95. 
 
 

95



EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS 

22 
 

Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 
 Net 

Expenditure 
Chargeable 

to the 
General 

Fund 
 2018-19 

 
Adjustments 

Between 
Funding & 

Accounting 
Basis 

2018-19 

 
 
 

Net 
Expenditure 
in the CIES 

2018-19 

Net 
Expenditure 
Chargeable 

to the 
General 

Fund 
 2017-18 

 
Adjustments 

Between 
Funding & 

Accounting 
Basis 

2017-18 

 
 
 

Net 
Expenditure 
in the CIES 

2017-18 

 
 

Note 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000  
Cost of Services        
Growth & Commercialisation Directorate 1,026 2,212 3,238 615 4,980 5,595  
Place Directorate 6,363 1,268 7,631 6,020 836 6,856  
Strategy & Governance Directorate 5,387 1,163 6,550 5,633 524 6,157  
Housing Benefit (25) (42) (67) (70) - (70)  

Net Cost of Services 12,751 4,601 17,352 12,198 6,340 18,538  
        
Other Income & Expenditure (13,501) (5,057) (18,558) (12,243) (4,844) (17,087)  
        

(Surplus)/Deficit on Provision of Services (750) (456) (1,206) (45) 1,496 1,451 2,3,4 

        

 
Opening General Fund & Earmarked Reserves Balance @ 31.03.18 17,503  
   
Adjust for Surplus/Deficit on Provision of Services 750  
   

Closing General Fund & Earmarked Reserves Balance @ 31.03.19 18,253  

 
The Expenditure and Funding Analysis is a note to the Financial Statements, however, it is positioned here as it provides a link from the figures reported in 
the Financial Performance Report at Cabinet to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES).

96



COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT 

23 
 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
 Gross 

Expenditure 
2018-19 

Gross 
Income 
2018-19 

Net 
Expenditure 

2018-19 

Gross 
Expenditure 

2017-18 

Gross 
Income 
2017-18 

Net 
Expenditure 

2017-18 

 
 

Note 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000  
Expenditure on Services        
Growth & Commercialisation Directorate 9,332 (6,094) 3,238 14,502 (8,906) 5,596  
Place Directorate 14,422 (6,791) 7,631 13,319 (6,464) 6,855  
Strategy & Governance Directorate 8,070 (1,520) 6,550 7,826 (1,669) 6,157  
Housing Benefit 29,668 (29,735) (67) 31,485 (31,555) (70)  

Cost of Services 61,492 (44,140) 17,352 67,132 (48,594) 18,538  

Other operating expenditure        
  Parish Council Precepts and Drainage Board Levies 3,870 - 3,870 3,602 - 3,602  
  (Gain)/Loss on disposal of non-current assets - (359) (359) - (220) (220)  
Financing and investment income and expenditure        
  Interest receivable & payable & similar income & expenditure 566 (847) (281) 571 (894) (323)  
  Re-measurement of the net defined benefit liability/asset 3,022 (1,881) 1,141 2,886 (1,766) 1,120  
  (Surplus)/Deficit on trading undertakings (1,660) (2,512) (4,172) (1,163) (2,374) (3,537)  
  Other - (31) (31) - (26) (26)  
Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure        
  Council Tax income (including collection fund) - (7,486) (7,486) - (6,985) (6,985)  
  NDR income & expenditure (including collection fund) 9,865 (15,200) (5,335) 9,088 (13,762) (4,674)  
  Revenue Support Grant - (1,071) (1,071) - (1,451) (1,451)  
  Donated Assets - (170) (170) - - -  
  Other non-ring fenced Government grants - (4,664) (4,664) - (4,593) (4,593)  

(Surplus)/Deficit on Provision of Services 77,155 (78,361) (1,206) 82,116 (80,665) 1,451  

(Surplus)/Deficit on revaluation of PPE assets   (1,814)   (683)  
Actuarial (gains)/losses on pension assets/liabilities   7,125   (3,016) 7 

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure   5,311   (3,699)  

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure   4,105   (2,248)  

97



MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT 

24 
 

Movement in Reserves Statement 
  

General 
Fund 

Balance 

Ear-
marked 

GF 
Reserves 

 
Capital 

Receipts 
Reserve 

Capital 
Grants 

Un-
applied 

 
Total 

Usable 
Reserves 

 
Un-

usable 
Reserves 

 
 

Total 
Reserves 

 
 
 

Notes 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000  

Balance as at 1 April 2017 2,851 14,607 - 1,331 18,789 25,514 44,303  

Movement in Reserves during 2017-18         

Total Comprehensive Income & Expenditure (1,451) - - - (1,451) 3,699 2,248  

Adjustments from income & expenditure 
charged under the accounting basis to funding 
basis 

1,496 - 25 251 1,772 (1,772) -  

Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves (227) 227 - - - - -  

Increase/(decrease) for year (182) 227 25 251 321 1,927 2,248  

         

Balance as at 31 March 2018 2,669 14,834 25 1,582 19,110 27,441 46,551  

         

Balance as at 1 April 2018 2,669 14,834 25 1,582 19,110 27,441 46,551  

Movement in Reserves during 2018-19         

Total Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 1,206 - - - 1,206 (5,311) (4,105)  

Adjustments from income & expenditure 
charged under the accounting basis to funding 
basis 

(456) - (24) (41) (521) 521 - 5 

Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves (919) 919 - - - - - 6 

Increase/(decrease) for year (169) 919 (24) (41) 685 (4,790) (4,105)  

         

Balance as at 31 March 2019 2,500 15,753 1 1,541 19,795 22,651 42,446  

98



BALANCE SHEET 
 

25 
 

Balance Sheet 
 31 March 2019 31 March 2018 Notes 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000  
Non Current Assets      
Property Plant and Equipment 36,628  35,104  8 
Heritage Assets 263  211   
Investment Property 31,149  26,393  9 
Intangible Assets 78  291   

Total Non Current Assets  68,118  61,999  

Long-term investments  27  5  
Long term debtors  12,519  12,949 10 

Total long-term assets  80,664  74,953  

Current Assets      
Short-term investments 20,089  17,092  11 
Short-term debtors 6,987  6,555  12 
Cash and cash equivalents 4,610  7,994  13 
Assets Held for Sale 371  10   

Total Current Assets  32,057  31,651  

Total Assets  112,721  106,604  
Current Liabilities      
Short-term creditors (7,640)  (8,004)  14 
Provisions (2,046)  (924)  15 

Total Current Liabilities  (9,686)  (8,928)  

Total Assets less Current 
Liabilities 

 103,035  97,676  

Long Term Liabilities      
PFI Lease Liability > 1 year (8,035)  (8,277)  24 
Pensions Liability (51,177)  (41,609)  7 
Capital grants receipts in advance (1,377)  (1,239)  16 

Total Long-term Liabilities  (60,589)  (51,125)  

Net Assets  42,446  46,551  

Financed By:-      
Usable reserves  (19,795)  (19,110) 17 
Un-usable reserves  (22,651)  (27,441) 18 

Total Net Worth  (42,446)  (46,551)  

 

 

99



BALANCE SHEET 
 

26 
 

I certify that the statements of accounts on pages 22 to 83 present a true and fair view of the financial position of Breckland Council as at 31 March 2019 and 
its income and expenditure for the year then ended. 
 
 
    
Executive Director Commercialisation: 
 
 
  
 
Date:          31 July 2019 
 

100



CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
 

27 
 

Cash Flow Statement 
 2018-19 2017-18 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Net (surplus) or deficit on the provision of services (1,206)  1,451  

Adjust net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for non-cash movements     
  Depreciation and amortisation (1,301)  (1,157)  
  Impairments and valuations 2,453  (1,055)  
  (Increase)/Decrease in creditors (445)  (229)  
  Increase/(Decrease) in debtors (including interest debtors) (590)  2,128  
  Pension liability (2,443)  (1,895)  
  Carrying amount of non-current assets sold (13)  (94)  
  Other (1,114)  484  
Adjust for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the provision of services 
that are investing and financing activities 

    

  Capital grants credited to the surplus/deficit on the provision of service 1,560  1,495  
  Proceeds from the sale of non-current assets 373  316  
  Other 170  -  

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities  (2,556)  1,444 

Investing Activities     
  Purchase of PPE, Investment property and intangible assets  3,358  1,499 
  Purchase of short and long term investments  183,600  182,090 
  Proceeds from the sale of PPE, Investment property and intangible assets  (348)  (285) 
  Proceeds from short and long term investments  (180,610)  (181,139) 
  Other receipts and payments for investing activities  (2,265)  (2,767) 
Financing Activities     
  Cash payments for the reduction of liabilities relating to PFI contracts  230  218 
  Other receipts/payments for financing activities  1,975  (506) 

Net (Increase)/Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents  3,384  554 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period  7,994  8,548 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period  4,610  7,994 

 
The cash flows from operating activities includes interest received of £827k in 2018-19 (£860k in 2017-18) and interest paid of £566k in 2018-19 (£571k in 
2017-18). 

101



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

28 
 

Note 1 – Accounting Policies 

General Principles 
The Statement of Accounts summarises the Council’s transactions for the 2018-19 financial year and its position at the year end of 31 March 2019. The 
Council is required to prepare an annual Statement of Accounts by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, which those Regulations require to be prepared 
in accordance with proper accounting practices.  These practices under Section 21 of the 2003 Act primarily comprise the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2018-19, supported by International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS).  The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost, modified by the revaluation of 
certain categories of non-current assets and financial instruments. 
 

Accruals of Income and Expenditure 
Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or received. In particular: 

 Revenue from contracts with service recipients, whether for services or the provision of goods is recognised when (or as) the goods or services are 
transferred to the service recipient in accordance with the performance obligations in the contract. 

 Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are recorded as expenditure when the services are received 
rather than when payments are made. 

 Interest payable on borrowings and receivable on investments is accounted for respectively as expenditure or income on the basis of the effective 
interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the contract. 

 Where income or expenditure has been recognised but cash has not been received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded 
in the Balance Sheet. Where it is doubtful that debts will be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a charge made to revenue for the 

income that might not be collected. 
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents 
are investments that are instant access and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 
 
In the Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an 
integral part of the Council’s cash management. 
 

Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets 
Services, support services and trading accounts are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of holding non-current assets during the year: 

 Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service; 

 Revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which 
the losses can be written off; and 

 Amortisation of intangible assets attributable to the service. 
 

102



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

29 
 

The Council is not required to raise council tax to fund depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses or amortisation.  However, it is required to make an 
annual contribution from revenue towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement.  Whilst the Council does not have an overall borrowing 
requirement, there is an amount implicit in the PFI repayment relating to Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).  Depreciation, revaluation, impairment losses 
and amortisation are therefore replaced by an adjusting transaction between the Capital Adjustment Account and the Movement in Reserves Statement which 
reverses out the amount charged so that there is no impact on the level of council tax. 
 

Collection Fund 
This account is an agent’s statement that reflects the statutory obligation for billing authorities to maintain a separate Collection Fund.  The statement shows 
the transactions of the billing authority in relation to the collection from taxpayers and distribution of council tax and non-domestic rates (NNDR) to major 
preceptors, local authorities and the Government. 
An allowance for the impairment of debt is calculated for the Collection Fund using the following bases: 

 Council Tax – An un-collectable percentage is applied to the debt outstanding for each year based on the age of that debt. 

 NNDR – An un-collectable percentage is applied to the debt outstanding based on the current collection status of that debt (i.e. under instalments, 
under enforcement, etc). 

An allowance for impairment from NNDR appeals from the 2010 valuation list is calculated by taking the outstanding appeals at the Valuation Office (VO), 
categorising these by the rating list descriptions and applying an estimate to the likely success of each outstanding appeal using historical statistics of appeals 
settled in each category.  For NNDR appeals relating to the 2017 valuation list an assessment is made of the likely reduction in rateable value based on the 
change in value between 2010 and 2017 and the premises category and then applying an estimate of value of a successful appeal, plus an estimate of any 
lodged appeals using the same process as under the 2010 list.  In addition a review on high risk properties such as high rateable value, large infrastructure, 
change to charities, etc is undertaken and an estimate made for appeals on these properties if required.   
 
The council tax and NNDR income included in the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement is the council’s share of accrued income for the year.  
However, regulations determine the amount of council tax and NNDR that must be included in the Council’s General Fund.  Therefore, the difference between 
the income included in the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement and the amount required by regulation to be credited to the General fund is 
taken to the Collection Fund Adjustment Account and included as a reconciling item in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  The Balance Sheet includes 
the Council’s share of the year end balances in respect of council tax and NNDR relating to arrears, impairment allowance for doubtful debts, overpayments 
and prepayments and appeals. 
 

Employee Benefits 
Benefits Payable During Employment 
Short-term employee benefits, such as salaries and paid annual leave for current employees, are those due to be settled wholly within 12 months of the year-
end.  They are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees render services to the Council and charged on an accrual basis to the 
relevant service line of the comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
Termination Benefits 
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Council to terminate an officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or 
an officer’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits and are charged on an accruals basis to the appropriate service segment 
at the earlier of when the Council can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or when the Council recognises costs for a restructuring. 

103



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

30 
 

Post Employment Benefits 
Employees of the Council are members of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS), administered by Norfolk County Council, which provides defined 
benefits to members (retirement lump sums and pensions), earned as employees work for the Council. It is accounted for as a defined benefits scheme: 
 

 The liabilities of the pension scheme attributable to the Council are included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit 
method – i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date by employees, based on 
assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates, etc and projections of projected earnings for current employees. 

 Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate based on the indicative rate of return on high quality corporate bonds. 

 The assets of the Norfolk County Council pension fund attributable to the Council are included in the Balance Sheet at their bid value. 

 The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components: 
o Service cost comprising: 

 Current Service Cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this year – allocated in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement to the services for which the employees worked. 

 Past Service Cost - the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment or curtailment whose effect relates to years of 
service earned in earlier years – debited to the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 

 Net Interest on the net defined liability, ie. Net interest expense for the Council – the change during the period in the net defined 
liability that arises from the passage of time charged to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement – this is calculated by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined 
benefit obligation at the beginning of the period to the net defined liability at the beginning of the period – taking into account any 
changes in the net defined benefit liability during the period as a result of contribution and benefit payments. 

o Re-measurements comprising: 
 Return on Plan Assets – excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined liability – charged to the Pensions Reserve 

as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.  
 Actuarial Gains and Losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise because events have not coincided with assumptions 

made at the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries have updated their assumptions – charged to the Pensions Reserve as 
Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 

o Contributions paid to the Pension Fund – cash paid as employer’s contributions to the pension fund in settlement of liabilities; not accounted 
for as an expense 

 
In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Council to the pension 
fund or directly to pensioners in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, 
this means that there are appropriations to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for retirement benefits and replace them 
with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year end.  The negative balance that arises 
on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact to the General Fund of being required to account for retirement benefits on the basis of 
cash flows rather than as benefits are earned by employees. 
 
 

104



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

31 
 

Discretionary Benefits 
The Council also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in the event of early retirements.  Any liabilities estimated to arise 
as a result of an award to any member of staff are accrued in the year of the decision to make the award and accounted for using the same policies as are 
applied to the Local Government Pension Scheme. 
 

Estimation Techniques 
Where estimated figures have been used in the accounts (for example, in the preparation of Pension Fund liabilities) the assumptions have been stated either 
in the relevant notes to the accounts or in note 28 Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty. 
 

Events after the Balance Sheet Date 
Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date 
when the Statement of Accounts are authorised for issue.  Two types of event can be identified: 

 Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such 
events 

 Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but 
where a category of events would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their estimated financial 
effect. 

Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of Accounts. 
 

Fair Value Measurement 
The Council measures some of its non-financial assets, such as surplus assets and investment properties, at fair value at each reporting date.  Fair value is 
the price that would be received to sell as asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  The fair value measurement 
assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 

 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 
The Council measures the fair value of an asset or liability using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 
 
When measuring fair value of a non-financial asset, the Council takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the 
asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.  The Council uses valuation 
techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is available, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and 
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.  Inputs to the valuation techniques in respect of assets or liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in 
the Council’s financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy as follows: 

 Level 1 – quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Council can access at the measurement date 

 Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly 

 Level 3 – unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
 

105



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

32 
 

Financial Instruments 
Financial Liabilities 
The policy for any financial liabilities the Council holds which are classed as leases or PFI are detailed within the policy for that classification. 
 
Financial Assets 
Financial assets are classified based on a classification and measurement approach that reflects the business model for holding the financial assets and their 
cash flow characteristics.  There are 3 main classes of financial assets measured at: 

 Amortised cost 

 Fair value through profit and loss (FVPL) 

 Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
The Council’s business model is to hold investments to collect contractual cash flows.  Financial assets are therefore classified as amortised cost. 
 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a 
financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at their amortised cost.  Annual credits for interest receivable are 
made to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, based on the carrying amount 
of the investment/asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. 
 

Government Grants and Contributions 
Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third party contributions and donations are recognised as due to the Council 
when there is reasonable assurance that; 

 the Council will comply with the conditions attached to the payments and  

 the grants or contributions will be received.   
 
Amounts recognised as due to the Council are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement until conditions attached to the grant or 
contribution have been satisfied (conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset acquired 
using the grant or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to 
the transferor). 
 
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors.  When conditions are 
satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited to the relevant service line (for attributable revenue grants and contributions) or Taxation and Non-Specific Grant 
Income (for non-ringfenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement.  Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied Account.  
Where it has been applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account.  Amounts in the Capital Grants Unapplied Account are transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account once they have been applied to fund capital expenditure. 
 

106



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

33 
 

Certain grants are general grants allocated by Central Government directly to local authorities as revenue funding, these are non-ringfenced and are credited 
to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  Details of these grants can be found in note 17 Grant 
Income. 
 

Heritage Assets 
Historical Buildings – These items are reported in the Balance Sheet at valuation and depreciation is provided for, if necessary, in accordance with the 
Council’s general policies for depreciation (see the section on Property, Plant and Equipment in this note). 
 
The Council’s heritage assets consist of one building, the Charles Burrell Museum which opened in 1991 and the land on which it is sited.  Previously it was 
the site of the former paint shop for the steam engine manufacturer and is now held as a museum for its cultural contribution rather than for any other 
purpose.  The valuation is based on its existing use. 
 

Intangible Assets 
Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are controlled by the Council as a result of past events (i.e. software licences) is 
capitalised when it is expected that future economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to the Council for more than one financial 
year.  The Council accounts for its software as intangible assets.  The carrying amount of intangible assets is amortised on a straight line basis and is 
charged to the ICT cost centre and then absorbed as an overhead across all the service headings in the Cost of Services. 
 
Intangible assets are initially measured at cost and are carried at amortised cost.  The depreciable amount of the intangible asset is amortised over its useful 
life (based on internal assessments of the period the software is expected to be of use to the Council) to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement.  Depreciation is calculated on the following basis: 

 Computer software and licences – straight line allocation over 3 years 
 
Where expenditure on intangible assets qualifies as capital expenditure for statutory purposes, amortisation and disposal gains and losses are not permitted 
to have an impact on the General Fund Balance.  The gains and losses are therefore reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and (for any disposal proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts Reserve. 
 

Interest in Companies and Other Entities 
The Anglia Revenues Partnership Joint Committee - This involves a group of authorities coming together to fulfil a joint purpose but it does not constitute a 
legal entity in its own right.  It is accounted for in the respective authorities Statements of Accounts as a shared service.  This requires the authority’s share of 
partnership transactions (expenditure and income and balances if applicable) to be included within the relevant lines within the authority’s accounts. 
 
Anglia Revenues Partnership (ARP) Trading Ltd - This is a legal entity conducted under joint control.  The company became dormant in June 2018. 
 
Breckland Bridge Ltd – This is the Local Asset Backed Vehicle (LABV) company set up between the Council and The Land Group Ltd.  The company has 
been set up to achieve financial returns and accelerate long term regeneration and economic growth to projects in the Council area with a view to maximising 

107



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

34 
 

revenue whilst securing the economic, social, and environmental well-being of the Council area.  This company is classified as a Joint Venture in the Councils 
accounts and group accounts are prepared on this basis.  Please refer to the group accounts section of this document. 
 
The Related Party Transactions note give details on these entities. 
 

Investment Property 
Investment properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.  The definition is not met if the property is used in any way 
to facilitate the delivery of services or production of goods. 
 
Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value, being the price that would be received to sell such an asset in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  As a non-financial asset, investment properties are measured at highest and best use.  
Properties are not depreciated but are revalued annually according to market conditions at the year-end.  Valuations are in accordance with the Statements of 
Asset Valuation Principles and Guidance Notes issued by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS).  Gains and losses on revaluation and on 
disposal are posted to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Rentals received in relation to investment properties are credited to the ‘Surplus/Deficit on trading undertakings not included in Cost of Services’ line and 
result in a gain for the General Fund Balance.  However revaluation and disposal gains and losses are not permitted by statutory arrangements to have an 
impact on the General Fund Balance.  The gains and losses are therefore reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement 
and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and (for any disposal proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts Reserve. 
 
Where part of an investment property is replaced (i.e. subsequent capital expenditure), the carrying amounts of the parts replaced are de-recognised (where 
material) and the cost of replacement is recognised in the carrying value of the property. 
 

Leases 
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, 
plant or equipment from the lessor to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases.  Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land 
and buildings elements are usually considered separately for classification. 
 
Authority as Lessor 
Operating Leases – Where the Council grants an operating lease over a property, the asset is retained in the Balance Sheet.  Rental income is credited to the 
relevant line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (i.e. Surplus/Deficit on trading undertakings).  Credits are made on a straight line 
basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (eg. there is a rent free period). 
 
Finance leases – Where the Council grants a finance lease over a property, the relevant asset is written out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal.  At the 
commencement of the lease, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal.  A gain, representing the Council’s net investment in the lease, is 
credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the 
carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal), matched by a lease (long term debtor) asset in the Balance Sheet. 

108



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

35 
 

Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between: 

 A charge for the acquisition of the interest in the asset - applied to write down the lease debtor (together with any premiums received); and 

 Finance income (credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement). 
 
The gain credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on disposal is not permitted by statute to increase the General Fund Balance 
and is required to be treated as a capital receipt.  Where a premium has been received, this is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the Capital 
Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  Where the amount due in relation to the lease is to be settled by the payment of rentals in future 
financial years, this is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  When the 
future rentals are received, the element for the capital receipt for the disposal of the asset is used to write down the lease debtor.  At this point the deferred 
capital receipts are transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve. 
 
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of non-current assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for 
capital financing.  Amounts are therefore appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. 
 

Overheads and Support Services 
The costs of overheads and support services are charged to service segments in accordance with the council’s arrangements for accountability and financial 
performance. 
 

Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 
PFI contracts are agreements to receive services, where the responsibility for making available the non-current assets needed to provide the service passes 
to the PFI contractor.  Breckland entered into a 33.5 year PFI contract for the provision of leisure management and facilities in December 2005.  Changes to 
the 2009 Statement of Recommended Practice resulted in the council re-examining its accounting treatment in the context of the International Financial 
Reporting Standards, and in particular under the interpretations from the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee and determining that the 
arrangement should be accounted for as a service concession arrangement within the scope of IFRIC 12.  
 
The annual unitary payment is split between lease payments, service & revenue expenditure and asset lifecycle costs.  The allocation of this unitary payment 
is estimated based on the terms of the payment mechanism in the PFI contract.  Therefore the annual unitary charge for each facility is allocated 50% to the 
lease payment and the remaining 50% to cover service & revenue costs and asset lifecycle costs.  The amounts are allocated between the two sites based 
on information in the operators’ model giving a split of 55% Thetford and 45% Dereham.  A mark up of 2% has been applied in order to estimate the fair value 
of the real maintenance and lifecycle services.  This mark up has been calculated as the difference between the total real costs (as per the operator model) 
and 50% of the unitary charge (in real terms). 
Property used under the PFI contract is recognised as an asset on the Balance Sheet, with a related liability also recognised.  The fair value of the PFI assets 
at completion of construction was determined in reference to the construction costs disclosed in the operators’ financial model.  The existing buildings at the 
Thetford site have been included at their net book value at the relevant date.  Where the property is enhanced by the PFI operator, the fair value of the 
enhancement is recognised in the Balance Sheet of the Council.  A day 1 revaluation gain has been recorded in relation to the District Valuer (DV) valuation 
carried out at 1 April 2007.  Assets have been split between the Thetford and Dereham sites with the split of construction costs between the two centres being 

109



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

36 
 

based on the assumption applied for unitary payments (55% Thetford and 45% Dereham).  The assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over the useful 
life of the asset as estimated by the valuer. 
 
Capital lifecycle costs are treated as a prepayment amount (allocated on a straight line basis over the contract term).  When the capital improvement works 
are undertaken by the contractor (based on their financial model) the relevant amount of the capital expenditure will then be reclassified from prepayments to 
non-current assets.  Assets are re-valued every 3 years as part of the Council’s rolling programme of valuations and the non-current asset values are updated 
as necessary (in line with the Property, Plant and Equipment Policy). 
 

Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) 
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes 
and that are expected to be used during more than one financial year are classified as property, plant and equipment. 
 
Recognition 
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) is capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is 
probable that the future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the Council and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably.  Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver future economic benefits or service potential (i.e. repairs and 
maintenance) is charged as an expense when it is incurred. 
A de-minimus level of £20,000 has been adopted for the inclusion of non-current assets in all categories with the exception of surplus land, which has no de-
minimus level, vehicles and equipment which have a de-minimus level of £10,000 and grant funding received which also has no de-minimus.   
 
Measurement 
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising; the purchase price, any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it 
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management and (if applicable) the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item 
and restoring the site on which it is located.   
 
Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases: 

 Council Offices – current value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset in its existing use (existing use value – EUV) 

 Infrastructure, community assets and assets under construction – depreciated historical cost 

 Surplus Assets – fair value, estimated at highest and best use from a market participant’s perspective 

 All Other Assets – current value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset in its existing use (existing use value – EUV) 
 
Assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued sufficiently regularly to ensure that their carrying amount is not materially different from 
their current value at the year-end, but as a minimum every five years.  In practice assets are valued within a five year rolling programme but due to the 
grouping of classes of assets they are usually valued every three years.  Valuations are in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set 
out in the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS). 
Increases in valuation are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised gains.  Exceptionally, gains might be credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement where they arise from the reversal of a valuation loss previously charged to a service. 
Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for by: 

110



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

37 
 

 Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for an asset in the revaluation reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that 
balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains). 

 Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of its formal implementation.  Gains arising before that date 
have been consolidated into the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
Impairment 
Assets are assessed each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.  Where indications exist and any possible 
differences are estimated to be material, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an 
impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall. 
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by: 

 Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for an asset in the revaluation reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that 
balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains). 

 Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement, up to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not been recognised. 
 
Depreciation 
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic allocation of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives.  An 
exception is made for assets without a determinable finite useful life (i.e. freehold land) and assets that are not yet available for use (i.e. assets under 
construction).   
Depreciation is calculated on the following bases: 

 Buildings – straight line allocation over the useful life of the property as estimated by the valuer (ranges from 4 to 55 years) 

 Car Parks – straight line allocation over the useful life of the property as estimated by the valuer (ranges from 3 to 29 years) 

 Infrastructure – straight line allocation over the useful life of the property as estimated by the valuer (20.5 to 21.5 years) 

 Vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment – straight line method using internally assessed useful economic lives (ranges from 1 to 10 years) 
Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation 
which would have been chargeable based on their historical cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment 
Account.  
 
Componentisation 

Where an item of PPE asset has major components whose cost is significant in relation to the total cost of the asset and whose useful life differs, the 
components are depreciated separately, unless the componentisation makes no material difference to the overall depreciation charge.  The following de-
minimus levels have been set for componentisation of an asset (as the values are not considered significant in relation to componentisation): 

 Assets with a total cost of £100,000 or less will not be subject to componentisation 

111



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

38 
 

 Any components with a cost of 10% or less of the total cost of the asset will not be componentised separately 
Componentisation is considered for new valuations, enhancement expenditure and acquisition expenditure carried out on or after 1

 
April 2010.  Where a 

component is replaced or restored (i.e. enhancement expenditure) the carrying amount of the old component shall be de-recognised before reflecting the 
enhancement. 
The Council recognises the following levels of components: 

 Substructure 

 Superstructure 

 Internal services 

 External works 
Componentisation is not applicable to land as land is non-depreciable and is considered to have an infinite life. 
 
Disposals and Non-Current Assets Held for Sale 
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, 
it is reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale.  The asset is revalued immediately before reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount and fair 
value less costs to sell.  Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the loss is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  Gains in fair value are recognised only up to the amount of any previous losses recognised in the 
Surplus or Deficit in the Provision of Services.  Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale. 
If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are reclassified back to non-current assets and valued at the lower of their 
carrying amount before they were classified as held for sale; adjusted for depreciation or revaluations that would have been recognised had they not been 
classified as Assets Held for Sale, and their recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell. 
 
When an asset is disposed of or de-commissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet (whether PPE or Assets Held for Sale) is written off 
to Other Operating Expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. Any receipts from the 
disposal are credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off 
against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal).  Any revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to 
the Capital Adjustment Account.   
 
Amounts received for disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts, receipts below this amount are classed as revenue income.  The 
written-off value of disposals is not a charge against Council Tax, as the cost of non-current assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for 
capital financing.  Amounts are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Depreciation, impairment losses and revaluations are not permitted to have an impact on the General Fund Balance, they are therefore reversed out of the 
General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
 
 
 

112



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

39 
 

Provisions and Contingent Assets/Liabilities 
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Council an obligation that will probably require settlement by a transfer of economic 
benefits or service potential and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation, but where the timing of the transfer is uncertain. 
 
Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year that the Council 
becomes aware of the obligation, based on the best estimate at the Balance Sheet date of the likely settlement. When payments are eventually made, they 
are charged to the provision carried in the Balance Sheet.  Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year – where it becomes less than 
probable that a settlement is required (or a lower settlement than estimated is made) the provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant service. 
 
In the event that a possible liability (or asset) arises which may require settlement by a transfer of economic benefits, but the timing and amount of the 
transfer is uncertain and the obligation will only be confirmed by occurrence or otherwise of a future event, then this will not be recognised in the Balance 
Sheet, but will be shown in a note to the accounts as a contingent asset or liability. 
 

Reserves 
The Council sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover contingencies. Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out 
of the General Fund Balance. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the appropriate service in the year and is therefore 
included in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is then appropriated 
back into the General Fund Balance so that there is no net charge against council tax for the expenditure. 
 
Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, financial instruments and retirement and employee benefits and do not 
represent usable resources for the Council. 
 

Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute 
Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but does not result in the creation of a non-current asset has been 
charged as expenditure to the relevant service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year.  Where the Council has determined to 
meet the cost of this expenditure from existing capital resources or by borrowing, a transfer in the Movement of Reserves Statement from the General Fund 
balance to the Capital Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts charged so there is no impact on the level of council tax. 
 

VAT 
VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs.  VAT receivable is excluded 
from income. 
 

  

113



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

40 
 

Note 2 – Note to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis 

  
 

Adjust-
ments for 

Capital 
Purposes 

Net 
change 
for the 

Pensions 
Adjust-

ment 

 
 
 

Other 
Differen-

ces 

 
 
 

Total 
Adjust-
ments 

 
 

Adjust-
ments for 

Capital 
Purposes 

Net 
change 
for the 

Pensions 
Adjust-

ment 

 
 
 

Other 
Differen-

ces 

 
 
 

Total 
Adjust-
ments 

 2018-19 
£’000 

2018-19 
£’000 

2018-19 
£’000 

2018-19 
£’000 

2017-18 
£’000 

2017-18 
£’000 

2017-18 
£’000 

2017-18 
£’000 

Growth & Commercialisation Directorate (2,588) 383 4,418 2,213 762 435 3,783 4,980 
Place Directorate 1,115 161 (8) 1,268 707 130 (1) 836 
Strategy & Governance Directorate 435 758 (30) 1,163 310 210 4 524 
Housing Benefit - - (43) (43) - - - - 

Net Cost of Services (1,038) 1,302 4,337 4,601 1,779 775 3,786 6,340 

Other Income & Expenditure from the Funding 
Analysis 

1,038 (1,302) (4,793) (5,057) (1,779) (775) (2,290) (4,844) 

Difference Between General Fund 
Surplus/Deficit and Comprehensive Income & 
Expenditure Statement Surplus/Deficit 

- - (456) (456) - - 1,496 1,496 

 

Adjustments for Capital Purposes – this column adds in depreciation, impairment, capital grants, and revaluation gains/losses in the service lines, and for; 
Other Operating Expenditure – adjusts for capital disposals with a transfer of income on disposal of assets and the amounts written off for those assets; 
Financing & Investment Income & Expenditure – the statutory charges for capital financing and other revenue contributions are deducted from other income 
and expenditure as these are not chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices; and Taxation & Non Specific Grant Income and Expenditure – 
capital grants are adjusted for income chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices.  Revenue grants are adjusted from those receivable in the 
year to those receivable without conditions or for which conditions were satisfied throughout the year.  The Taxation & Non Specific Grant Income and 
Expenditure line is credited with capital grants receivable in the year without conditions or for which conditions were satisfied in the year. 
 
Net Change for Pensions Adjustments – this column is the net change for the removal of pension contributions and the addition of IAS19 Employee 
Benefits pension related expenditure and income.  For services this represents the removal of the employer pension contributions made by the authority as 
allowed by statute and the replacement with current service costs and past service costs.  For Financing & Investment Income & Expenditure the net interest 
on the defined benefit liability is charged to the CIES. 
 
Other Differences – Other statutory adjustments between amounts debited/credited to the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement and amounts 
payable/receivable to be recognised under statute.  For taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure the other differences column represents the 
difference between what is chargeable under statutory regulations for council tax and NDR that was projected to be received at the start of the year and the 

114



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

41 
 

income recognised under generally accepted accounting practices in the Code.  This is a timing difference as any difference will be bought forward in future 
surpluses or deficits in the collection fund.  Other non-statutory adjustments for amounts debited or credited to service segments which need to be adjusted 
against the ‘Other income and expenditure from the Expenditure and Funding Analysis’ line to comply with the presentational requirements in the 
Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement.  For Other Operating Expenditure the other differences column recognises adjustments levies and internal 
recharges.  For Financing & Investment Income & Expenditure the other differences column recognises adjustments for interest payable/receivable, levies, 
bad debt impairment allowances and internal recharges relating to Commercial Property Trading Account.  For Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and 
Expenditure the other differences column recognises adjustments to service segments eg. for un-ring fenced government grants. 
 

Note 3 – Segmental Income 
Income received on a segmental basis is analysed below: 
 2018-19 2017-18 
 Income from Services Income from Services 
 £’000 £’000 

Revenues from external customers (10,908) (11,094) 
Other income (41,950) (40,904) 

Total Income Analysed on a Segmental Basis (52,858) (51,998) 

 

Note 4 – Expenditure & Income Analysed by Nature 
The Council’s expenditure & income is analysed as follows: 
 2018-19 2017-18 
 £’000 £’000 

Employee Benefit Expenses 11,271 10,168 
Other Service Expenses 18,938 21,614 
Housing Benefit 29,668 31,485 
Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairment 521 3,273 
Precepts & Levies 3,870 3,602 
Pensions Interest Cost 3,022 2,886 
Non-Domestic Rates (Tariff, levy) 9,865 9,088 

Total Expenditure 77,155 82,116 

Fees, Charges & Other Service Income (15,668) (17,566) 
Housing Benefit (29,735) (31,555) 
Interest & Investment Income (847) (894) 
Pensions Return on Assets (1,881) (1,766) 
Income from Council Tax & Non-Domestic Rates (22,686) (20,747) 
Government Grants & Contributions (7,544) (8,137) 

Total Income (78,361) (80,665) 

 (1,206) 1,451 

115



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

42 
 

Note 5 – Movement in Reserves Statement - Adjustments between Accounting Basis & Funding Basis under Regulations 

This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income and expenditure recognised by the Council in the year in accordance with 
proper accounting practice, to the resources that are specified by statutory provisions as being available to the Council to meet future revenue and capital 
expenditure.  The following sets out a description of the reserves that the adjustments are made against. 
 
General Fund Balance – This is the statutory fund into which all the receipts and liabilities of the Council are required to be paid or met, except to the extent 
that statutory rules may provide otherwise.  These rules can also specify the financial year in which liabilities and payments should impact the General Fund 
balance, which is not necessarily in accordance with proper accounting practice. 
 
Capital Receipts Reserve – This holds the proceeds from the disposal of assets, which are restricted by statute from being used other than to fund new 
capital expenditure.  
 
Capital Grants Un-applied – This holds grants and contributions received towards capital projects for which the Council has met the conditions that would 
otherwise require repayment of the monies which have yet to be applied to meet expenditure. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

116



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

43 
 

 
 

General 
Fund & 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

Balance 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve 

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied 

 General 
Fund & 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

Balance 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve 

 
 

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied 

 2018-19  2017-18 
 £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 

Adjustments to Revenue Resources        
Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement are different from revenue for the year 
calculated in accordance with statutory requirements 
Pensions costs (transferred to/from the pensions reserve) 2,443 - -  1,895 - - 
Council Tax and NNDR (transfers to/from the Collection fund Acc.) 1,667 - -  (1,156) - - 
Holiday Pay (transferred to/from the Accumulated Absences Acc.) (67) - -  4 - - 
Reversal of entries included in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 
of Services in relation to capital revaluation (gains)/losses on PPE & 
movements in the value of Investment Properties 

 
 

(2,453) 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

  
 

1,055 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 
Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 1,673 - -  1,036 - - 
Depreciation & Amortisation 1,301 - -  1,157 - - 
Capital grants & contributions (1,771) - -  (1,244) - - 
Reversal of entries included in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 
of Services in relation to capital expenditure (these items are 
charged to the Capital Adjustment Account) 

 
 

(953) 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

  
 

(792) 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

Total Adjustments to Revenue Resources 1,840 - -  1,955 - - 

Adjustments between Capital and Revenue Resources        
Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (2,227) - -  (34) - - 

Total Adjustments between Capital and Revenue Resources (2,227) - -  (34) - - 

Adjustments to Capital Resources        
Use of capital receipts reserve to finance capital expenditure - (24) -  - 25 - 
Allocation of capital grants to finance capital expenditure 41 - (41)  (251) - 251 
Cash payments in relation to deferred capital receipts (110) - -  (174) - - 

Total Adjustments to Capital Resources (69) (24) (41)  (425) 25 251 

        

Total Adjustments (456) (24) (41)  1,496 25 251 

 

117



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

44 
 

Note 6 – Movement in Reserves Statement – Transfers (to)/from Earmarked Reserves 
  

This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund in earmarked reserves to provide financing for future expenditure plans and amounts posted 
back from earmarked reserves to meet General Fund expenditure.  Note 17 provides details on the movements in the capital receipts reserve and capital 
grants un-applied. 
 

 01.04.2017 
Receipts 
2017-18 

Payments 
2017-18 

Transfers 
2017-18 

 
31.03.2018 

Receipts 
2018-19 

Payments 
2018-19 

Transfers 
2018-19 31.03.2019 

 £’000   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000   

  
    

    

General Fund (2,851) - 182 - (2,669) - 169 - (2,500) 

          

Earmarked Reserves:          

PFI (35) - - - (35) (48) 48 - (35) 

Commercial Property (536) (85) 145 - (476) (85) 68 9 (484) 

Insurance (41) (5) 3 - (43) (5) 7 - (41) 

Match Funding  (1,328) - 109 723 (496) - 150 4 (342) 

Organisational Developments (4,605) (346) 1,750 655 (2,546) (590) 1,270 (150) (2,016) 

Waste and Recycling - (100) - - (100) - - - (100) 

Revenue Grants Rec’d in Advance (1,250) (844) 474 25 (1,595) (585) 402 12 (1,766) 

LABGI (18) - 1 - (17) - - - (17) 

John Room House Major Repairs (43) (8) 6 - (45) (7) 28 - (24) 

LDF Reserve (56) - - - (56) - - - (56) 

Council Tax & Business Rates (1,841) - - 80 (1,761) (990) - - (2,751) 

Inclusive Growth (1,441) - 6 (63) (1,498) (1,786) 186 125 (2,973) 

Growth Reserve (925) - - 925 - - - - - 

Growth & Investment Reserve (2,488) (1,377) 44 (2,345) (6,166) (1,659) 2,677 - (5,148) 

Total Earmarked Reserves (14,607) (2,765) 2,538 - (14,834) (5,755) 4,836 - (15,753) 

 
PFI – Used to finance costs for the leisure PFI project. 
 
Commercial Property – This reserve represents the balance from tenants for major repairs such as roof & asphalt. 
 
Insurance – To cover for items not specifically insured and to cover higher excesses for low area claims.  Reserve levels maintained to reflect claims history. 
 

118



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

45 
 

Match Funding – Established to provide funds for projects brought to the Council with requests for match funding.  
 
Organisational Developments – This reserve is used to fund the progression of one-off projects within the services or invest to save items. 
 
Waste and Recycling – This reserve was set up to smooth the effects of changes in contract prices for the waste and recycling function. 
 
Revenue Grants Received in advance – This reserve was set up to earmark grants where conditions have been satisfied, but the grant will not be spent 
until a later financial year.   
 
LABGI Reserve – The Local Authority Business Growth Incentive (LABGI) Scheme was introduced in 2005-2006. Grants received from Central Government 
are used to fund schemes that encourage business growth and development throughout the district. 
 
John Room House Hostel Major Repairs Reserve – This reserve was set up to smooth the effect of cyclical major repairs carried out at the Hostel. 
 
LDF Reserve – This reserve is for spend relating to the Local Delivery Framework (LDF). 
 
Council Tax & Business Rates Reserve – This reserve was set up to manage the timings of cost pressures and un-foreseen reductions in NDR income 
resulting from the Government changes from localisation of Council Tax support and the retention of Business Rates. 
 
Inclusive Growth Reserve – This reserve was set up to fund community based projects such as Breckland Pride (previously names ‘Community Projects’. 
 
Growth Reserve – This reserve was merged with the investment reserve during 2017-18 to create the growth & investment reserve. 
 
Growth and Investment Reserve – This reserve holds funds earmarked for investment in assets which generate an ongoing revenue return or investment in 
projects which deliver economic or housing growth in the area. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

119



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

46 
 

Note 7 – Pensions  

As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its staff, Breckland offers retirement benefits through the Norfolk Pension Fund. Although these benefits 
will not actually be payable until employees retire, the Council has a commitment to make the payments and to disclose them at the time that the employees 
earn their future entitlement. The Council participates in the Norfolk Pension Fund, administered by Norfolk County Council. This is a funded defined benefit 
final salary scheme, meaning that the Council and employees pay contributions into a fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pension liabilities 
with investment assets. 
 
Transactions Relating to Post-employment Benefits 
We recognise the cost of retirement benefits in the reported cost of services when they are earned by the employees, rather than when the benefits are 
eventually paid as pensions. However, the charge we are required to make against council tax is based on the cash payable in the year, so the real cost of 
post employment/retirement benefits is reversed out of the General Fund via the Movement in Reserves Statement.  The following transactions have been 
made in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the General  
Fund balance via the Movement in Reserves Statement during the year: 
 

 2018-19 2017-18 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement £'000   £'000   

Cost of services   

Service cost comprising:   

 Current service cost 2,908 2,721 

 Past service costs 566 17 

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure   

Net interest expense 1,141 1,120 

Total post-employment benefits charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 4,615 3,858 

Other post-employment benefits charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement   

Remeasurement of the net defined liability comprising:   

 Return on plan assets (excluding the amount included in the net interest expense) (1,954) (922) 

 Actuarial (gains) and losses arising on changes in financial assumptions 8,980 (2,061) 

 Other (gains) and losses 99 (33) 

Total post-employment benefits charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 7,125 (3,016) 

Movement in Reserves Statement   
Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services for post-
employment benefits in accordance with the Code (2,443) (1,895) 

Actual amount charged against the General Fund Balance for pensions in the year:   

Employers’ contributions payable to scheme 2,172 1,963 

120



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

47 
 

 
Pensions Assets and Liabilities Recognised in the Balance Sheet 
The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the Council’s obligation in respect of its defined benefit plans is as follows: 

 2018-19 2017-18 

 £'000   £'000   

Present value of the defined benefit obligation (124,359) (111,720) 

Fair value of plan assets 73,182 70,111 

Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation (51,177) (41,609) 

 
Reconciliation of the Movements in the Fair Value of the Scheme Assets 

 2018-19 2017-18 

 £'000   £'000   

Opening fair value of scheme assets 70,111 68,501 

Interest income 1,881 1,766 

Remeasurement gain/(loss)   

 The return on plan assets (excluding amount  included in the net interest expense) 1,954 922 

 Contributions from employer 2,172 1,963 

 Contributions from employees into the scheme 532 478 

 Benefits paid (3,468) (3,519) 

Closing fair value of scheme assets 73,182 70,111 

 
 
Reconciliation of Present Value of the Scheme Liabilities 

 2018-19 2017-18 

 £'000   £'000   

1
st
 April (111,720) (111,231) 

Current service cost (2,908) (2,721) 

Interest cost (3,022) (2,886) 

Contributions from scheme participants (532) (478) 

Remeasurement gain/(loss)   

Actuarial gains/(losses) arising from changes in financial assumptions (8,980) 2,061 

Other gains/(losses) (99) 33 

Past service cost (566) (17) 

Benefits paid 3,468 3,519 

31
st
 March (124,359) (111,720) 

121



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

48 
 

   

 2018-19 2017-18 
Local Government Pension Scheme 
Assets Comprised: 
 

Quoted prices 
in active 
markets 

Quoted prices 
not in active 

markets Total 

% of 
Total 

Assets 

Quoted prices 
in active 
markets 

Quoted prices 
not in active 

markets Total 

% of 
Total 

Assets 

 £'000   £'000   £'000   %   £'000   £'000   £'000   %   

Cash and cash equivalents - 1,827 1,827 2 - 2,613 2,613 4 

Equity securities:         

 Consumer 4,536 - 4,536 6 4,610 - 4,610 6 

 Manufacturing 3,748 - 3,748 5 3,932 - 3,932 6 

 Energy and utilities 1,638 - 1,638 2 1,251 - 1,251 2 

 Financial institutions 3,968 - 3,968 6 3,911 - 3,911 6 

 Health and care 1,761 - 1,761 2 1,285 - 1,285 2 

 Information technology 3,581 - 3,581 5 2,198 - 2,198 3 

 Other 2 - 2 - - - - - 

Sub total Equity Securities 19,234 - 19,234 26 17,187 - 17,187 25 

Debt Securities:         

 UK Government 839 - 839 1 1,055 - 1,055 2 

Sub total Debt Securities 839 - 839 1 1,055 - 1,055 2 

Real Estate:         

 UK Property - 7,244 7,244 10 - 6,150 6,150 9 

 Overseas Property - 1,398 1,398 2 - 1,008 1,008 1 

Sub total Real Estate - 8,642 8,642 12 - 7,158 7,158 10 

Private Equity:         

All Private Equity - 4,518 4,518 6 - 3,873 3,873 6 

Other investment funds and unit trusts:         

 Equities 12,593 - 12,593 17 18,770 - 18,770 27 

 Bonds 25,340 - 25,340 36 19,401 - 19,401 26 

Sub total investment funds & unit trusts 37,933 - 37,933 53 38,171 - 38,171 53 

Derivatives:         

All Derivatives 189 - 189 - 54 - 54 - 

         

Total Assets 58,195 14,987 73,182 100 56,467 13,644 70,111 100 

 

122



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

49 
 

Basis for estimating assets and liabilities 
Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method, an estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years 
dependent on assumptions about mortality rates, salary levels, etc.  The Norfolk Pension fund liabilities have been assessed by Hymans Robertson, an 
independent firm of actuaries, estimates for the Norfolk Pension Fund being based on the latest full valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2016. 
 
The principal assumptions used by the actuary have been: 2018-19 2017-18 
Mortality assumptions:   
Longevity at 65 for current pensioners - men 22.1 years 22.1 years 
Longevity at 65 for current pensioners - women 24.4 years 24.4 years 
Longevity at 65 for future pensioners - men 24.1 years 24.1 years 
Longevity at 65 for future pensioners - women 26.4 years 26.4 years 
Retail Price Inflation (RPI) 3.4% 3.4% 
Rate of increase in salaries 2.8% 2.7% 
Rate of increase in pensions 2.5% 2.4% 
Rate for discounting scheme liabilities 2.4% 2.7% 
 
Sensitivity Analysis 
The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set out in the table above.  The sensitivity analyses below have 
been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period and assumes for each change that 
the assumption analysed changes while all the other assumptions remain constant.  The assumptions in longevity, for example, assume that life expectancy 
increases or decreases for men and women.  In practice, this is unlikely to occur and changes in some of the assumptions may be interrelated.  The 
estimations in the sensitivity analysis have followed the accounting policies for the scheme, ie. on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method.  The 
methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis below did not change from those used in the previous period. 
 
Impact on the Defined Benefit Obligation in the Scheme 
 

Approximate % increase 
to employer liability 

Approximate 
monetary amount 

 % £’000 
0.5% decrease in Real Discount Rate 10 12,484 
1 year increase in member life expectancy 3 to 5 Varies 
0.5% increase in the Salary Increase Rate 1 1,378 
0.5% increase in the Pension Increase Rate 9 10,927 
 
Impact on the Council’s Cash Flows.  The contributions paid by the employer are set by the fund Actuary at each triennial valuation (the most recent being 31 
March 2016).  The next triennial valuation is due to be completed on 31 March 2019.   The Council anticipates to pay £2,175k expected contributions to the 
scheme in 2019-20.  The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation for scheme members is 17.1 years 2018-19 (17.1 years 2017-18). 
 
Further information can be found in Norfolk Pension Fund’s Annual Report, which is available on request from: Department of Finance & Information, 

Norfolk County Council, County Hall, Martineau Lane, Norwich NR1 2DW.   

123



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

50 
 

Note 8 – Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) 

  
 

Other 
Land and 
Buildings 

Vehicles, 
Plant, 

Furniture 
& 

Equipment 

 
 

Infra- 
structure 

Assets 

 
 
 

Community 
Assets 

 
 
 

Surplus 
Assets 

Assets 
Under 

Constr- 
uction/ 

WIP 

 
 
 

Total 
PPE 

 
PFI 

Assets 
Included 

in PPE 
Cost or Valuation £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

At 1 April 2018 26,243 3,232 1,110 328 6,732 216 37,861 14,671 
Additions 786 217 - - 58 113 1,174 722 
Donations - - - - 170 - 170 - 
Revaluation increases/(decreases) recognised in 
Revaluation Reserve 

 
(225) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
3 

 
1,299 

 
- 

 
1,077 

 
(389) 

Revaluation increases/(decreases) recognised in 
Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services 

 
(317) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(107) 

 
268 

 
- 

 
(156) 

 
(333) 

Impairment losses/(reversals) recognised in 
Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services 

 
1 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
1 

 
- 

Derecognition – Disposals - (416) - - - - (416) - 
Assets reclassified (to)/from Investment assets - - - - (50) - (50) - 
Assets reclassified (to)/from Assets Held for Sale - - - - (372) - (372) - 
Additions – Transferred from WIP 216 - - - - (216) - (77) 

At 31 March 2019 26,704 3,033 1,110 224 8,105 113 39,289 14,594 

Accumulated Depreciation         
At 1 April 2018 (198) (2,545) (4) - (10) - (2,757) - 
Depreciation charge 2018-19 (697) (343) (1) - (38) - (1,079) (431) 
Depreciation Written out to Revaluation Reserve 656 - - - 17 - 673 370 
Depreciation Written out to the Surplus/Deficit on 
Provision of Services 

 
86 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
86 

 
61 

Derecognition – Disposals - 416 - - - - 416 - 

At 31 March 2019 (153) (2,472) (5) - (31) - (2,661) - 

Net Book Value at 31 March 2018 26,045 687 1,106 328 6,722 216 35,104 14,671 

Net Book Value at 31 March 2019 26,551 561 1,105 224 8,074 113 36,628 14,594 

 
 
 
 
 
 

        

124



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

51 
 

  
 

Other 
Land and 
Buildings 

Vehicles, 
Plant, 

Furniture 
& 

Equipment 

 
 

Infra- 
structure 

Assets 

 
 
 

Community 
Assets 

 
 
 

Surplus 
Assets 

Assets 
Under 

Constr- 
uction/ 

WIP 

 
 
 

Total 
PPE 

 
PFI 

Assets 
Included 

in PPE 
Cost or Valuation £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

At 1 April 2017 26,312 2,953 1,110 333 8,397 186 39,291 14,594 
Additions 251 347 - - 384 220 1,202 77 
Revaluation increases/(decreases) recognised in 
Revaluation Reserve 

(288) - - 2 546 - 260 - 

Revaluation increases/(decreases) recognised in 
Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services 

(207) - - (7) (2,520) - (2,734) - 

Derecognition – Disposals - (68) - - (65) - (133) - 
Assets reclassified (to)/from Intangible - - - - - (15) (15) - 
Assets reclassified (to)/from Assets Held for Sale - - - - (10) - (10) - 
Additions – Transferred from WIP 175 - - - - (175) - - 

At 31 March 2018 26,243 3,232 1,110 328 6,732 216 37,861 14,671 

Accumulated Depreciation         
At 1 April 2017 - (2,386) (2) - (5) - (2,393) - 
Depreciation charge 2017-18 (658) (227) (2) - (20) - (907) - 
Depreciation Written out to Revaluation Reserve 403 - - - 15 - 418 - 
Depreciation Written out to the Surplus/Deficit on 
Provision of Services 

57 - - - - - 57 - 

Depreciation Written back on Disposal - 68 - - - - 68 - 

At 31 March 2018 (198) (2,545) (4) - (10) - (2,757) - 

Net Book Value at 31 March 2017 26,312 567 1,108 333 8,392 186 36,898 14,594 

Net Book Value at 31 March 2018 26,045 687 1,106 328 6,722 216 35,104 14,671 

 
Depreciation 
The useful lives and depreciation rates used in the calculation of depreciation are detailed in the accounting policies at note 1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

125



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

52 
 

Revaluations 
The asset values shown for 2018-19 are as at 31 March 2019 to reflect material changes during the year within the asset.  Asset values in previous years are 
shown as at 1st April 2018, 2017, 2016, 2015 and 2014.  The Council has introduced a rolling programme of revaluations and assets are subject to a five-
year review as a minimum.  The valuations were undertaken in accordance with the Statements of Asset Valuation Practice and Guidance Notes ('The Red 
Book') prepared by the Assets Valuation Standards Committee of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and in accordance with the recommendations 
made by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. The bases for the valuation for each category of non-current assets are set out in the 
Statement of Accounting Policies at note 1.  
 
The valuations were prepared by the District Valuer [ARICS], Valuation Office, Rosebery Court, Central Avenue, St Andrew’s Business Park, Norwich NR7 
0HS. 
  

Other Land 
& Buildings 

Vehicles, Plant, 
Furniture & 
Equipment 

 
Infrastructure 

Assets 

 
Community 

Assets 

 
Surplus 
Assets 

 
Works in 
Progress 

 
 

Total 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Carried at Historical Cost - 3,033 1,110 - - 113 4,256 
Valued at fair value in:        
2018-2019 461 - - (104) 1,373 - 1,730 
2017-2018 2,827 - - 328 3,522 - 6,677 
2016-2017 23,416 - - - 3,210 - 26,626 

Total 26,704 3,033 1,110 224 8,105 113 39,289 

 
Capital Commitments 
At 31 March 2019, the Council has entered into a number of contracts for the construction or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment in 2019-20 and 
future years.  The major commitments are: 
  

Expenditure Approved 
& Contracted 

Expenditure 
Approved but not 

Contracted 
 £’000 £’000 
At 31 March 2019 189 416 
At 31 March 2018 17 1,851 
 
There have been no major changes in estimates during 2018-19. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

126



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

53 
 

Fair Value Hierarchy 
Details of the Council’s surplus assets and information about the fair value hierarchy are as follows: 
 
 
2018-19 

 
Quoted Prices in 

active markets for 
identical assets 

(level 1) 

 
Other 

significant 
observable 

inputs (level 2) 

 
 

Significant un-
observable 

inputs (level 3) 

 
 

Fair Value 
as at 

31.03.2019 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Recurring Fair Value Measurements     
Land - 5,918 - 5,918 
Property - 1,694 - 1,694 
Shared Equity Housing - 462 - 462 

Total - 8,074 - 8,074 

 
There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during 2018-19. 
 
 
2017-18 

 
Quoted Prices in 

active markets for 
identical assets 

(level 1) 

 
Other 

significant 
observable 

inputs (level 2) 

 
 

Significant un-
observable 

inputs (level 3) 

 
 

Fair Value 
as at 

31.03.2018 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Recurring Fair Value Measurements     
Land - 5,296 - 5,296 
Property - 1,165 - 1,165 
Shared Equity Housing - 261 - 261 

Total - 6,722 - 6,722 

 
There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during 2017-18. 
 
Valuation Techniques Used to Determine Fair Values for Surplus Assets 
Significant Observable Inputs – level 2 
The valuation technique applied was the market approach.  This uses prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving 
identical or comparable (i.e. similar) assets.  The inputs to this technique are inputs that are observable for the asset either directly or indirectly.  The inputs 
took the form of analysed and weighted market evidence such as sales, rentals and yields in respect of comparable properties in the same or similar locations 
at or around the valuation date. 
 
There has been no change in the valuation techniques used during the year for surplus assets. 
 

127



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

54 
 

Highest and Best Use of Surplus Assets 
In estimating the fair value of the Council’s surplus assets, the highest and best use of the assets is their current use. 
 
Valuation Process for surplus Assets 
The fair value of the Council’s surplus assets is measured on a cyclical basis (at least once every five years).  All valuations are carried out by the District 
Valuer (DV) in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set out in the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors.  Finance officers work closely with the DV regarding all valuation matters. 
 

Note 9 – Investment Property 

Details of the items of income and expense which have been accounted for in the Surplus/Deficit on trading undertakings not included in Cost of Services line 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement can be found in the Commercial Property Trading Account Statement on pages 79-80. 
 
There are no restrictions on the Council’s ability to realise the value inherent in its investment property or on the Council’s right to the remittance of income 
and the proceeds of disposal.  The Council has no contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment property or repairs, maintenance or 
enhancement. 
 
The following table summarises the movement in the fair value of investment properties over the year: 
 
  2018-19 2017-18 
  £’000 £’000 

Balance at 1 April 26,393 24,611 
Additions:- Purchases 2,137 - 
 Subsequent Expenditure 47 201 
Disposals  - (30) 
Net gains/(losses) from fair value adjustments 2,522 1,611 
Transfers(to)/from Property Plant & Equipment 50 - 

Balance at 31 March 31,149 26,393 

 

Capital Commitments 
At 31 March 2019, the Council has entered into a number of contracts for the construction or enhancement of Investment Property in 2019-20 and future 
years.  The major commitments are: 
 2018-19 2017-18 
 £’000 £’000 
Repairs, maintenance or enhancement 36 - 
 
 
 

128



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

55 
 

Fair Value Hierarchy 
Details of the Council’s investment property and information about the fair value hierarchy are as follows: 
 
 
 
2018-19 

Quoted Prices in 
active markets for 

identical assets 
(level 1) 

Other 
significant 
observable 

inputs (level 2) 

 
Significant un-

observable 
inputs (level 3) 

 
Fair Value 

as at 
31.03.2019 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Recurring Fair Value Measurements     
Industrial Property - 22,648 - 22,648 
Land lease - 1,606 - 1,606 
Retail Units - 6,595 - 6,595 
Other - 300 - 300 

Total - 31,149 - 31,149 

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during 2018-19. 
 
 
 
2017-18 

Quoted Prices in 
active markets for 

identical assets 
(level 1) 

Other 
significant 
observable 

inputs (level 2) 

 
Significant un-

observable 
inputs (level 3) 

 
Fair Value 

as at 
31.03.2018 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Recurring Fair Value Measurements     
Industrial Property - 17,890 - 17,890 
Land lease - 1,503 - 1,503 
Retail Units - 6,700 - 6,700 
Other - 300 - 300 

Total - 26,393 - 26,393 

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during 2017-18. 
 
Valuation Techniques Used to Determine Fair Values for Investment Property 
Significant Observable Inputs – level 2 
The valuation technique applied was the market approach.  This uses prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving 
identical or comparable (i.e. similar) assets.  The inputs to this technique are inputs that are observable for the asset either directly or indirectly.  The inputs 
took the form of analysed and weighted market evidence such as sales, rentals and yields in respect of comparable properties in the same or similar locations 
at or around the valuation date. 
 
There has been no change in the valuation techniques used during the year for investment property. 
 

129



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

56 
 

Highest and Best Use of Investment Property 
In estimating the fair value of the Council’s investment property, the highest and best use of the assets is their current use. 
 
Valuation Process for Investment Property 
The fair value of the Council’s investment property is measured annually at each reporting date.  All valuations are carried out by the District Valuer (DV) in 
accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set out in the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.  Finance 
officers work closely with the DV regarding all valuation matters. 
 

Note 10 – Long Term Debtors  

Amounts falling due in more than one year 
 31.03.2019 31.03.2018 
 £’000 £’000 
Housing Benefits Overpayments 1,161 1,257 
Loans to other organisations 444 407 
Long term sundry debtors 219 201 
PFI Capital Lifecycle Prepayment 860 1,217 
Finance leases 9,803 9,832 
Officers assisted car purchase 32 35 

Total 12,519 12,949 

 

Note 11 – Short Term Investments  

These are surplus funds invested in approved investment instruments that mature within the coming twelve months. 
 2018-19  2017-18  
 
Investment Institution 

Amount Invested 
£’000 

 
Rate 

Amount Invested 
£’000 

 
Rate 

Short term element of Icelandic investments 10 Various 40 Various 
Lloyds 5,031 1.00-1.05% 3,008 0.65-0.90% 
Standard Charter 1,002 1.03% 2,004 0.45% 
Royal Bank of Scotland - - 5,021 0.56-0.70% 
Sumitomo 3,010 0.83-0.96% 2,002 0.47% 
Coventry 2,008 0.82% - - 
National Westminster Bank 5,020 1.04-1.13% - - 
National Bank Canada 2,006 0.90% - - 
Thurrock Council 2,002 1.01% - - 
Goldman Sachs - - 5,017 0.72-0.73% 

Total 20,089  17,092  

130



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

57 
 

Note 12 – Short Term Debtors  

Amounts falling due in one year 
 31.03.2019 31.03.2018 

(restated) 
 £’000 £’000 
Council Tax & NNDR (incl preceptors) 2,766 1,444 
DWP Subsidy - 759 
Trade Debtors 1,322 1,565 
Loans to other companies - 564 
Other 2,899 2,223 

Total 6,987 6,555 

 
Elements of the ‘other’ figure of £2,899k are included within the Financial Instruments note (excluding prepayments and finance leases). 
 

Note 13 – Cash and Cash Equivalents  

The balance of Cash and Cash Equivalents is made up of the following elements: 
 31.03.2019 31.03.2018 
 £’000 £’000 
Bank current accounts 1,320 1,119 
Short term deposits 3,290 6,875 

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,610 7,994 

 

Note 14 – Short Term Creditors  

Amounts falling due in one year 
 31.03.2019 31.03.2018 

(Restated) 
 £’000 £’000 
Rent deposits (768) (702) 
Council Tax & NNDR (incl preceptors) (1,907) (2,607) 
Sundry Creditors (incl purchase orders) (1,508) (1,748) 
DWP Subsidy (895) - 
Other (2,562) (2,947) 

Total (7,640) (8,004) 

 
Elements of the ‘other’ figure of £2,562k are included within the Financial Instruments note within trade creditors (excluding prepayments and accumulated 
absences) and the PFI note within the PFI liability. 

131



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

58 
 

Note 15 – Provisions  

 Outstanding 
Legal Cases 

Compensation 
Claims 

 
Other 

 
NNDR 

 
Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Balance at 31 March 2018 (55) (78) (170) (621) (924) 

Additional provisions made in 2018-19 - - - (1,443) (1,443) 
Amounts used in 2018-19 10 1 123 187 321 
Unused amounts reversed in 2018-19 - - - - - 

Balance at 31 March 2019 (45) (77) (47) (1,877) (2,046) 

 
Outstanding legal cases – In 2018-19 costs for planning cases have totalled £10k, leaving £45k for expected future costs.  
 
Compensation claims – this provision for compensatable interests is expected to be paid in full imminently. 
 
Other – A service review in 2017-18 resulted in redundancy costs of £51k in 2018-19 with a balance of £21k that will fall due in 2019-20.  In 2018-19 a 
payment has been made for £72k to HMRC for tax and national insurance owed in respect of mileage claims by shared managers from their permanent place 
of work.  The remaining balance of £26k is a provision for penalties and interest relating to this and is expected to be paid in 2019-20. 
 
NNDR – The Council’s share of provisions relating to NNDR appeals against the Rateable Value set by the Valuation Office totals £1,877k for claims 
outstanding and expected as at 31 March 2019. 
 

Note 16 – Grant Income 

The Council credited the following grants, contributions and donations to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in 2018-19: 
 
 2018-19 2017-18 
 £’000 £’000 
Credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income   
  New Homes Bonus (2,396) (2,730) 
  NNDR Section 31 Grants (1,796) (1,485) 
  Rural Services Delivery Grant (472) (378) 

Total (4,664) (4,593) 

 
 
 
 
 

  

132



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

59 
 

 2018-19 2017-18 
 £’000 £’000 
Credited to Services:   
  Ministry for Housing, Communities & Local Gov’t  (1,288) (1,381) 
  Cabinet Office (16) (21) 
  Department for Works & Pensions (DWP) (29,806) (31,993) 
  Arts Council (10) (74) 
  Norfolk County Council (1,406) (950) 
  Other Local Authorities - (453) 
  S106 Agreements (154) (352) 
  Local Enterprise Partnership (165) - 
  Norfolk Business Rates Pool (100) - 
  Other Grants (26) (1) 

Total (32,971) (35,225) 

   
Capital Grants Receipts in Advance   
  S106 Agreements (296) (406) 

Total (296) (406) 

 
The following table details the movements in the Capital Grants Receipts in Advance held on the Balance Sheet.  These are grants and contributions that 
have yet to be recognised as income as they have conditions attached to them. 
 2018-19 2017-18 
 £’000 £’000 
  Balance at 1 April (1,239) (877) 
  Receipts (297) (406) 
  Payments 149 35 
  Transfers 10 9 

Balance at 31 March (1,377) (1,239) 

 
The table below details the grants and contributions that make up the balance as at 31 March. 
 2018-19 2017-18 
 £’000 £’000 
Open Spaces (646) (736) 
Commuted Sums (120) (120) 
Affordable Housing (576) (383) 
Healthcare (35) - 

Balance at 31 March (1,377) (1,239) 

 

133



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

60 
 

Note 17 – Usable Reserves 

Movements in the Council’s usable reserves are detailed in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  Movements in the General Fund and the Earmarked 
Reserves are shown at note 6. 
 
Capital Receipts Reserve 
The capital receipts reserve holds the proceeds from the disposal of land or other assets, which are restricted by statute from being used other than to fund 
new capital expenditure or to be set aside to finance historical capital expenditure.  Any balance on this reserve shows the resources that have yet to be 
applied for these purposes at year end. 
 
Capital Receipts Reserve 2018-19 2017-18 
 £’000 £’000 
Balance at 1 April (25) - 
General capital receipts (102) (1,573) 
Right to Buy capital receipts (355) (235) 
Financing of capital programme 481 1,783 

Balance at 31 March (1) (25) 

 
Capital Grants Un-applied 
The capital grants un-applied account (reserve) holds the grants and contributions received towards capital projects for which the Council has met the 
conditions that would otherwise require repayment of the monies but which have yet to be applied to meet expenditure.  The balance is restricted by grant 
terms as to the capital expenditure against which it can be applied and/or the financial year in which this can take place. 
 
Capital Grants Un-applied 2018-19 2017-18 
 £’000 £’000 
Balance at 1 April (1,582) (1,331) 
Receipts (30) (522) 
Payments 63 - 
Financing of capital programme 8 271 

Balance at 31 March (1,541) (1,582) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

134



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

61 
 

Note 18 – Unusable Reserves 

 31.03.2019 31.03.2018 
 £’000 £’000 
Revaluation Reserve (13,137) (11,621) 
Capital Adjustment Account (51,349) (46,512) 
Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve (9,910) (9,885) 
Pensions Reserve 51,177 41,609 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account 477 (1,190) 
Accumulated Absences Account 91 158 

Total Unusable Reserves (22,651) (27,441) 

 
Revaluation Reserve 
The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the council arising from increases in the value of its Property, Plant and Equipment.  The balance is 
reduced when assets with accumulated gains are: 

 Revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 

 Used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through depreciation 

 Disposed of and the gains are realised 
The reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date that the reserve was created.  Accumulated gains arising before that 
date are consolidated into the balance on the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
 2018-19 2017-18 
 £’000 £’000 
Balance at 1 April (11,621) (11,190) 
Upward revaluation of assets (2,641) (2,798) 
Downward revaluation of assets and impairment losses not charged to the 
Surplus/Deficit on Provision of Services 

 
826 

 
2,115 

Surplus/Deficit on revaluation of non-current assets not posted to the Surplus/Deficit 
on Provision of Services 

 
(1,815) 

 
(683) 

Difference between fair value depreciation and historical cost depreciation 269 243 
Accumulated gains on assets sold or scrapped 30 9 

Amount written off to the Capital Adjustment Account (1,516) (431) 

Balance at 31 March (13,137) (11,621) 

 
Capital Adjustment Account 
The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current 
assets and for financing the acquisition, construction or enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions.  The account is debited with the cost of 
acquisition, construction or enhancement as depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are charged to the comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

135



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

62 
 

Statement (with reconciling postings from the Revaluation Reserve to convert fair value figures to a historical cost basis).  The account is credited with the 
amounts set aside by the council as finance for the costs of acquisition, construction and enhancement. 
The account contains the accumulated gains and losses on Investment Properties that have yet to be consumed by the Council. 
The account also contains revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant and Equipment before 1 April 2007, the date that the Revaluation Reserve was 
created to hold such gains. 
 
Note 5 provides details of the source of all the transactions posted to the account, apart from those involving the Revaluation Reserve. 
 
 2018-19 2017-18 
 £’000 £’000 
Balance at 1 April (46,512) (47,351) 
Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement: 

  

  Charges for depreciation and amortisation 1,301 1,157 
  Revaluation (gains)/losses on Property, plant and equipment 69 2,666 
  Changes in fair value of investment properties (2,522) (1,611) 
  Donated assets (170) - 
  Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 1,673 1,036 
  Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal or sale as part of the      
gain/loss on disposal to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

 
(16) 

 
1,467 

Adjusting amounts written out of the Revaluation Reserve (269) (243) 

Net written out amount of the cost of non-current assets consumed in the year 66 4,472 
Capital financing applied in the year:   
  Use of the capital receipts reserve to finance new capital expenditure (481) (1,783) 
  Capital grants and contributions credited to the comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement that have been applied to capital financing 

 
(1,642) 

 
(993) 

  Application of grants to capital financing from the Capital Grants Unapplied Account 41 (251) 
  Minimum Revenue Provision charge (PFI) (594) (572) 
  Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund (2,227) (34) 

Balance at 31 March (51,349) (46,512) 

 
Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve 
The Deferred Capital Receipts reserve holds the gains recognised on disposal of non-current assets but for which cash settlement has yet to take place.  
Under statutory arrangements, the Council does not treat these gains as usable for financing new capital expenditure until they are backed by cash receipts.  
When the deferred cash settlement eventually takes place, amounts are transferred. 
 
 
 

136



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

63 
 

 2018-19 2017-18 
 £’000 £’000 
Balance at 1 April (9,885) (9,823) 
Transfer of deferred sale proceeds upon receipt of cash (25) (32) 
Transfer of deferred sale proceeds credited from CIES on disposal - (30) 

Balance at 31 March (9,910) (9,885) 

 
Pensions Reserve 
The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting for post employment benefits and for funding 
benefits in accordance with statutory provisions.  The Council accounts for post employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years of service, updating the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions 
and investment returns on any resources set aside to meet the costs.  However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to be financed as the Council 
makes employer’s contributions to pension funds or eventually pays any pensions for which it is directly responsible.  The debit balance on the Pensions 
Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned by past and current employees and the resources the Council has set aside to meet 
them.  The statutory arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be paid. 
 
 2018-19 2017-18 
 £’000 £’000 
Balance at 1 April 41,609 42,730 
Actuarial (gains) or losses on pension assets and liabilities 7,125 (3,016) 
Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to the Surplus/Deficit on 
Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

 
4,615 

 
3,858 

Employer’s pension contributions and direct payments to pensioners payable in the year (2,172) (1,963) 

Balance at 31 March 51,177 41,609 

 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account 
The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the recognition of council tax income and NNDR income in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as it falls due from council tax and NNDR payers compared with the statutory arrangements for paying 
across amounts to the General Fund from the Collection Fund. 
 
 2018-19 2017-18 
 £’000 £’000 
Balance at 1 April (1,190) (34) 
Amount by which council tax credited to the CIES is different from council tax income 
calculated for the year in accordance with statutory requirements 

 
91 

 
(48) 

Amount by which NNDR credited to the CIES is different from NNDR  income calculated for 
the year in accordance with statutory requirements 

 
1,576 

 
(1,108) 

Balance at 31 March 477 (1,190) 

137



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

64 
 

Accumulated Absences Account 
The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on the General Fund balance from accruing for compensated 
absences earned but not taken in the year, i.e. annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31 March.  Statutory arrangements require that the impact on the 
General Fund balance is neutralised by transfers to or from the Account. 
 

Note 19 - Members’ Allowances  

The Council paid the following amounts to Members of the Council during the year.  
 
 2018-19 2017-18 
 £’000 £’000 
Basic and special responsibility allowances 422 408 
Expenses 35 31 

Total 457 439 

 

Note 20 – Officers’ Remuneration  

The remuneration paid to the Council’s senior employees is as follows: 
2018-19 
 
Title 

Salary (incl 
fees and 

allowances) 

 
 

Bonuses 

 
Expenses 

Allowances 

Benefits in 
kind (i.e. car 
allowances) 

 
Pension 

contribution 

 
 

Total 
 £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Chief Executive – Anna Graves 134,192 - 3,300 - 18,407 155,899 
Executive Director Strategy & Governance (Monitoring Officer) 101,872 - 3,300 - 13,828 119,000 
Executive Director Place 97,435 - 3,300 - 13,157 113,892 
Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 Officer) 95,846 - 3,300 - 13,157 112,303 
Executive Manager Property & Development 65,973 - 2,777 - 9,095 77,845 
Executive Manager Information 62,354 - 3,300 - 8,348 74,002 
Executive Manager Governance 62,345 - 3,300 - 8,348 73,993 
 
The senior employees shown in the above table are all shared and provide services for both the Council and for South Holland District Council.  These 
employees are formally employed by Breckland Council and South Holland Council is recharged 40% of their salary and other remuneration and expenses.  
The table above shows the full 100% costs of each senior employee and does not show the income contribution received from South Holland Council. 
 
Other shared senior employees are formally employed by South Holland District Council and Breckland are recharged 60% of their costs.  These employees 
are not shown in the above table but can be found in the South Holland District Council Statement of Accounts. 
 
The Executive Manager of Property & Development commenced employment with the Council on 29 May 2018. 

138



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

65 
 

2017-18 
 
Title 

Salary (incl 
fees and 

allowances) 

 
 

Bonuses 

 
Expenses 

Allowances 

Benefits in 
kind (i.e. car 
allowances) 

 
Pension 

contribution 

 
 

Total 
 £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Chief Executive 127,049 - 550 1,033 17,691 146,323 
Executive Director Strategy & Governance (Monitoring Officer) 107,044 - 550 1,033 14,819 123,446 
Executive Director Place 92,209 - 550 1,033 12,771 106,563 
Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 Officer) 91,918 - 550 1,033 12,771 106,272 
Executive Manager Governance 58,387 - 550 1,033 8,077 68,047 
Executive Manager Information 58,276 - 550 1,033 8,063 67,922 
Executive Manager Growth & Prosperity 43,532 - - 757 - 44,289 
Executive Manager People & Information 12,153 - - 103 755 13,011 
 
The senior employees shown in the above table are all shared and provide services for both the Council and for South Holland District Council.  These 
employees are formally employed by Breckland Council and South Holland Council is recharged 40% of their salary and other remuneration and expenses.  
The table above shows the full 100% costs of each senior employee and does not show the income contribution received from South Holland Council. 
 
Other shared senior employees are formally employed by South Holland District Council and Breckland are recharged 60% of their costs.  These employees 
are not shown in the above table but can be found in the South Holland District Council Statement of Accounts. 
 
The Executive Manager Growth & Prosperity was employed by the Council for part of 2017-18 and resigned from employment on 10 November 2017.  The 
Executive Manager People & Information was employed by the Council for part of 2017-18 and resigned from employment on 30 April 2017. 
 
The Council’s other employees receiving more than £50,000 remuneration for the year (excluding employer’s pension contributions were paid the following: 
 

 
 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

£50,000 -
£54,999

£55,000 -
£59,999

£60,000 -
£64,999

£75,000 -
£79,999

£90,000 -
£94,999

£95,000 -
£99,999

£100,000
-

£104,999

£105,000
-

£109,999

£125,000
-

£129,999

£130,000
-

£134,999

2018-19
Number of
employees

2017-18
Number of
employees

139



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

66 
 

The number of exit packages with total cost per band and total cost of the compulsory and other redundancies are set out in the table below: 
 
2018-19 
 
Exit Package Cost Band (including 
special payments) 

 
Number of 

compulsory 
Redundancies 

Number of 
Other 

Departures 
Agreed 

Total Number 
of Exit 

Packages by 
Cost Band 

Total cost of 
Exit 

Packages in 
Each Band 

    £ 

£0 – £20,000 - 3 3 £32,330 

Total - 3 3 £32,330 

     
2017-18 
 
Exit Package Cost Band (including 
special payments) 

 
Number of 

compulsory 
Redundancies 

Number of 
Other 

Departures 
Agreed 

Total Number 
of Exit 

Packages by 
Cost Band 

Total cost of 
Exit 

Packages in 
Each Band 

    £ 

£0 – £20,000 3 - 3 18,946 
£20,001 – £40,000 1 - 1 20,605 
£40,001 – £60,000 1 - 1 51,211 

Total 5 - 5 90,762 

 

Note 21 – External Audit Costs  

The Council has incurred the following costs for services provided by the Council’s external auditors (Ernst & Young).  
 

 2018-19 2017-18 

 £'000   £'000   

Fees payable with regard to external audit services carried out by the appointed auditor for the year 37 46 

Fees payable for the certification of grant claims and returns for the year 17 9 

Total 54 55 

 

Note 22 – Related Party Transactions  

The Council is required to disclose material transactions with related parties, bodies or individuals that have the potential to control or influence the Council or 
to be controlled or influenced by the Council.  Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the extent to which the Council might have been 
constrained in its ability to operate independently or might have secured the ability to limit another party’s ability to bargain freely with the Council. 
 
 

140



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

67 
 

Central Government 
Central Government has significant influence over the general operations of the Council, it is responsible for providing the statutory framework within which 
the Council operates, provides some of its funding in the form of grants and prescribes the terms of many of the transactions that the Council has with other 
parties (i.e. Council tax bills, housing benefits, etc).  Grants received from Government departments are set out in note 16.  Grant receipts outstanding at the 
end of the year are included in note 12. 
 
Members 
Members of the Council have direct control over the Council’s financial and operating policies.  The total of Members Allowances is shown in note 19.   
One Member is a director of Breckland Bridge Ltd.  Information relating to Breckland Bridge is shown below. 
One Member was involved in companies or groups in the area that the Council has had transactions with during the financial year, however there have been 
no material transactions this year.  There are a number of Members who represent Breckland Council on outside bodies. 
 
Officers 
One officer is the Company Secretary and another senior officer is a Director of ARP Trading Ltd.  Further details on ARP Trading are given below. 
One senior officer is a Director of Breckland Bridge Ltd.  Further information on Breckland Bridge is given below. 
 
Other Public Bodies 
Transactions with the Norfolk Pension Fund are detailed in the Pensions note 7.   
 
The Council shares a joint senior management team and other specific officers with South Holland District Council.  The costs of this arrangement are shared 
between Breckland and South Holland Council in an agreed percentage split.  During the year, Breckland Council paid South Holland Council £352k for 
shared South Holland employee and related costs and received £1,332k from South Holland Council for payment of shared Breckland employees and related 
costs (inclusive of VAT).  At 31 March 2019 Breckland owed South Holland £123k and South Holland owed Breckland £208k (including amounts accrued but 
not invoiced at the end of the year and inclusive of VAT). 
 
Precepts paid to other authorities from Council Tax collected and other authorities retained share of National Non-Domestic Rates are detailed in the 
Collection Fund note.  The precept value paid to parish and town councils is included in the Breckland Council Tax figure in the collection fund note and was 
£3,790k in 2018-19 (£3,524k in 2017-18).  
 
Entities Controlled or Significantly Influenced by the Council 
Anglia Revenues Partnership (ARP) Trading Limited is a Joint Venture Company set up in 2006 with Forest Heath District Council to trade with authorities in 
revenues and benefits services.  This arrangement is a legal entity which was conducted under joint control with 50:50 voting rights and financial share of 
66:34 between Breckland Council and Forest Heath Council respectively.  In January 2017 the shareholding of the Company changed and is now structured 
with an equal shareholding and voting rights between the seven ARP Joint Committee partners; Breckland Council, East Cambridgeshire Council, Forest 
Heath Council, Fenland Council, St Edmundsbury Council, Suffolk Coastal Council & Waveney Council.  The company is not currently undertaking any 
trading activities and was made dormant in 2018-19.   
Copies of ARP Trading Ltd’s accounts may be obtained by contacting them at: 

 Breckland House, St Nicholas Street, Thetford IP24 1BT 

141



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

68 
 

The Anglia Revenues Partnership Joint Committee was set up to deliver the Housing Benefit, Council Tax, and Business Rates services for Breckland 
Council and Forest Heath District Council.  East Cambridgeshire District Council joined the partnership on 1 April 2007 and formally joined the Joint 
Committee in October 2010.  St Edmundsbury Council joined the new Joint Committee on 1 April 2011.  Waveney District Council, Fenland District Council 
and Suffolk Coastal joined the partnership on 1 April 2014.  The seven authorities hold equal voting rights but shares in costs and surpluses arising from the 
arrangement are based on an agreed share as part of the Joint Committee agreement.  This share is based on a combination of figures; liability orders, 
NNDR live properties, Housing Benefit claimants and Council Tax caseloads.  These levels of work loads are reviewed annually on 1 August each year and 
updated for the budget set the following year to ensure the costs are based on the levels of work loads each year. 
 
The Council’s share of partnership transactions and balances are included within the relevant lines within the accounts. 
 
The Council formed a Local Asset Backed Vehicle (LABV) company, Breckland Bridge, with the Land Group (Breckland) Ltd.  Group accounts are prepared 
for this company and more information can be found in the Group Accounts section of these accounts. 
 

Note 23 – Leases 

Authority as Lessor 
Operating Leases 
The Council has granted a number of leases on commercial properties, land and community centres, which have been accounted for as operating leases.  
The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable leases in future years are: 
 
 31.03.2019 31.03.2018 
 £’000 £’000 
Not later than one year 1,872 1,308 
Later than one year and not later than five years 4,608 2,372 
Later than five years 5,075 3,600 

Total 11,555 7,280 

 
The minimum lease payments receivable do not include rents that are contingent on events taking place after the lease was entered into, such as 
adjustments following rent reviews.  The contingent rents are nil for the Council as rent reviews are carried out based on market values, not specified 
amounts. 
 
Finance Leases 
The Council has leased out property on a finance lease as follows: 

 Barnham Broom Golf & Country Club to Barnham Broom Golf and Country Club with a remaining term of 38 years 

 Riverside Hotel to Travelodge with a remaining term of 23 years 

 Riverside Cinema to Light Cinemas with a remaining term of 23 years 

 Merle Body Centre to Swaffham and District MHA with a remaining term of 23 years 
 

142



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

69 
 

The Council has a gross investment in the lease, made up of the minimum lease payments expected to be received over the remaining term and the residual 
value anticipated for the property when the lease comes to an end.  The minimum lease payments comprise settlement of the long-term debtor for the interest 
in the property acquired by the lessee and finance income that will be earned by the Council in future years whilst the debtor remains outstanding.  The gross 
investment is made up of the following amounts: 
 
 31.03.2019 31.03.2018 
 £’000 £’000 
Finance lease debtor (net present value of minimum lease payments):   
  Current 106 52 
  Non-current 9,804 9,831 
Unearned finance income 16,158 16,886 
Un guaranteed residual value of property (1,652) (1,652) 

Gross investment in the lease 24,416 25,117 

 
The gross investment in the lease and the minimum lease payments will be received over the following periods: 
 
 Gross investment in 

lease 
Minimum Lease 

Payments 
 31.03.2019 31.03.2018 31.03.2019 31.03.2018 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Not later than one year 755 703 755 703 
Later than one year and not later than five years 3,020 3,020 3,020 3,020 
Later than five years 20,641 21,397 20,641 21,397 

Total 24,416 25,120 24,416 25,120 

 
The Council has not set aside any allowance for uncollectible amounts relating to these leases in 2018-19 (£nil in 2017-18). 
 
The minimum lease payments do not include rents that are contingent on events taking place after the lease was entered into, such as adjustments following 
rent reviews.  The contingent rents are nil for the Council as rent reviews are carried out based on market values, not specified amounts. 
 

Note 24 – Private Finance Initiatives and Similar Contracts 

In December 2005 The Council entered into a 33.5 year PFI contract for the provision of leisure management and facilities in Thetford and Dereham.  The 
contract specifies minimum standards for the services to be provided by the contractor, with deductions from the fee payable being made if facilities are 
unavailable or performance is below the minimum standards.  The contractor took on the obligation to construct the centre at Dereham and to maintain the 
centres in a minimum acceptable condition and to procure and maintain the plant and equipment needed to operate the centres.  The buildings and any plant 
and equipment installed in them at the end of the contract will be transferred to the Council.  The Council only has the right to terminate the contract if it 
compensates the contractor in full for costs incurred and future profits that would have been generated over the remaining term of the contract.   

143



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

70 
 

Property Plant and Equipment – The assets used to provide services at the leisure centres are recognised on the Council’s Balance sheet.  Movements in 
their fair value over the year are detailed in the analysis of the movement on the Property, Plant and Equipment balance in note 8. 
 
Payments – The Council makes an agreed payment each year which is increased each year by inflation and can be reduced if the contractor fails to meet 
performance standards in any year but which is otherwise fixed.  The unitary charge payable in 2018-19 totalled £2,316k (£2,272k in 2017-18).  This was 
charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as £1,156k service and asset maintenance charge (debited to the Place Directorate), 
£364k capital lifecycle costs (allocated to a prepayment account over the life of the contract to evenly spread the capital spend), £450k finance costs and 
£116k contingent rental costs (debited to interest payable) and £230k relating to the write down of obligations to the lessor. 
The service charge amount in 2018-19 of £1,156k included a credit of £0.3k relating to performance deductions within the year (£nil in 2017-18) 
 
There are provisions within this PFI arrangement which may affect the amount, timing and certainty of future cash flows, these are as follows: 

o A benchmarking exercise is carried out every 5 years (next due in 2023).  There is a risk that an increase/decrease in unitary charge could result from 
this exercise. 

o The contract is subject to an annual inflationary increase and therefore higher than anticipated inflation levels would lead to higher payment levels.  If 
this occurs in the early years of the contract there is a compounding effect on the later contract years. 

o PFI credits are received from the Department for Digital Culture, Media & Sport (DCMS), a failure to provide the DCMS with their required information 
could result in a loss of these credits to the Council. 

 
Payments remaining to be made under the PFI contract at 31 March 2019.  These payments are shown as cash based prices and include an estimate for 
average inflation over the remaining life of the contract of 1.52% per year. 
 
 Principal 

repayment 
Finance 

costs 
Service 

charges 
Capital 

prepayment 
 

Total 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Amounts payable in 1 year 242 560 1,185 374 2,361 
Amounts payable 2 – 5 years 1,107 2,169 4,876 1,544 9,696 
Amounts payable 6 – 10 years 1,754 2,498 6,416 2,044 12,712 
Amounts payable 11–15 years 2,281 2,160 6,799 2,179 13,419 
Amounts payable 16 – 20 years 2,893 1,647 7,061 2,339 13,940 

Total 8,277 9,034 26,337 8,480 52,128 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

144



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

71 
 

Although the payments made to the contractor are described as unitary payments, they have been calculated to compensate the contractor for the fair value 
of the services they provide, the capital expenditure incurred and interest payable.  The liability outstanding is as follows: 
 
 2018-19 2017-18 
 £’000 £’000 
Balance outstanding at 1 April 8,507 8,725 
Interest charge for the year 450 462 
Principal repayment during the year (230) (218) 
Interest repayment during the year (450) (462) 

Balance outstanding at 31 March 8,277 8,507 

 
Amounts payable in 1 year is £242k and amounts payable after 1 year is £8,035k. 
 
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: 
 
 01.04.2018 Financing 

cash flows 
Other non 

cash changes 
31.03.2019 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
On balance sheet PFI liabilities 8,507 (680) 450 8,277 

Total liabilities from financing 
activities 

8,507 (680) 450 8,277 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

145



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

72 
 

Note 25 – Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below (including the value of assets acquired under PFI contracts), together 
with the resources that have been used to finance it.  Where capital expenditure is to be financed in future years by charges to revenue as assets are used by 
the Council, the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), a measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by 
the Council that has yet to be financed.  The CFR is analysed in the second part of this note.  The Council’s CFR is currently negative (when the PFI scheme 
is taken into account) which means there is no current requirement to borrow. 
 

 2018-19 2017-18 

 £'000   £'000   

Opening Capital Financing Requirement 5,657 5,934 

Capital Investment:   

  Non-current assets additions and subsequent expenditure 3,358 1,485 

  Capital Loans (591) 591 

  Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 1,673 1,062 

  Icelandic impairment reversal - (26) 

  Other 2 (33) 

Sources of Finance:   

  Capital receipts (456) (1,783) 

  Government grants and other contributions (1,601) (1,244) 

  PFI capital prepayment (722) (77) 

  Direct revenue contributions (2,227) (34) 

  Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) (230) (218) 

Closing Capital financing Requirement 4,863 5,657 

Explanation of movements in year   

Increase in underlying need to borrow (unsupported by Government financial assistance) (794) (277) 

Increase/(decrease) in Capital Financing Requirement (794) (277) 

 

Note 26 – Financial Instruments 

Reclassification and re-measurement of financial assets at 1 April 2018 

At 31 March 2018 all investment financial assets were held as Loans and Receivables in the Balance Sheet.  The effect of reclassification of investment 
financial assets following the adoption of IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments is that all investment financial assets are now classified at  Amortised Cost.  There 
have been no re-measurements of carrying amounts as a result of adoption of IFRS 9.  There has been no change in the classification or valuation basis for 

146



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

73 
 

debtors and creditors which are held at contract costs.  In arriving at the new classification under IFRS 9 judgements have been made, all investments held 
and loans provided have the objective to purely collect contractual cash flows. 

Financial Instruments 
The following categories of financial instruments are carried in the Balance Sheet: 

 
 Non-Current Current Total 
 31.03.2019 31.03.2018 31.03.2019 31.03.2018 31.03.2019 31.03.2018 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Financial Assets       
Investments held at amortised cost 27 5 24,147 24,669 24,174 24,674 
Debtors held at contract amounts 695 - 3,703 2,566 4,398 2,566 

Total Financial Assets 722 5 27,850 27,235 28,572 27,240 

 
Financial Liabilities       
Creditors held at contract amounts - - (3,951) (2,559) (3,951) (2,559) 

Total Financial Liabilities - - (3,951) (2,559) (3,951) (2,559) 

 
Details on the PFI scheme outstanding amounts payable in 1 year and after 1 year are detailed in the PFI Note 24.  Details on finance leases are detailed in 
the leases note 23. 
 
Financial Instruments Income, Expense, Gains and Losses 
Interest paid relating to the PFI scheme is charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, details relating to this scheme and the 
payments made during the year can be found at Note 24.  Interest payable and receivable is detailed in the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement. 
 
Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities 
Financial liabilities and financial assets are carried in the Balance sheet at amortised cost.  As at 31 March 2019, the fair values of the items in the table 
above are equal to the carrying amount shown in the table.  Investments held with Icelandic institutions are included within the carrying amount of 
investments in the table above.  Details of the PFI scheme are shown in the PFI Note 24.  Details on finance leases are detailed in the leases note 23. 
 
Nature and extent of risk arising from Financial Instruments 
 
Key Risks 
The Council’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks.  The key risks are: 

 Credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the Council; 

 Liquidity risk – the possibility that the Council might not have funds available to meet its commitments to make payments;  

 Market risk - the possibility that financial loss might arise for the Council as a result of changes in such measures as interest rates movements. 
 

147



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

74 
 

Overall Procedures for Managing Risk 
The Council has adopted CIPFA's Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and complies with the CIPFA Prudential Code and has set 
Treasury Management indictors and Prudential indicators to control key financial instrument risks. 
 
The Council sets an annual Treasury Management Strategy & Policy and Investment Strategy which was recommended to Full Council for approval by the 
Governance and Audit Committee on 16 February 2019 (approved by Full Council 22 February 2018 – ref: 31/18) and is available to view on the Councils 
website.  The Treasury Management Policy includes principles for risk management as well as Treasury Management Practices (TMP's) which cover specific 
areas including risks. 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to the Council’s customers.   
This risk is minimised through the Annual Investment Strategy, which requires that deposits are not made with financial institutions unless they meet identified 
minimum credit criteria, in accordance with the Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poors Credit Ratings Services. The Annual Investment Strategy also considers 
maximum amounts and time limits in respect of each financial institution.  Deposits are not made with banks and financial institutions unless they meet the 
minimum requirements of the investment criteria outlined above.   Additional selection criteria are also applied after this initial criteria is applied.  The key 
areas of the Investment Strategy are that the minimum criteria for investment counterparties include: 

 The Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset Services (our Treasury Management advisors).  This service employs a 
sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings from the three main credit rating agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poors).  In 
keeping with the rating agencies new methodologies, the rating element of the Link credit assessment process now focusses solely on the short and 
long term ratings of an institution.  The credit ratings of counterparties are supplemented with over lays from credit watches and credit outlooks from 
credit ratings agencies, CDS spreads and sovereign ratings. 

 Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council use will be a short term of F1, long term of A-, viability of A- and a support rating of 1. 
 
Customers for goods and services are assessed (where material), taking into account their financial position, past experience and other factors. 
 
The Council’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its investments in banks and building societies of £18,114k cannot be assessed generally as the 
risk of any institution failing to make interest payments or repay the principal sum will be specific to each individual institution.  Recent experience has shown 
that it is rare for such entities to be unable to meet their commitments.  A risk of irrecoverability applies to all of the Council’s deposits, but there was no 
evidence at the 31 March 2019 that this was likely to crystallize. 

No breaches of the Council’s counterparty criteria occurred during the reporting period and the Council does not expect any losses from non-performance by 
any of its counterparties in relation to deposits. 

Liquidity risk 
The Council manages its liquidity position through the risk management procedures above (the setting and approval of prudential indicators and the approval 
of the treasury and investment strategy reports), as well as through a comprehensive cash flow management system, as required by the CIPFA Code of 
Practice.  This seeks to ensure that cash is available when it is needed. 
 

148



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

75 
 

The Council has ready access to borrowings from the Money Markets to cover any day to day cash flow need, and the PWLB and Money Markets for access 
to longer term funds.  The Council is also required to provide a balanced budget through the Local Government Finance Act 1992, which ensures sufficient 
monies are raised to cover annual expenditure.  There is therefore no significant risk that it will be unable to raise finance to meet its commitments under 
financial instruments.   
 
Market risk 
The Council is exposed to interest rate movements on its variable rate investments.  Movements in interest rates have a complex impact on the Council, 
depending on how variable and fixed interest rates move across differing financial instrument periods.  For instance, a rise in variable and fixed interest rates 
would have the following effects: 

 Investments at variable rates – the interest income credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement will rise; and 

 Investments at fixed rates – the fair value of the assets will fall (no impact on revenue balances). 
 
The Council has a number of strategies for managing interest rate risk.  The Annual Treasury Management Strategy draws together the Council’s prudential 
and treasury indicators and its expected treasury operations, including an expectation of interest rate movements.  From this Strategy a treasury indicator is 
set which provides maximum limits for fixed and variable interest rate exposure.  The central treasury team will monitor market and forecast interest rates 
within the year to adjust exposures appropriately.  For instance during periods of falling interest rates and where economic circumstances make it favourable, 
fixed rate investments may be taken for longer periods to secure better long term returns. 
 
If all interest rates had been 1% higher/lower (with all other variables held constant) the financial effect would be: 

 £58k increase/decrease in interest receivable on variable rate investments (impact on the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services) 

 £186k decrease/increase in fair value of fixed rate investment assets (impact on Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure) 
These assumptions are based on the same methodology as used in Note – Fair Values of Assets and Liabilities. 
 

Note 27 – Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 

In applying the accounting policies set out in note 1, the Council has had to make certain judgements about complex transactions or those involving 
uncertainty about future events.  The critical judgements made in the Statements of Accounts are: 

 Assets held for sale – The Code gives strict criteria which have to be met before assets can be classified as ‘held for sale’.  At 31 March 2019 there 
are three pieces of land (two in Attleborough and one in Gressenhall) which meet these criteria and are classified as ‘Assets held for Sale’. 

 PFI scheme – Based on the scope of the Code and IFRIC 12, the Council has concluded that the leisure PFI scheme falls under the scope of IFRIC 
12 and the PFI scheme and assets are therefore accounted for on an on-balance sheet basis.  The Accounting Policy for PFI (note 1) details 
judgements made in applying capital spend to the assets held on the Balance Sheet. 

 Categorisation of assets – The Code gives strict criteria for assets held as Investment Properties.  For the Council, those assets which are held for 
rental by the commercial property department and those assets which are held purely to gain capital appreciation (with a formal plan/policy detailing 
this) are classified as investment properties.  Surplus land held by the Council which may be subject to capital appreciation, but is not part of a formal 
plan/policy is held as Surplus property plant & equipment.  Assets are classified as Heritage Assets if the primary purpose for holding the asset is 

149



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

76 
 

principally contribution to knowledge/culture rather than a provision of service.  If the asset is primarily providing a service, then this will not be 
classified as a Heritage Asset. 

 Provisions – Provisions made for legal cases and compensation claims are prudent estimates made for ‘live’ cases and are expected to be resolved 
within the next 12 months.  Provisions made for NNDR appeals are estimates made for the expected loss in NNDR income as a result of successful 
appeals based on currently outstanding appeals dated back to 01.04.2010 and outstanding and expected appeals dated back 01.04.2017. 

 Classification of Leases – The Council may make certain judgements when classifying leases as finance or operating.  During 2018-19 there were no 
new lease renewals which were classified as finance leases. 

 

Note 28 – Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported for assets 
and liabilities as at the Balance Sheet date and the amounts reported for the revenues and expenses during the year.  However the nature of estimation 
means that actual outcomes could differ from those estimates. 
The key judgements and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are as follows: 
 

Item Uncertainties Effect if Actual Results Differ from Assumptions 

Pensions liability 
 

Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number 
of complex judgements relating to the discount rate used, the rate 
at which salaries are projected to increase, changes in retirement 
ages, mortality rates and expected returns on pension fund assets.  
A firm of consulting actuaries is engaged by the Council to provide 
expert advice about the assumptions to be applied. 

The pensions note (note 7) provides full details of the assumptions 
made and also a table showing a sensitivity analysis. 

Non Current 
Assets 

Estimated values and useful lives of non-current assets (i.e. 
property and land) are produced by professional external Valuers in 
accordance with established practices as detailed in the Accounting 
Policies at note 1. 

The values held in the Balance Sheet reflect the estimated values 
and useful lives provided by the Valuer.  The difference in values 
held in the Balance Sheet if estimates were higher/lower are: 
 1% change in non-current asset values = £6,812k 
 1 year less useful lives on all assets = £201k 
 1 year more useful lives on all assets = (£116k) 

NNDR Provisions Estimates are made within the accounts for the likely reduction in 
NNDR income receivable by the Council from successful appeals 
on rateable values by companies.  At 31.03.2019 the level of 
provisions for NNDR appeals is £1,878k (2.3% of the rateable value 
appealed on the 2010 list and 7.1% of the gross rates at 31.03.2019 
on the 2017 list).  The methodology used to estimate these values 
are detailed in the Accounting Policies for the Collection Fund in 
note 1. 

At 31 March 2019 there were 105 outstanding appeals against a 
total appealed rateable value of £35,646k dating back to 01-04-
2010.  The financial effect on the Council’s share of the NNDR 
provisions if estimates were higher or lower are: 
  1% higher/lower = £277k 
The provision based on the 2017 list is 7.1% of the gross rates at 
31.03.19 of £43,746k.  The financial effect on the Council’s share 
of the NNDR provisions if estimates were higher or lower are: 
  1% higher/lower = £175k 

150



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

77 
 

Note 29 – Events After the Balance Sheet Date 

These financial statements replace the unaudited financial statements certified by the Executive Director Commercialisation on 21 May 2019.  The audited 
financial accounts were authorised for issue by the Executive Director Commercialisation on 31 July 2019.  Events taking place after this date are not 
reflected in the financial statement or notes.  There have been no other events occurring after the reporting date that would have a material impact on these 
financial statements. 
 

Note 30 – Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Adopted 

The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the UK 2019-20 has introduced the following changes in accounting policy, which will need to be 
adopted fully by the Council in the 2019-20 financial statements from 1 April 2019. 
 
The Council is required to disclose information relating to the impact of the accounting changes on the financial statements as a result of the adoption by the 
Code of a new standard that has been issued, but is not yet required to be adopted by the Council.  The Council is required to make disclosure of the 
estimated effect of the new standard in these financial statements. 
 
The following accounting standards have minor changes next year, but these are either not relevant to the Council or the changes are expected to be minor 
and are not expected to make any change to the reported information in the accounts and will therefore not have a material effect: 

 Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – prepayment features with negative compensation. 

 Amendments to IAS 40 Investment Property – transfers of investment property 

 Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2014-2016 cycle 

 IFRIC 22 Foreign currency and advance consideration 

 IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 

151



COMMERCIAL PROPERTY TRADING ACCOUNT 

78 
 

 2018-19 2018-19 2018-19 2017-18 

 BUDGET ACTUAL VARIANCE ACTUAL 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Income     

Rental Income (2,659) (2,352) 307 (2,237) 

Bad Debts Provision - (4) (4) 7 

Insurances (77) (69) 8 (66) 

Miscellaneous (68) (91) (23) (70) 

Total Income (2,804) (2,516) 288 (2,366) 

Expenditure     

Repairs and Maintenance 125 137 12 99 

Insurance 80 80 - 75 

Promotion 27 53 26 25 

Administration & Miscellaneous 442 596 154 241 

Changes in fair value & capital financing 5 (2,522) (2,527) (1,611) 

Total Expenditure 679 (1,656) (2,335) (1,171) 

     

(Surplus)/Deficit posted to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Stmt (2,125) (4,172) (2,047) (3,537) 

Adjustment for spend funded from reserves (43) (117) (74) (5) 

Adjustment for changes in fair value & capital financing (5) 2,522 2,527 1,611 

Adjustment for service charges to reserve 53 59 6 61 

Adjustment for finance lease income received (428) (270) 158 (530) 

Trading (Surplus) for the Year (2,548) (1,978) 570 (2,400) 

     

Commercial Property Reserve Balance     

Balance at the beginning of the Year (476) (476) - (536) 

Contribution (to)/from Reserve (9) 1 10 87 

Service charges (income)/costs (39) (9) 30 (27) 

Reserve balance at end of year (524) (484) 40 (476) 

 
The Council maintains industrial estates in five towns within the district - Attleborough, Dereham, Swaffham, Thetford and Watton. It has a number of serviced 
units at the EcoTech Business Park, Swaffham and Barnham Broom and Kings Lynn and a retail site at Riverside in Thetford. 
 

152



COMMERCIAL PROPERTY TRADING ACCOUNT 

79 
 

After adjusting for the changes due to accounting treatment for leases and changes in fair value of investment properties, the trading surplus for 2018-19 was 
£1,978k a decrease of £422k on the previous year.   
This decrease was mainly due to: 

o Reversal of a previous provision in 2017-18 of £200k  
o Increase in costs funded from reserves in 2018-19 
 

£1,978k from the surplus of the Commercial Property service was contributed to support the General Fund and other Council services. 
 
  
 

153



THE COLLECTION FUND 

80 
 

This account reflects the statutory requirements for billing authorities to maintain a separate Collection Fund, which shows the transactions of the billing 
Authority in relation to National Non-Domestic Rates and the Council Tax, and illustrates the way in which these have been distributed to preceptors (i.e. local 
authorities and the Government) and the General Fund. 
 

Collection Fund Revenue Account 
 
 2018-19  2017-18 
 Council Tax NNDR Total  Council Tax NNDR Total 
 £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 

Income        
Income Receivable:        
Council Tax receivable (74,509)  (74,509)  (69,460)  (69,460) 
National Non-Domestic Rates receivable  (35,008) (35,008)   (31,271) (31,271) 
Transitional Protection receivable  (462) (462)   (856) (856) 
Repayment of previous years deficit:        
Breckland Council - - -  - - - 
Central Government  - -  - - - 
Norfolk County Council - - -  - - - 
Norfolk Police & Crime Commissioner -  -  -  - 

Total Income (74,509) (35,470) (109,979)  (69,460) (32,127) (101,587) 

 
Expenditure 

       

Apportionment of previous years surplus:        
Breckland Council 119 396 515  26 32 58 
Central Government  495 495   40 40 
Norfolk County Council 926 99 1,025  198 8 206 
Norfolk Police & Crime Commissioner 163  163  35  35 

 1,208 990 2,198  259 80 339 

Precepts:        
Breckland Council 7,448 12,813 20,261  6,903 12,170 19,073 
Central Government  16,017 16,017   15,212 15,212 
Norfolk County Council 56,621 3,203 59,824  52,402 3,042 55,444 
Norfolk Police & Crime Commissioner 9,809  9,809  9,119  9,119 

 73,878 32,033 105,911  68,424 30,424 98,848 

        
        
        

154



THE COLLECTION FUND 

81 
 

 2018-19  2017-18 
 Council Tax NNDR Total  Council Tax NNDR Total 
 £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 

Charges to the Collection Fund:        
Write offs of uncollectable amounts 291 127 418  163 172 335 
Appeals charged to the Provision  (467) (467)   (1,371) (1,371) 
Increase/(Decrease) in Bad Debts Provision 48 177 225  126 86 212 
Increase/(Decrease) in Appeals Provision  3,606 3,606   501 501 
Cost of Collection  163 163   163 163 
Renewable Energy Income retained by Breckland  2,386 2,386   1,218 1,218 

 339 5,992 6,331  289 769 1,058 

        

(Surplus)/Deficit for the Year 916 3,545 4,461  (488) (854) (1,342) 

        

Fund Balance at 1
st
 April (965) (728) (1,693)  (477) 126 (351) 

        

(Surplus)/Deficit Carried Forward at 31
st

 March (49) 2,817 2,768  (965) (728) (1,693) 

 

155



THE COLLECTION FUND 

82 
 

Notes to the Collection Fund 
 

1. Income from Non-Domestic Rates 
The total non-domestic rateable value at 31 March 2019 was £89,595,202 and the national non-domestic multiplier for the year was £0.493 (£0.480 
for small businesses). 

2. Council Tax 
The Council Tax base for 2018-19 was as follows: 

 Band A  Band B  Band C  Band D  Band E  Band F  Band G Band H Total   

No. of chargeable dwellings 15,096 16,738 13,402 7,413 4,160 1,533 725 50 59,117 

Band D equivalent 10,064 13,018 11,913 7,413 5,084 2,214 1,208 100 51,014 

Net effect of premiums, discounts and collection allowance (8,208) 

Tax Base for Council Tax Purposes 42,806 

 
2018-19 figures as approved January and February 2018. 
 

3. Precepts and Demands on the Collection Fund 
The major precepting authorities, their precepts and share of the fund balance are shown in the table below. 
 

Council Tax 2018-19 Share of Balance 2018-19 2017-18 
 Precept/Demand 31.03.2019 Total Total 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Norfolk County Council 56,621 43 56,664 53,141 
Norfolk Police & Crime Commissioner 9,809 2 9,811 9,250 
Breckland Council 7,448 4 7,452 6,998 

Total 73,878 49 73,927 69,389 

 
 

NNDR 2018-19 Share of Balance 2018-19 2017-18 
 Precept/Demand 31.03.2019 Total Total 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Norfolk County Council 3,203 (282) 2,921 3,115 
Central Government 16,017 (1,408) 14,609 15,576 
Breckland Council 12,813 (1,127) 11,686 12,461 

Total 32,033 (2,817) 29,216 31,152 

 

156



GROUP ACCOUNTS 

83 
 

Introduction 

The Code sets out a requirement to prepare group accounts where the authority has interests in subsidiaries, associates and/or joint ventures, subject to the 
consideration of materiality.  A review of the Council’s relationships with other bodies is carried out each year to consider whether it is appropriate to prepare 
group accounts. 
 

Breckland Bridge Ltd 

Breckland Council have formed a Local Asset Backed Company (LABV) with The Land Group (Breckland) Ltd.  The objective of Breckland Bridge Ltd is to 
achieve financial returns and accelerate long term regeneration and economic growth to projects in the Council area, with a view to maximising revenue for 
the shareholder whilst still securing the economic, social and environmental well-being of the Council area. 
Note 1 to these Group Accounts provides more details on the Council’s relationship with Breckland Bridge Ltd. 
 
  

157



GROUP ACCOUNTS 

84 
 

Group Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 
 Net 

Expenditure 
Chargeable 

to the 
General 

Fund 
 2018-19 

 
Adjustments 

Between 
Funding & 

Accounting 
Basis 

2018-19 

 
 
 

Net 
Expenditure 
in the CIES 

2018-19 

Net 
Expenditure 
Chargeable 

to the 
General 

Fund 
 2017-18 

 
Adjustments 

Between 
Funding & 

Accounting 
Basis 

2017-18 

 
 
 

Net 
Expenditure 
in the CIES 

2017-18 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Cost of Services       
Growth & Commercialisation Directorate 1,026 2,212 3,238 615 4,980 5,595 
Place Directorate 6,363 1,268 7,631 6,020 836 6,856 
Strategy Governance & Transformation Directorate 5,387 1,163 6,550 5,633 524 6,157 
Housing Benefit (25) (42) (67) (70) - (70) 

Net Cost of Services 12,751 4,601 17,352 12,198 6,340 18,538 
       
Other Income & Expenditure (13,501) (5,057) (18,558) (12,243) (4,844) (17,087) 
       

(Surplus)/Deficit on Provision of Services (750) (456) (1,206) (45) 1,496 1,451 

       

 
Opening General Fund & Earmarked Reserves Balance @ 31.03.18 17,503  
   
Adjust for Surplus/Deficit on Provision of Services 750  
   

Closing General Fund & Earmarked Reserves Balance @ 31.03.19 18,253  

 
The Expenditure and Funding Analysis is a note to the Financial Statements, however, it is positioned here as it provides a link from the figures reported in 
the Financial Performance Report at Cabinet to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES). 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

158



GROUP ACCOUNTS 
 

85 
 

Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
 Gross 

Expenditure 
2018-19 

Gross 
Income 
2018-19 

Net 
Expenditure 

2018-19 

Gross 
Expenditure 

2017-18 

Gross 
Income 
2017-18 

Net 
Expenditure 

2017-18 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Expenditure on Services       
Growth & Commercialisation Directorate 9,332 (6,094) 3,238 14,502 (8,906) 5,596 
Place Directorate 14,422 (6,791) 7,631 13,319 (6,464) 6,855 
Strategy Governance & Transformation Directorate 8,070 (1,520) 6,550 7,826 (1,669) 6,157 
Housing Benefit 29,668 (29,735) (67) 31,485 (31,555) (70) 

Cost of Services 61,492 (44,140) 17,352 67,132 (48,594) 18,538 

Other operating expenditure       
  Parish Council Precepts and Drainage Board Levies 3,870 - 3,870 3,602 - 3,602 
  (Gain)/Loss on disposal of non-current assets - (359) (359) - (220) (220) 
Financing and investment income and expenditure       
  Interest receivable & payable & similar income & expenditure 566 (847) (281) 571 (894) (323) 
  Re-measurement of the net defined benefit liability/(asset) 3,022 (1,881) 1,141 2,886 (1,766) 1,120 
  (Surplus)/Deficit on trading undertakings (1,660) (2,512) (4,172) (1,163) (2,374) (3,537) 
  Other - (31) (31) - (26) (26) 
Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure       
  Council Tax income (including collection fund) - (7,486) (7,486) - (6,985) (6,985) 
  NDR income & expenditure (including collection fund) 9,865 (15,200) (5,335) 9,088 (13,762) (4,674) 
  Revenue Support Grant - (1,071) (1,071) - (1,451) (1,451) 
  Donated assets - (170) (170) - - - 
  Other non-ring fenced Government grants - (4,664) (4,664) - (4,593) (4,593) 

(Surplus)/Deficit on Provision of Services 77,155 (78,361) (1,206) 82,116 (80,665) 1,451 

Adjust for prior year changes resulting from Audit of Accounts   3   120 
Share of (surplus)/deficit on the Provision of Services for Joint 
Ventures   118   (230) 

Share of tax expenses for Joint Ventures   (1)   1 

Group (Surplus)/Deficit   (1,086)   1,342 

       

(Surplus)/Deficit on revaluation of PPE assets   (1,814)   (683) 
Actuarial (gains)/losses on pension assets/liabilities   7,125   (3,016) 

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure   5,311   (3,699) 

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure   4,225   (2,357) 

159



GROUP ACCOUNTS 
 

86 
 

Group Movement in Reserves Statement 
  

General 
Fund 

Balance 

Ear-
marked 

GF 
Reserves 

 
Capital 

Receipts 
Reserve 

Capital 
Grants 

Un-
applied 

 
Total 

Usable 
Reserves 

 
Un-

usable 
Reserves 

 
 

Total 
Reserves 

Council
’s share 
of Joint 
Venture 

Total 
Group 
Res- 
erves 

2017-18 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Balance as at 1 April 2017 2,851 14,607 - 1,331 18,789 25,514 44,303 (380) 43,923 

Movement in Reserves during 2017-18          
Total Comprehensive Income & Expenditure (1,451) - - - (1,451) 3,699 2,248 109 2,357 
Adjustments from income & expenditure 
charged under the accounting basis to funding 
basis 

1,496 - 25 251 1,772 (1,772) - - - 

Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves (227) 227 - - - - - - - 

Increase/(decrease) for year (182) 227 25 251 321 1,927 2,248 109 2,357 

          

Balance as at 31 March 2018 2,669 14,834 25 1,582 19,110 27,441 46,551 (271) 46,280 

 
 

         

Balance as at 1 April 2018 2,669 14,834 25 1,582 19,110 27,441 46,551 (271) 46,280 

Movement in Reserves during 2018-19          
Total Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 1,206 - - - 1,206 (5,311) (4,105) (120) (4,225) 
Adjustments from income & expenditure 
charged under the accounting basis to funding 
basis 

 
 

(456) 

 
 

- 

 
 

(24) 

 
 

(41) 

 
 

(521) 

 
 

521 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 
Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves (919) 919 - - - - - - - 

Increase/(decrease) for year (169) 919 (24) (41) 685 (4,790) (4,105) (120) (4,225) 

          

Balance as at 31 March 2019 2,500 15,753 1 1,541 19,795 22,651 42,446 (391) 42,055 

 
 
 
 
 
 

160



GROUP ACCOUNTS 
 

87 
 

Group Balance Sheet 
 31 March 2019 31 March 2018 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Non Current Assets     
Property Plant and Equipment 36,628  35,104  
Heritage Assets 263  211  
Investment Property 31,149  26,393  
Intangible Assets 78  291  

Total Non Current Assets  68,118  61,999 

Long-term investments  27  5 
Long term debtors  12,519  12,949 

Total long-term assets  80,664  74,953 

Current Assets     
Short-term investments 20,089  17,092  
Short-term debtors 6,987  6,555  
Cash and cash equivalents 4,610  7,994  
Assets Held for Sale 371  10  

Total Current Assets  32,057  31,651 

Total Assets  112,721  106,604 
Current Liabilities     
Short-term creditors (7,640)  (8,004)  
Provisions (2,046)  (924)  

Total Current Liabilities  (9,686)  (8,928) 

Total Assets less Current 
Liabilities 

 103,035  97,676 

Long Term Liabilities     
PFI Lease Liability > 1 year (8,035)  (8,277)  
Pensions Liability (51,177)  (41,609)  
Capital grants receipts in advance (1,377)  (1,239)  
Investments in Joint Ventures (391)  (271)  

Total Long-term Liabilities  (60,980)  (51,396) 

Net Assets  42,055  46,280 

Financed By:-     
Usable reserves  (19,795)  (19,110) 
Un-usable reserves  (22,651)  (27,441) 
Usable reserves of Joint Ventures  391  271 

Total Net Worth  (42,055)  (46,280) 

161



GROUP ACCOUNTS 
 

88 
 

I certify that the group statements of accounts on pages 84 to 94 present a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2019 and its 
income and expenditure for the year then ended. 
 
 
    
Executive Director Commercialisation: 
 
 
 
 
Date:        31 July 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

162



GROUP ACCOUNTS 
 

89 
 

Group Cash Flow Statement 
 2018-19 2017-18 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Net (surplus) or deficit on the provision of services (1,206)  1,451  

Adjust net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for non-cash movements     
  Depreciation and amortisation (1,301)  (1,157)  
  Impairments and valuations 2,453  (1,055)  
  (Increase)/Decrease in creditors (445)  (229)  
  Increase/(Decrease) in debtors (including interest debtors) (590)  2,128  
  Pension liability (2,443)  (1,895)  
  Carrying amount of non-current assets sold (13)  (94)  
  Other (1,114)  484  
Adjust for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the provision of services 
that are investing and financing activities 

    

  Capital grants credited to the surplus/deficit on the provision of service 1,560  1,495  
  Proceeds from the sale of non-current assets 373  316  
  Other 170  -  

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities  (2,556)  1,444 

Investing Activities     
  Purchase of PPE, Investment property and intangible assets  3,358  1,499 
  Purchase of short and long term investments  183,600  182,090 
  Proceeds from the sale of PPE, Investment property and intangible assets  (348)  (285) 
  Proceeds from short and long term investments  (180,610)  (181,139) 
  Other receipts and payments for investing activities  (2,265)  (2,767) 
Financing Activities     
  Cash payments for the reduction of liabilities relating to PFI contracts  230  218 
  Other receipts/payments for financing activities  1,975  (506) 

Net (Increase)/Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents  3,384  554 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period  7,994  8,548 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period  4,610  7,994 

 
The cash flows from operating activities includes interest received of £827k in 2018-19 (£860k in 2017-18) and interest paid of £566k in 2018-19 (£571k in 
2017-18) and dividends received of nil in 2018-19 (£nil in 2017-18). 
 
 
 

163



GROUP ACCOUNTS 
 

90 
 

Notes to the Group Accounts 
 

Note 1 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

The financial statements within this group accounts section show the group accounts for Breckland Council incorporating Breckland Bridge Ltd.  These have 
been consolidated using the equity method as Breckland Bridge is classified as a Joint Venture.  The equity method means only the Council’s share of the net 
assets or liabilities of the company are included in the group accounts. 
 
Breckland Bridge has one main area of work currently; building houses on Council owned land and selling these houses at market levels (with the option for 
the Council to purchase these houses if a business case supports it).   
 
The Council is a 90% shareholder in Breckland Bridge Ltd and the Land Group (Breckland) Ltd are the remaining 10% shareholder.  Whilst Breckland Council 
is the majority shareholder currently, the decisions of the company are made equally (50/50) by each shareholder and therefore joint control of the company 
exists as a unanimous decision by the two shareholders is required.  There is an option in the shareholder agreement for the 90/10 shareholding to move to 
50/50 at a future date if agreed by all parties. 
Breckland Bridge Ltd is the parent company and consolidated into their accounts are various subsidiary companies all owned 100% by Breckland Bridge Ltd.  
As at 31 March 2019 these subsidiaries were; Breckland Homes (Mileham) Ltd, Breckland Riverside Ltd (which ceased trading on 31 January 2019) and 
Breckland Homes (Attleborough) Ltd (which was dormant at 31 March 2019). 
 
One of the Directors of Breckland Bridge Ltd is an Executive Director of Breckland Council and one Director of Breckland Bridge is a Member of Breckland 
Council.   
 

Note 2 – Accounting Policies 
 
The consolidated financial statements of Breckland Bridge Ltd have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) “The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” and the Companies Act 2006 and have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention.  This is therefore a different basis to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) which the Council’s accounts are produced on.   
Based on the 2018-19 transactions, there are no significant differences in the accounting policies of Breckland Council and Breckland Bridge Ltd that would 
cause a material adjustment in the consolidation of the Group Accounts.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

164



GROUP ACCOUNTS 

91 
 

Note 3 – Summarised Financial Information 
The below is the consolidated income statement and Balance Sheet of Breckland Bridge Ltd. 
 
Income Statement 
 Breckland 

Bridge Ltd 
2018-19 

Breckland 
Council 90% 

2018-19 

Breckland 
Bridge Ltd 

 2017-18 

Breckland 
Council 90% 

2017-18 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
     
Turnover (865) (779) (1,880) (1,692) 
Cost of Sales 778 700 1,445 1,301 

Gross (Profit)/Loss (87) (79) (435) (391) 

Administrative Expenses 160 144 129 116 

Operating (Profit)/Loss 73 65 (306) (275) 

Interest Payable and Similar Charges 59 53 50 45 

(Profit)/Loss on Ordinary Activities Before Taxation 132 118 (256) (230) 

Tax on Ordinary Activities (1) (1) 1 1 

(Profit)/Loss for the Financial Period for the Group 131 117 (255) (229) 

     

Adjust for prior year changes resulting from Audit of Accounts 3 3 133 120 

Adjusted (Profit)/Loss for the Financial Period for the Group 134 120 (122) (109) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

165



GROUP ACCOUNTS 

92 
 

Balance Sheet 
 Breckland 

Bridge Ltd 
2018-19 

Breckland 
Council 90% 

2018-19 

Breckland 
Bridge Ltd 

 2017-18 

Breckland 
Council 90% 

2017-18 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Current Assets     
Work in progress - - 694 624 
Debtors 74 67 65 58 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 45 41 244 220 

 119 108 1,003 902 
Short Term Creditors     
Amounts falling due within one year (70) (63) (877) (789) 

 (70) (63) (877) (789) 
     

Total Assets Less Current Liabilities 49 45 126 113 

Long Term Creditors     
Amounts falling due after more than one year (483) (436) (427) (384) 

 (483) (436) (427) (384) 

     

Net Assets/(Liabilities) (434) (391) (301) (271) 

     
Capital and Reserves     
Retained Earnings (434) (391) (301) (271) 

Shareholders’ Funds (434) (391) (301) (271) 

 

Note 4 – Related Party Transactions 
 
The following loans have been provided to Breckland Bridge Ltd by the Council: 

 Working capital of £270k at an interest rate of 12.5% leaving £434k owed at 31 March 2019 (£384k at 31 March 2018) 

 Mileham shareholder loan of £465k at an interest rate of 10% was fully repaid during the year (£564k owing at 31 March 2018). 
 
Amounts are paid to Breckland Bridge and subsidiary companies for services (such as review of vacant land).  In 2018-19 £4k was paid to Breckland 
Riverside Ltd (£131k in 2017-18) for the construction work for the Thetford Riverside development.  The Council also paid £37k to Breckland Bridge Ltd for 
other services in 2018-19 (£26k in 2017-18).  The Council also paid The Land Group £13k for other services in 2018-19 (such as strategic property advice) 
(£7k in 2017-18).  Breckland Bridge pays the Council for some services (such as Directors fees) and the total paid to the Council was £5k in 2018-19 (£5k in 
2017-18), excluding loan values.  At 31 March 2019 £nil was owed to the Council by these companies (£nil in 2017-18) and the Council did not owe any 
monies to any of these companies (£nil in 2017-18).  

166



GROUP ACCOUNTS 

93 
 

Note 5 – Capital Commitments 
At 31 March 2019 the company had entered into contracts for the construction of Property in future years, the major commitments are: 
 
 Expenditure Approved 

and Contracted 
Expenditure Approved 

not Contracted 
 £’000 £’000 
At 31 March 2019 - - 
At 31 March 2018 £105k - 
 
 

167



APPROVAL OF THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

94 
 

Chairman’s Declaration 

 
I confirm that these accounts were approved by the Governance and Audit Committee at the meeting held on 25 July 2019. 
 
Signed on behalf of Breckland Council: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chairman of the Governance and Audit Committee 
 
Date: 31 July 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

168



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

95 
 

Independent auditor’s report to the Members of Breckland Council 
 

To follow 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

169



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

96 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

170



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

97 
 

 
 
 

171



GLOSSARY 

98 
 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Those principles, conventions, rules and practices applied by the Council that specify how the effects of transactions and other 

events are to be reflected in the financial statements though: 

 Recognising 

 Selecting measurement bases for, and 

 Presenting assets, liabilities, gains and losses and changes to reserves 

ACCRUALS - The concept that income and expenditure are included in the records as they are earned or incurred, not as money is received or paid. 

ACTUARY – An expert on pension scheme assets and liabilities. 

ACTUARIAL GAINS AND LOSSES (RELATES TO IAS 19 - PENSIONS) – For a defined benefit scheme, the changes in actuarial deficits or surpluses that 

arise because: 

 Events have not coincided with the actuarial assumptions made for the last valuation (experience gains and losses) 

 The actuarial assumptions have changed 

AMORTISATION – The writing down in value of intangible assets, which is charged to service revenue accounts to reflect the cost of such assets, used in 

the provision of those services.  This is the equivalent of depreciation for non-current assets. 

ASSET – Something that the Council owns that has monetary value.  Assets are either “current” or “non-current (fixed)” 

AUDIT OF ACCOUNTS – An independent examination of the Council’s accounts to ensure that they comply with the necessary legislation and follow best 
accounting practice.  The Council’s accounts are audited by the Audit Commission. 

BUDGET - A statement of a Council’s plans for revenue and capital expenditure over a specified period of time. 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE - Expenditure on buying or developing major assets, which will be used by the Council for more than a year. For example, 
buildings, computer hardware and significant pieces of equipment. 

CAPITAL GRANT - A grant received towards the capital expenditure incurred on a particular service or project. A local authority can also make capital grants. 

CAPITAL RECEIPTS - Proceeds from the sale of assets, e.g. land and buildings. 

CARRYING VALUE – An accounting measure of value, where the asset is based on the figure in the Balance Sheet.  For assets, the value is based on the 
original cost of the asset less any depreciation, amortization or impairment costs made against the asset. 

CIES – Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement. 

CIPFA – The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, who are the leading professional accountancy body for public services. 

172



GLOSSARY 

99 
 

CODE OF PRACTICE – Sets out proper accounting principles and practices required for the statements of accounts, in accordance with the statutory 
framework for accounts, as established for England and Wales.  The aim is to produce financial statements which “present a true and fair view” of the 
financial position of the Council. 

CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES – A condition which exists at the Balance Sheet date, where the outcome will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events. 

COUNCIL TAX – This is a banded property tax set by local authorities in order to meet their budget requirements.  There are eight bands (Band A to Band 
H), set by the District Valuer according to the value of the property.  The amount each household pays depends on the value of their property. 

CREDITOR - An amount owed by us to someone else for which payment has not been made. 

CURRENT ASSET - An asset where the value may change on a daily basis, e.g. cash balances and debtors. 

CURRENT LIABILITY - An amount which will become payable or could be called in within the next year, e.g. creditor, cash overdrawn. 

DCMS – Department for Culture, Media & Sport. 

DEBT IMPAIRMENT – Outstanding amounts owed to the Council which are highly unlikely to be collected. 

DEBTOR - An amount due to us but not received at the balance sheet date. 

DEPRECIATION - The measure of the wearing out, consumption or other reduction in the useful economic life of an asset, whether arising from use, flow of 
time or obsolescence through technological or other changes. 

EFA – Expenditure and Funding Analysis. 

FAIR VALUE – The fair value of an asset is the price at which it could be exchanged in an “arms length” transaction, less where applicable, any grants 
receivable towards the purchase or use of that asset. 

FINANCE LEASE – A lease which transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset (even though title to the asset may not be 
transferred). 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – Any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another, such as 
trade payables and receivables, borrowings, bank deposits and investments. 

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARD (FRS) – Accounting standards developed by the Accounting Standards Board that are primarily applicable to general 
purpose company accounts. These standards are adopted by the CIPFA Statement of Recommended Practice except where the standards conflict with 
specific statutory requirements. 

GENERAL FUND - The main revenue account of a local authority which summarises the cost of all services provided by the council which are paid for from 
council tax, government grants and other income. 

GOING CONCERN – The accounts have been prepared on the assumption that the Council will continue to provide operational services for the foreseeable 
future. 

173



GLOSSARY 

100 
 

GOVERNMENT GRANTS - Grants by government towards either the revenue or capital cost of local authority services. These may be either in respect of 
particular services or purposes, called specific and supplementary grants, or in aid of local services generally, e.g. revenue support grant. 

HOUSING BENEFITS – A national system for giving financial assistance to individuals towards certain housing costs.  The cost of the service is subsidized 
by central government. 

IMPAIRMENT - Impairment of non-current assets relates to downward revaluation of assets during the year caused by clear consumption of economic 

benefit and is recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

IMPROVEMENT GRANTS - Statutory or discretionary payments that local authorities make to tenants or homeowners to enable them to bring dwellings up to 
modern standards. Also known as Renovation Grants. Disabled Facilities Grants are statutory, and these attract subsidy from the government. 

INFRASTRUCTURE ASSETS – Non-current assets that cannot be transferred to another, expenditure on which is recoverable only by continued use of the 
asset created. Examples of infrastructure assets are highways and footpaths. 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS - An item in a balance sheet where there is no tangible asset but the asset has continuing value to the Council at the Balance Sheet 
date, e.g. computer software licences. 

INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTING STANDARD (IAS) - Accounting standards developed by the International Accounting Standards Board that are primarily 
applicable to general purpose company accounts. These standards are adopted by the CIPFA Code of Practice except where the standards conflict with 
specific statutory requirements. 

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS) – Financial reporting standards developed by the International Accounting Standards 
Board. 

LOCAL ASSET BACKED VEHICLE (LABV) – An entity created with a public sector body and a private sector partner to trade as a separate entity. 

LIABILITY – A liability arises when the Council owes money to others and it must be included in the financial statements. 

MATERIALITY – In using its professional judgment the Council has considered the size and nature of any transaction, or set of transactions.  An item is 
considered to be material where its omission or misstatement would reasonably change the substance of the information presented in the accounts. 

MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION (MRP) - Under the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 there is a requirement to set aside an amount from revenue, 

the MRP, for the repayment of external loans.   

NATIONAL NON DOMESTIC RATES (NNDR) – The rates, payable by businesses on their properties, are calculated by applying a nationally determined 
multiplier to the rateable value of the property. This is collected by the Council and nationally determined proportionate shares are paid to the Government 
and Norfolk County Council with a share retained by Breckland Council. 

NET BOOK VALUE – The value of non-current assets less the accumulated amount of depreciation/amortization. 

NON-CURRENT ASSET - An asset that has value beyond one financial year. 

OPERATING LEASES - Leases under which the ownership of the asset remains with the lessor and consequently are outside the Government's system of 
capital controls. 

174



GLOSSARY 

101 
 

PRECEPT - The method by which a local authority obtains the income it requires from the Collection Fund to meet its net expenditure requirements. 

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS – Those events, both favourable and unfavourable, which occur between the Balance Sheet date and the date on which 
the Statements of Accounts is signed by the responsible person. 

PPE – Property Plant & Equipment 

PRECEPT – The amount that the Council is required to collect from council tax payers to fund another, non tax collecting Authority’s expenditure.  Precepts 
are issued by Norfolk County Council, Norfolk Police Authority, Breckland Council and Parish and Town Councils. 

PRIVATE FINANCE INITIATIVE (PFI) – This is a procurement route established in 1995 and it is an important route for government spending on assets, as it 
transfers significant risks to the private sector.   

PROVISION - An amount set aside in the accounts and charged to individual services for liabilities that are likely to be incurred in the future but cannot be 
accurately quantified. 

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS – Two or more parties are related when at any time during the financial period: 

 One party has direct or indirect control of the other party 

 The parties are subject to common control from the same source 

 One party has influence over the financial and operational policies of the other party to an extent that the other party may be inhibited from pursuing 
its own interests 

The parties, in entering a transaction, are subject to influence from the same source to such an extent that one of the parties to the transaction has 
subordinated its own interests. 

RELEVANCE – The information in the accounts is useful in assessing the Council’s stewardship of public funds and performance. 

RELIABILITY – The information in the accounts is complete, prudently prepared, reflects the substance of transactions and is free from deliberate or 
systematic bias or material error. 

RESERVE - An amount set aside in the accounts for defraying particular expenditure in the future. Unlike provisions, transfers to and from reserves are not 
shown as part of the individual service costs. 

REVENUE EXPENDITURE - The day-to-day running costs than an authority incurs in providing services (as opposed to capital expenditure). 

REVENUE SUPPORT GRANT (RSG) - A general grant paid by the government and credited to the General fund to help finance local authority revenue 
expenditure. 

SERVICE REPORTING CODE OF PRACTICE (SeRCOP) – CIPFA guidance to establish proper practices with regard to consistent financial reporting for 
services. 

 

175



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

102 
 

Scope of Responsibilities 

Breckland Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is 
safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively. Breckland Council also has a duty under the Local Government 
Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness. In discharging this overall responsibility, Breckland Council is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for 
the governance of its affairs, which facilitates the effective exercise of its functions and include arrangements for the management of risk. 
Breckland Council has approved and adopted a code of corporate governance, which is consistent with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework 
Delivering Good Governance in Local Government. A copy of the code is on our website at: 
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/3461/Strategies-Plans-and-Policies- 
The Council’s financial management arrangements conform to the governance requirements of the CIPFA statement on the role of the Chief Financial Officer 
in Local Government.  This statement explains how Breckland Council has complied with the code and also meets the requirements of the Accounts and 
Audit Regulations 2015 in relation to consideration of the findings of a review of the system of internal control and approval and publication of an annual 
governance statement. 
 

The purpose of the governance framework 

The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, and culture and values, by which the authority is directed and controlled and its activities 
through which it accounts to, engages with and leads the community. It enables the authority to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives and to 
consider whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost effective services. 
The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure 
to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal 
control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of Breckland’s policies, aims and objectives, to 
evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.  The 
governance framework has been in place at Breckland Council for the year ended 31

st
 March 2019 and up to the date of approval of the statements of 

accounts. 
 

The governance framework 

Vision and Priorities - Our Vision - “Breckland: a place where people & business can thrive”.  To help us deliver this vision we have consulted widely with 
local people and our partners and listened carefully to what was said. The Corporate Plan 2015-19 reflects the priorities and high level outcomes for the 
Breckland area over a four year period and there is an annual cycle of review of the delivery plan which supports the corporate plan. The corporate plan was 
reviewed and reflects the changing economic environment and the shared management arrangements and is aligned to the four year election cycle.  
 
Quality of Services - The Council has an established Performance Management Strategy which sets out how it monitors both performance and the delivery 
of objectives and risks. The framework for managing performance has been completely reviewed in light of changes to the business planning and shared 
management arrangements, with new performance measures also being developed to reflect the change in central government policy to move away from 
national targets to those that better identify with local requirements.  
 

176

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/3461/Strategies-Plans-and-Policies-


ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

103 
 

Operational Governance - The Council has produced an operational governance document whose purpose is to ensure the senior officers effectively 
manage the business of the Council, this document is reviewed regularly (last reviewed November 2018).  It covers the shared management officer led 
groups/boards which report to the Executive Management Team (EMT) and then through to Corporate Management Team (CMT) as required.  Each 
group/board is supported with agreed terms of reference and the minutes and actions are reviewed by EMT.  EMT manages the business of the Council and 
CMT escalation of corporate level issues risks and decisions. The groups/boards cover a wide range of areas, such as; Finance, Performance Risk and Audit, 
Joint Safeguarding and Transformation to name a few. 
 
Constitution and Responsibilities - A comprehensive document setting out the Council’s constitution exists which sets out the clearly defined structure for 
the Council’s organisational and decision-making arrangements based upon a Cabinet/Executive model. In essence the different roles can be summarised as 
follows: 

o Council decides upon certain policies and other specialist functions that cannot be delegated elsewhere including the setting of the council tax. 
o A limited number of policies are reserved to the Council, either by the Council’s own choice or because they are allocated by law (together these are 

known as the Policy Framework). Subject to any specific legislative requirements, the Cabinet is responsible for all policies which are outside of the 
Policy Framework. 

o For its most significant decisions, the Cabinet works to a Key Decision Plan of forthcoming decisions for up to twelve months ahead. 
o All decisions, along with formal minutes of all committee meetings are published on the Council’s website. 
o The work of the Cabinet and the Council as a whole is supported by an Overview and Scrutiny Commission and its task and finish groups. 
o The Overview and Scrutiny Commission has developed its own work programme for the review of Council services in addition to scrutinising the work 

of the Cabinet. It can ‘call-in’ a decision which has been made by the Executive but not yet implemented. 
o The Governance and Audit Committee is well established, and is responsible for the review of the work of the Internal and External Audit functions 

and provides independent assurance of the effectiveness of governance arrangements, risk management and financial management processes. It 
also has the responsibility for the approval of the Statements of Accounts and review of treasury policy and outturn and to deal with Standards (of 
elected member conduct). 

o Separate committees exist for Planning and Licensing. 
o Delegation arrangements to committees, the Executive and officers are set out in detail within the constitution. 
o Regular meetings take place between relevant senior officers and members of the Council to discuss and propose policy. 

 
The constitution also includes sections on standing orders, financial regulations and conduct of meetings. The constitution as a whole is reviewed periodically 
with interim updates as and when appropriate. A complete review of the constitution was carried out in 2015-16 to ensure that it remains relevant and 
effective. Formal adoption of the revised constitution was made at Full Council in January 2016 and there is a standing item at Full Council for any minor 
updates to be made, to ensure it remains up to date and relevant. 
 
Codes of Conduct - The Council’s constitution contains codes of conduct applying to members as well as a protocol for councillor/officer relationships. 
Officers are also subject to a separate Code of conduct. These have enabled the authority to develop an inclusive culture over the years, whereby members 
and officers work together to deliver the Council’s vision and quality services to its residents. The codes include reference to the need to declare any interests 
which may conflict with the individual’s role at the Council and such registers for councillors and officers are maintained by the Council. The Members Code of 
Conduct was reviewed during 2016-17 and the Officers’ Code of Conduct in 2018. 
 

177



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

104 
 

Complaints - The Council has in place a whistle-blowing policy (reviewed February 2019) as well as a compliments and complaints procedure that ensure 
that any referrals are fully investigated, properly resolved and learning applied to service delivery. Systems and procedures have been enhanced to ensure 
that complaints/service requests are the cornerstone of the Council’s management approach.  
 
Policies, Procedures, Laws and Regulations - The Council’s statutory officers are the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 
Officer. They are responsible for ensuring that the Council acts within the law and in accordance with established policies and procedures. 
  

Head of Paid 
Service 

has responsibility for the discharge by the council of their functions and the appointment, proper management and organisation of the 
Council’s staff. 

Section 151 
Officer 

is specifically responsible for the proper discharge of financial arrangements and must advise the Council where any proposal might be 
unlawful or where expenditure is likely to exceed resources, and to ensure that the authority’s financial management arrangements 
conform to the governance requirements as set out in the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy statement on the Role 
of the Chief Financial Officer (2010). 

Monitoring Officer is responsible for advising the Council if any proposal, decision or omission is likely to give rise to unlawfulness or maladministration as 
well as investigating allegations that a member may have breached the Council’s Code of Conduct. 

 
The statutory officers are also members of the authority’s Corporate Management Team and attend Executive Management Team meetings on a regular 
basis. Service Managers are responsible for ensuring that legislation and policy relating to service delivery and health and safety are implemented in practice. 
 
Development and training needs – Breckland is a learning organisation, both in terms of members and officers. The training budget for staff is centralised 
under Human Resources, and continues to deliver a programme to develop the skills of its workforce. Breckland is committed to investing in the staff and 
maintains the Investors in People standard. This recognises the investment in staff development and ensures that staff are valued and given the opportunities 
to develop and achieve their full potential. We have designed a new appraisal process which focuses on the overall performance throughout the year for 
officers. 
 
Breckland continue to deliver a training and development programme to provide members with the support and skills necessary to assist them in carrying out 
their duties. Personal development plans have been developed, setting out personalised training programmes to meet individual needs for members and 
officers.  
 
Risk Management – The Council’s risk management arrangements are embedded in its Corporate Risk Management Strategy and risk registers and a new 
Risk Policy was adopted during 2018. Breckland has developed its performance system to maintain a register of the key strategic risks it considers it faces 
along with the actions planned or taken to mitigate these risks, which have been monitored by Performance, Risk and Audit Board, Executive Management 
Team and the Governance and Audit Committee on a regular basis. Risk logs are also being used to manage the risks for key projects and partnerships, 
along with other project management techniques, and all key decisions are required to be assessed for risks. All committee reports contain a mandatory risk 
section to ensure that members can consider the risks and opportunities of any recommendations or options, so that the consideration of risk forms an 
integral part of all decision making.  
 

178



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

105 
 

Data Protection – Following the implementation of the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 2016/679 and Data Protection Act 2018 our policies, 
practices and procedures have been updated and continue to be updated to reflect changes and guidance as it is issued.  Data Protection continues to be a 
priority and is being overseen by the Executive Manager for Governance, the Information Governance Officer and a corporate governance group; the 
Statutory Information Group.  Progress is reported to the Executive Management Team on a monthly basis and the Council received ‘Reasonable Assurance’ 
for a GDPR audit in January 2019.  
 
Business Continuity – The Council has developed business continuity plans to ensure that critical service delivery can be maintained or recovered during an 
emergency.    
 
Communication – The Council believes public understanding of its work, achievements and services, coupled with consultation with residents is key to 
maintaining high satisfaction levels. This is achieved through regular communications and consultation activity and upholding the Council's values of 
transparency and openness.  
Breckland regularly publishes information on its website and via a variety of social media channels. Various stakeholder groups are also reached through 
public meetings. The Communications Team also works with the local media to provide information to ensure residents are kept informed.  
 
Partnerships – The Council is involved with a variety of partnerships that have developed over the years and a partnership register is held on the Council’s 
performance system which includes public partners and organisations we work with. To ensure that governance and risk management arrangements are 
effective significant partnerships are continually reviewed through the performance system and risks are included within this review. A partnership framework 
has been adopted to ensure that we maintain a consistent approach when entering into any new partnerships.   
Some examples of our public partners and organisations we work with are: 

o The A47 Alliance is a partnership body which works together to gain funding for the ongoing enhancement and duelling of the A47 through lobbying 
of Government.  

o The Greater Thetford Development Partnership and the Attleborough Development Partnership are bodies which influence growth in and around the 
respective towns ensuring that houses, roads, schools, healthcare and other resources are available at the right time. 

o The New Anglia Local Enterprise Partnership (NALEP) is intended to build growth and skills to the workforce through training and improved 
infrastructure therefore supporting businesses within the District to thrive and prosper. 

o The Norfolk and Suffolk Health and Safety Liaison Group is a body to discuss topical health and safety issues, ensure consistency across Norfolk and 
Suffolk, develop a work plan and provides low cost training to members. The group comprises all Norfolk and Suffolk authorities as well as a 
representative from the Health and Safety Executive. 

 
Some examples of our operational partnership arrangements for service delivery are: 

o The Operational Partnership Team is well established and delivers a reduction in anti-social behaviour in the district year on year. The team 
comprises of officers from the Norfolk Constabulary and Breckland Council, working under a joint management structure and co-located at Breckland 
Council offices.  

o The Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership (ARP) is governed by a Joint Committee and is underpinned by a formal legal agreement. The 
partnership consists of Breckland, Forest Heath, East Cambridgeshire, St Edmundsbury, Fenland, Suffolk Coastal and Waveney district councils. The 
partnership delivers council tax, business rates, housing benefit and enforcement services for the seven councils. 

179



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

106 
 

o Breckland’s shared management arrangement with South Holland District Council has been in place for many years and is well established. Despite 
the commitment to sharing a management team the two Councils continue to exercise independent democratically accountable local government in 
their respective areas, each having its own governance arrangements. A Memorandum of Understanding is in place, and sets out the governance 
arrangements for shared management and joint working.  

 
Group Companies – The Council has joint ownership of a company, Anglia Revenues Partnership Limited, which was formed in 2006 to deliver revenue and 
benefits and enforcement services to local authorities or housing associations and is under the joint ownership of the seven ARP partnership authorities in 
equal shareholdings and voting rights.  The company is currently dormant. 
In April 2015 the Council formed a company, Breckland Bridge Limited, with a private sector partner, Land Group LLP.  The vision of the Company is to “use 
Breckland Council’s property and land assets to make a positive contribution to the regeneration and economic development of the Breckland District”. The 
authority has a 90% shareholding in this company, but control is shared on a 50/50 basis.  The initial business plan period of 4 years is coming to an end and 
there is scope for the company to move to a 50/50 shareholding and control.  Work is underway on the second phase of the shareholding and business plans 
to move to the 50/50 shareholding/control, based on the options within our shareholding agreement. 
  
Transparency – As a Council we want to be publicly accountable and present our work with openness and transparency. As such, the authority routinely 
publishes data on its website in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Transparency Code 2015.  In addition Committee reports, 
minutes and decision records are all available on the website. The Council also applies the principle that everything is publically available unless there is a 
substantial reason for not doing so. 
 

Review of effectiveness 

Breckland Council has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of its governance framework including the system of 
internal control. The review of effectiveness is informed by the work of the executive managers within the authority who have responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of the governance environment, the Head of Internal Audit’s annual report, and also by comments made by the external 
auditors and other review agencies and inspectorates.  
 

The Leader Executive powers vest in the Leader and the Leader has approved delegations to the Cabinet and Executive Members (Portfolio 
Holders).  The Leader exercises executive functions which have not been expressly delegated to Cabinet or the other Executive 
Members. 

The Executive consists of the Leader and Executive Members (Portfolio Holders), who together are the Cabinet and most day to day ‘executive’ 
decisions fall to the Executive under the law. 

Executive and 
Corporate 
Management  

CMT review corporate responsibility, direction and delivery of corporate plan, direction and delivery of resources, horizon scanning 
and key controls. EMT receives regular reports from a variety of governance boards which have been set up to manage corporate 
performance and risk. These boards cover performance and risk, employee relations, safeguarding, health and safety, emergency 
planning, and finance, as well as the statutory officers group. There are a number of other groups covering cross cutting themes and 
specific services. 

Managers have carried out self assessments of the processes and controls they have in place to allow them to achieve their service objectives. 
These are reviewed by Finance to provide assurance that effective controls were in place. 

180



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

107 
 

External Auditors review the Council’s arrangements for: 
o Preparing accounts in compliance with statutory and other relevant requirements 
o Ensuring the proper conduct of financial affairs and monitoring their adequacy and effectiveness in practice 
o Managing performance to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources 

Following the annual audit the external auditor issues an Audit Results Report to the Governance and Audit Committee covering the 
opinion on the financial statements and value for money. The Council takes appropriate action where improvements need to be 
made.  

The Head of Internal 
Audit 

provides an independent opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal control, which is incorporated in the 
Annual Report and Opinion. 

 

The Cabinet is appointed by the Leader and carries out the executive 
functions of the Council as required by legislation and the Council’s 
constitution and accordingly: 

The Overview and Scrutiny Commission may undertake any work relating 
to the four key principles of scrutiny as follows: 

o Hold the Executive to Account (Call-In) 
o Takes executive decisions o Performance Management 
o Approves policies other than those reserved for Council o Assist Policy Development and Review 
o Recommends to Council policies and budgetary decisions o Internal/External Scrutiny 

  
The Council approves and keeps under regular review all the strategic 
policies which it reserves for its own consideration, including: 

The Governance and Audit Committee 
o Considers and approves audit plans 

o The Constitution o Considers audit reports 
o The Corporate Plan  
o The Medium Term Financial Plan and Capital Strategy 

o Comments on the work of audit in addressing the authorities 
significant risks 

o The Licensing Authority Policy Statement 
o The Corporate Asset Management Strategy 
o The Treasury Management and Investment Strategies 

o Satisfies itself that the control and governance arrangements have 
operated effectively by considering audit and risk reports and 
undertaking ad hoc reviews 

o The Gambling Policy 
o Development Plan Documents 

o Annually self-assess themselves against best practice guidance to 
check their effectiveness 

 o Approves the Statements of Accounts 
 o Reviews treasury policy and performance 
 o Considers standards issues 

 
Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 
This report was presented to Governance and Audit Committee on 5 June 2019 and concluded that, based on the work undertaken, the overall opinion in 
relation to the Council’s framework of governance, risk management and controls for the year ended 31st March 2019 is considered to be reasonable 
assurance (positive).  It is important to recognize that the specific areas of; accounts payable, key controls and assurance, service desk and ARP 
enforcement received a substantial assurance. 

181



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

108 
 

We have been advised on the implications of the result of the review of the effectiveness of the governance framework by the Governance and Audit 
Committee and that the arrangements continue to be regarded as fit for purpose in accordance with the governance framework.  Any areas to be specifically 
addressed with new actions are detailed within the Annual Report and Opinion which can be found on our website at 
https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=468&MId=4473&Ver=4 (ref. 30/19).   
A total of 10 urgent recommendations have been raised and five remain overdue at the end of 2018-19, however it is important to note that positive 
assurance gradings given throughout the year significantly outweigh negative. A total of 10 assurance reports were reasonable (positive) and 4 substantial 
(positive) out of a possible 17 reviews.  The 3 areas which received a limited (negative) assurance were; Housing Needs, Procurement & Contract 
Management and Payroll & HR.  With the exception of Payroll and HR, key financial system audits all concluded with positive opinions.  With this taken into 
account a reasonable governance, risk management a control framework is indicated.   

The Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion (which can be viewed at the above link) provides full details relating to risks and control weaknesses that were 
identified during 2018-19 internal audit reports, the areas with the remaining five outstanding urgent recommendations are:  

The Housing Needs review concluded with four priority one recommendations with one of these now being confirmed as complete. The remaining three are 
now overdue and scheduled for completion by June 2019. They relate to undertaking a review of legacy rent accounts, regularly monitoring tenant temporary 
accommodation and regularly checking temporary accommodation rent accounts. A further eight priority two recommendations were raised, one of which is 
now complete the remaining seven are within deadline.  

The following historic recommendations remain overdue at the end of 2018-19. A total of three urgent priority findings were raised in the 2017-18 Private 
Sector Housing review, two of which remain outstanding. These relate to documenting licence conditions and fire risk assessments. We understand that 
additional resources are being recruited and records are being updated on the enforcement system. A review of this area is scheduled for quarter two 2019-
20 and until such time that the action is complete we feel it prudent to ensure reference to this is included in the Annual Governance Statement. 

Significant governance issues 

There are no significant governance issues to raise for the year ended 31
st
 March 2019.   

 
Certification 
We are satisfied that appropriate arrangements are in place to address improvements identified in our review of effectiveness. Progress on these 
improvements and on addressing mitigating risks will be monitored quarterly by the Performance, Risk and Audit Board in conjunction with EMT. 
 
 
 
                                                 
 
Chief Executive:        Leader of the Council: 
                                    
Dated:           Dated:  

182

https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=468&MId=4473&Ver=4


contactus@breckland.gov.uk
Breckland Council Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, Norfolk NR19 1EE

Telephone: 01362 656870 www.breckland.gov.uk

Mark Hodgson
Associate Partner
Ernst & Young LLP
One Cambridge Business Park
Cambridge
CB4 0WZ

Your Ref:
Our Ref:
Contact: Christine Marshall
Direct Dial: 01362 656870
E-mail: christine.marshall@breckland-
sholland.gov.uk
Date: 31 July 2019

This letter of representations is provided in connection with your audit of the consolidated and 
council financial statements of Breckland Council (“the Group and Council”) for the year ended 31 
March 2019.  

We recognise that obtaining representations from us concerning the information contained in this 
letter is a significant procedure in enabling you to form an opinion as to whether the consolidated 
and council financial statements give a true and fair view of the Group and Council financial 
position of Breckland Council as of 31 March 2019 and of its financial performance (or operations) 
and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with, for the Group and Council CIPFA 
LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19.

We understand that the purpose of your audit of our consolidated and council financial statements 
is to express an opinion thereon and that your audit was conducted in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing, which involves an examination of the accounting system, 
internal control and related data to the extent you considered necessary in the circumstances, and 
is not designed to identify - nor necessarily be expected to disclose - all fraud, shortages, errors 
and other irregularities, should any exist.

Accordingly, we make the following representations, which are true to the best of our knowledge 
and belief, having made such inquiries as we considered necessary for the purpose of 
appropriately informing ourselves: 

A. Financial Statements and Financial Records 

1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities, under the relevant statutory authorities, for the 
preparation of the financial statements in accordance with, for the Group and Council, the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 and CIPFA LASAAC Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19. 

2. We acknowledge, as members of management of the Group and Council, our responsibility for 
the fair presentation of the consolidated and council financial statements.  We believe the 
consolidated and council financial statements referred to above give a true and fair view of the 
financial position, financial performance (or results of operations) and cash flows of the Group 
in accordance with the CIPFA LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom 2018/19 and are free of material misstatements, including omissions. We 
have approved the consolidated and council financial statements.

3. The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Group and Council 
financial statements are appropriately described in the Group and Council financial 
statements.

183



contactus@breckland.gov.uk
Breckland Council Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, Norfolk NR19 1EE

Telephone: 01362 656870 www.breckland.gov.uk

4. As members of management of the Group and Council, we believe that the Group and Council 
have a system of internal controls adequate to enable the preparation of accurate financial 
statements in accordance with the CIPFA LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19 for the Group and Council that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

5. There are no unadjusted audit differences identified during the current audit and pertaining to 
the latest period presented.

B. Non-compliance with law and regulations, including fraud 

1. We acknowledge that we are responsible to determine that the Group and Council’s activities 
are conducted in accordance with laws and regulations and that we are responsible to identify 
and address any non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations, including fraud.

2. We acknowledge that we are responsible for the design, implementation and maintenance of 
internal controls to prevent and detect fraud. 

3. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the consolidated and 
Council financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.

4. We have no knowledge of any identified or suspected non-compliance with laws or regulations, 
including fraud that may have affected the Group or Council (regardless of the source or form 
and including without limitation, any allegations by “whistleblowers”), including non-compliance 
matters:

 involving financial statements;

 related to laws and regulations that have a direct effect on the determination of material 
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated or Council’s financial statements;

 related to laws and regulations that have an indirect effect on amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements, but compliance with which may be fundamental to the 
operations of the Group or Council’s activities, its ability to continue to operate, or to 
avoid material penalties;

 involving management, or employees who have significant roles in internal controls, or 
others; or 

 in relation to any allegations of fraud, suspected fraud or other non-compliance with 
laws and regulations communicated by employees, former employees, analysts, 
regulators or others.

C. Information Provided and Completeness of Information and Transactions

1. We have provided you with:

 Access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the 
financial statements such as records, documentation and other matters;

 Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit; and

 Unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom you determined it necessary 
to obtain audit evidence.

2. All material transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the 
consolidated and council financial statements.

184



contactus@breckland.gov.uk
Breckland Council Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, Norfolk NR19 1EE

Telephone: 01362 656870 www.breckland.gov.uk

3. We have made available to you all minutes of the meetings of the Group, Council, and 
committees (or summaries of actions of recent meetings for which minutes have not yet been 
prepared) held through the year to the most recent meeting on the following date: 25 July 
2019.  

4. We confirm the completeness of information provided regarding the identification of related 
parties. We have disclosed to you the identity of the Group and Council’s related parties and 
all related party relationships and transactions of which we are aware, including sales, 
purchases, loans, transfers of assets, liabilities and services, leasing arrangements, 
guarantees, non-monetary transactions and transactions for no consideration for the year 
ended, as well as related balances due to or from such parties at the year end.  These 
transactions have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in the consolidated and 
council financial statements.

5. We believe that the significant assumptions we used in making accounting estimates, 
including those measured at fair value, are reasonable.

6. We have disclosed to you, and the Group and Council has complied with, all aspects of 
contractual agreements that could have a material effect on the consolidated and council 
financial statements in the event of non-compliance, including all covenants, conditions or 
other requirements of all outstanding debt.

D. Liabilities and Contingencies

1. All liabilities and contingencies, including those associated with guarantees, whether written or 
oral, have been disclosed to you and are appropriately reflected in the consolidated and 
council financial statements.  

2. We have informed you of all outstanding and possible litigation and claims, whether or not they 
have been discussed with legal counsel.

3. We have recorded and/or disclosed, as appropriate, all liabilities related litigation and claims, 
both actual and contingent, and have disclosed in the consolidated and council financial 
statements all guarantees that we have given to third parties.

E. Subsequent Events 

1. Other than that described in the relevant notes to the consolidated and council financial 
statements, there have been no events subsequent to year end which require adjustment of or 
disclosure in the consolidated and council financial statements or notes thereto. 

F. Group audits

1. There are no significant restrictions on our ability to distribute the retained profits of the Group 
because of statutory, contractual, exchange control or other restrictions other than those 
indicated in the Group financial statements.

2. Necessary adjustments have been made to eliminate all material intra-group unrealized profits 
on transactions amongst council, subsidiary undertakings and associated undertakings.

3. We confirm that entities excluded from the consolidated financial statements are immaterial on 
a quantitative and qualitative basis. 

G. Other information

1. We acknowledge our responsibility for the preparation of the other information. The other 
information comprises the Narrative Statement and glossary of terms included in the Breckland 
Council Statement of Accounts 2018/19.

185



contactus@breckland.gov.uk
Breckland Council Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, Norfolk NR19 1EE

Telephone: 01362 656870 www.breckland.gov.uk

2. We confirm that the content contained within the other information is consistent with the 
consolidated and council financial statements.

H. Going Concern

1. We have made you aware of any issues that are relevant to the Group and Council’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, including significant conditions and events, our plans for future 
action, and the feasibility of those plans.

I. Ownership of Assets

1. Except for assets capitalised under finance leases, the Group and Council has satisfactory title 
to all assets appearing in the balance sheets, and there are no liens or encumbrances on the 
Group and Council’s assets, nor has any asset been pledged as collateral. All assets to which 
the Group and Council has satisfactory title appear in the balance sheets.

J. Reserves

1. We have properly recorded or disclosed in the consolidated and council financial statements 
the useable and unusable reserves. 

K. Use of the Work of a Specialist – Property, Plant and Equipment

1. We agree with the findings of the specialists that we engaged to evaluate the Valuation of 
Property, Plant and Equipment and have adequately considered the qualifications of the 
specialists in determining the amounts and disclosures included in the consolidated and council 
financial statements and the underlying accounting records. We did not give or cause any 
instructions to be given to the specialists with respect to the values or amounts derived in an 
attempt to bias their work, and we are not otherwise aware of any matters that have had an 
effect on the independence or objectivity of the specialists.

L. Valuation of Property, Plant and Equipment Assets

1. We believe that the measurement processes, including related assumptions and models, used 
to determine the accounting estimate(s) have been consistently applied and are appropriate in 
the context of the CIPFA LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom 2018/19.

2. We confirm that the significant assumptions used in making the valuation of assets 
appropriately reflect our intent and ability to carry out specific courses of action on behalf of the 
entity.

3. We confirm that the disclosures made in the consolidated and council financial statements with 
respect to the accounting estimate(s) are complete and made in accordance with the CIPFA 
LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19.

4. We confirm that no adjustments are required to the accounting estimate(s) and disclosures in 
the consolidated and council financial statements due to subsequent events.

5. We confirm that we have performed a desktop review of all assets not subject to revaluation as 
part of the 5 year rolling programme for valuations and that each asset category is not 
materially misstated. 

6. We confirm that for assets carried at historic cost, that no impairment is required.

186



contactus@breckland.gov.uk
Breckland Council Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, Norfolk NR19 1EE

Telephone: 01362 656870 www.breckland.gov.uk

M. Retirement benefits

1. On the basis of the process established by us and having made appropriate enquiries, we are 
satisfied that the actuarial assumptions underlying the scheme liabilities are consistent with our 
knowledge of the business. All significant retirement benefits and all settlements and 
curtailments have been identified and properly accounted for.

N. Use of the Work of a Specialist – Pension Liabilities

1. We agree with the findings of the specialists that we engaged to evaluate the Valuation of 
Pension Liabilities and have adequately considered the qualifications of the specialists in 
determining the amounts and disclosures included in the consolidated and council financial 
statements and the underlying accounting records. We did not give or cause any instructions to 
be given to the specialists with respect to the values or amounts derived in an attempt to bias 
their work, and we are not otherwise aware of any matters that have had an effect on the 
independence or objectivity of the specialists.

O. Valuation of Pension Liabilities

1. We believe that the measurement processes, including related assumptions and models, we 
used to determine the accounting estimates have been consistently applied and are 
appropriate in the context of the CIPFA LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19.

2. We confirm that the significant assumptions used in making the valuation of the pension liability 
appropriately reflect our intent and ability to carry out specific courses of action on behalf of the 
entity.

3. We confirm that the disclosures made in the consolidated and council financial statements with 
respect to the accounting estimate(s) are complete and made in accordance with the CIPFA 
LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19.

4. We confirm that no adjustments are required to the accounting estimate(s) and disclosures in 
the consolidated and council financial statements due to subsequent events.

P. Expenditure Funding Analysis

1. We confirm that the financial statements reflect the operating segments reported 
internally to the Council. 

 Yours sincerely, 

_______________________
(Executive Director Commercialisation)

_______________________
(Chairman of the Governance and Audit Committee) 

187



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation & S151

To: Governance and Audit Committee, 25 July 2019

Author: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation & S151

Subject: Annual Report on the Treasury Management Service and Actual Prudential 
Indicators 2018/19

Purpose: The Council is required through regulations issued under the Local 
Government Act 2003 to produce an annual treasury report reviewing 
treasury management activities and the actual prudential and treasury 
indicators for 2018/19. This report meets the requirements of both the 
CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the Code) and the CIPFA 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential 
Code).

Recommendation(s): 

1) To note the Treasury Management stewardship report for 2018/19 at Appendix B and 
      Appendix C

Recommend to Full Council:
2) To approve the actual 2018/19 prudential indictors within this report.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 During 2018/19 the minimum reporting requirements were that Governance and Audit 
Committee should receive the following reports:

 An annual treasury strategy in advance of the year (Governance and Audit 
Committee 16th February 2018)

 A mid year (minimum) treasury update report (Governance and Audit 
Committee14th December 2018)

 An annual review following the end of the year describing the activity compared to 
the strategy (this report)

The regulatory environment places responsibility on Members for the review and scrutiny of 
treasury management policy and activities.  This report is therefore important in that 
respect, as it provides details of the outturn position for treasury activities and highlights 
compliance with the Council’s policies previously approved by Members.

To support Members scrutiny role, Member training on treasury management takes place 
annually.  However, as reported to Governance and Audit committee 15th February 2019, 
training has been delayed until after the elections in May.  

An update from Link Asset Services, the Councils Treasury Management Advisors, on the 
economy and interest rates is attached at Appendix A, for information purposes.

As reported to Governance and Audit Committee 14th December 2018 and 15th February 
2019, new guidance was implemented in 2018/19 effective in full from 1st April 2019.  The 

188

Agenda Item 11



Council’s Treasury Management Policies and Prudential Indicators have been more closely 
aligned to the Council’s Capital strategy and have been amended to include both a 
definition of and a schedule of financial and non-financial investments.  New indicators have 
been added to the Treasury Management Strategy for 19/20 to ensure the same robust 
procedures for the consideration of risk and return are applied to both financial and non-
financial investments.  As these indicators are new for 19/20, they are not covered in this 
outturn report but will be included in future reports to Governance and Audit Committee.  

2.0   OVERALL TREASURY POSITION AT 31ST MARCH 2019

During 2018/19, the Council complied with its legislative and regulatory requirements.  The 
key actual prudential and treasury indicators detailing the impact of capital expenditure 
activities during the year, with comparators, are as follows:

Actual prudential and treasury 
indicators

2017/18
Actual
£’000

2018/19
Estimate

£’000

2018/19
Actual
£’000

Actual capital expenditure 3,138 8,352 5,031

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR): Nil Nil Nil
Net borrowing Nil Nil Nil

External debt Nil Nil Nil
Investments

 Longer than 1 year
 Under 1 year
 Total

      5
23,968
23,973

        27
23,379
23,406

NB: The 18/19 investments total excludes loans to Breckland Bridge which fall outside of 
the treasury reporting requirement.  However, no capital loans were outstanding at 
31/3/2019. These loans enhance the Council’s investment return.  (Further details are 
shown in Appendix B).

Other prudential and treasury indicators can be found at Appendix B.  The Executive 
Director Commercialisation also confirms that no borrowing was undertaken for a capital 
purpose and the statutory borrowing limit (the authorised limit) was not breached.

The financial year 2018/19 continued the challenging investment environment of previous 
years; low investment returns and higher levels of counterparty risk.  
At 31 March 2019, the Council’s external debt was Nil (Nil at 31 March 2018) and its 
investments totalled £23,406k (£23,973k at 31 March 2018).  

A copy of the 2018/19 treasury performance report is shown at Appendix C for information.

3.0  OPTIONS

3.1      Recommend to Full Council to approve the actual 2018/19 prudential indicators within the 
report and note the treasury management stewardship report for 2018/19. 

3.2      Make changes before recommending to Full Council to approve the actual 2018/19 
           prudential indicators within the report and note the treasury management stewardship report 

for 2018/19 as presented and make changes.

4.0  REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

189



4.1     To meet the requirements of both the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management and 
the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities.

5.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

5.1      The Council is required through regulation to report the outturn position for last year. By 
approving the outturn report, this will ensure the Council has confirmed compliance with 
regulations and has identified the starting position for treasury activity in the forthcoming 
year.

 
6.0  IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

6.1 Constitutional & Legal
6.1.1    Local Government Act 2003

6.2       Financial
6.2.1    This is a report required by regulation and is financial in nature

6.3       Risk Management
6.3.1    Risks are included in the report and appendices

7.0       WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED
7.1       N/A

8.0 ACRONYMS
8.1 CIPFA – Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy
8.2 CFR – Capital Financing Requirement
8.3 MHCLG – Ministry for Housing, Communities & Local Government
8.4 LIBID – London Interbank Bid rate
8.5 MRP – Minimum Revenue Provision
8.6 PFI – Public Finance Initiative

Background papers:-None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Margaret Bailey, Senior Accountant Capital & Treasury
Telephone Number: 01362 656218
Email: Margaret.bailey@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No
Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

190



Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A – The economy and interest rates
Appendix B – Annual Report on the Treasury Management Service 2018/19 (Incorporating Outturn 
Prudential Indicators)
Appendix C - March 2019 Treasury Performance Report

191



Appendix A

The Economy and Interest Rates (Link Asset Services narrative) (March 2019)

GLOBAL OUTLOOK.  World growth has been doing reasonably well, aided by strong growth in the US.  
However, US growth is likely to fall back in 2019 and, together with weakening economic activity in China 
and the eurozone, overall world growth is likely to weaken.

Inflation concerns started building in the UK in 2018 due to  unemployment falling to remarkably low 
levels which led to an acceleration of wage inflation. The US Fed continued to take action to contain 
potential inflationary pressures in 2018 and has therefore increased rates nine times during the current 
series, whereas the Bank of England has raised rates twice.  However, the ECB is now probably unlikely 
to make a start on raising rates in 2019.  

KEY RISKS - central bank monetary policy measures
Looking back on more than ten years since the financial crash of 2008 when liquidity suddenly dried up in 
financial markets, it can be assessed that central banks’ monetary policy measures to counter the sharp 
world recession were successful. The key monetary policy measures they used were a combination of 
lowering central interest rates and flooding financial markets with liquidity, particularly through 
unconventional means such as quantitative easing (QE), where central banks bought large amounts of 
central government debt and smaller sums of other debt.

The key issue now is that that period of urgent emphasis on stimulating economic recovery and warding 
off the threat of deflation, is generally coming towards its close, though the major economies in the 
developed world are at different parts of the economic cycle. A new period is well advanced in the US, 
and started more recently in the UK, of reversing those measures i.e. by raising central rates and, (for the 
US), also reducing central banks’ holdings of government and other debt. These measures are now 
required in order to stop the trend of a reduction in spare capacity in the economy and of unemployment 
falling to such low levels, that the re-emergence of inflation is viewed as a significant risk. It is, therefore, 
crucial that central banks get their timing right and do not cause shocks to market expectations that could 
destabilise financial markets. In particular, a key risk is that because QE-driven purchases of bonds drove 
up the price of government debt, and therefore caused a sharp drop in income yields, this also 
encouraged investors into a search for yield and into investing in riskier assets such as equities. 
Consequently, prices in both bond and equity markets rose to historically high valuation levels 
simultaneously. This meant that both asset categories were exposed to the risk of a sharp downward 
correction and we did, indeed, see a sharp fall in equity values in the last quarter of 2018 and into early 
2019, which has since been partially reversed. It is important, therefore, that central banks only gradually 
unwind their holdings of bonds in order to prevent destabilising the financial markets. It is also likely that 
the timeframe for central banks unwinding their holdings of QE debt purchases will be over several years. 
They need to balance their timing to neither squash economic recovery, by taking too rapid and too 
strong action, or, conversely, let inflation run away by taking action that was too slow and/or too weak. 
The potential for central banks to get this timing and strength of action wrong are now key risks.  
It is particularly notable that, at its 30 January 2019 meeting, the Fed dropped its previous words around 
expecting further increases in interest rates; it merely said it would be “patient”. 

The world economy also needed to adjust to a sharp change in liquidity creation over the last five years 
where the US moved from boosting liquidity by QE purchases, to reducing its holdings of debt by up to  
$50bn per month.  In addition, the European Central Bank ended its QE purchases in December 2018. 

UK. 2018 was a year which started with weak growth of only 0.1% in quarter 1.  However, quarter 2 
rebounded to 0.4% in quarter 2 followed by quarter 3 being exceptionally strong at +0.6%.  Quarter 4 
though, was depressed by the cumulative weight of Brexit uncertainty and came in at only +0.2%, (1.3% 
y/y).  Growth is likely to continue being weak until the Brexit fog clears.

192



The MPC has stated that future Bank Rate increases would be gradual and would rise to a much lower 
equilibrium rate, (where monetary policy is neither expansionary nor contractionary), than before the 
crash; indeed they have given a figure for this of around 2.5% in ten years’ time but have declined to give 
a medium term forecast. However, with so much uncertainty around Brexit, the next move could be up or 
down, even if there was a disorderly Brexit. While it would be expected that Bank Rate could be cut if 
there was a significant fall in GDP growth as a result of a disorderly Brexit, so as to provide a stimulus to 
growth, the MPC could also raise Bank Rate in the same scenario if there was a boost to inflation from 
increases in import prices, devaluation of sterling, and more expensive goods produced in the UK 
replacing cheaper goods previously imported, and so on. In addition, the Chancellor could provide fiscal 
stimulus to boost growth.

Inflation.  The Consumer Price Index (CPI) measure of inflation has been falling from a peak of 3.1% in 
November 2017 to reach 1.8% in January 2019. It then ticked up to 1.9% in February.  In the February 
Bank of England quarterly Inflation Report, inflation was forecast to still be marginally above its 2% 
inflation target two years ahead given a scenario of minimal increases in Bank Rate. 

The labour market figures in the three months to January  were particularly strong with an emphatic 
increase in total employment of  222,000 over the previous three months, unemployment at 3.9%, a 43 
year low on the Independent Labour Organisation measure, and job vacancies continuing near to an all-
time high, indicating that employers are having major difficulties filling job vacancies with suitable staff.  It 
was therefore unsurprising that wage inflation held steady at its high point of 3.4%, (3 month average 
regular pay, excluding bonuses). This means that in real terms, (i.e. wage rates less CPI inflation), 
earnings are currently growing by about 1.5%, the highest level since 2009. This increase in household 
spending power is likely to feed through into providing some support to the overall rate of economic 
growth in the coming months. This tends to confirm that the MPC was right to start on a cautious increase 
in Bank Rate in August 2018 as it views wage inflation in excess of 3% as increasing inflationary 
pressures within the UK economy.   

Brexit. The Brexit deal put forward by the Conservative minority government was defeated in a vote in 
the House of Commons on 15 January and its motions were again defeated on 14 and 27 February. In 
the week beginning 10 March, MPs rejected Mrs May’s deal a second time, rejected a no deal, and voted 
to delay Brexit from 29 March. It is currently expected that in the week beginning 25 March, MPs will hold 
indicative votes on a number of options so as to ascertain if there is a majority for one way forward; this is 
likely to focus on a Norway, or Norway plus, soft Brexit where the UK remains closely aligned with the EU 
on trade.  Such an option would mean that no back stop would be needed for the Northern Ireland 
border. However, this potential outcome could also be the final straw that pushes hard Brexiteers to drop 
their opposition to the deal if a third meaningful vote is taken on it. The four main options remain 
unchanged: -

 Deal approved in a third vote: UK leaves EU on 22 May (i.e. before the EU elections on 23 
May)

 No deal: UK leaves EU on 12 April
 No Brexit – revoke Article 50
 Another delay for a long (possibly one-year?) period – period to be agreed with the EU.  UK 

would need to participate in the May EU elections to elect British MEPs.

Our central position is that the Government will prevail, despite various setbacks, along the route to 
reaching an orderly Brexit. UK economic growth is likely to be lethargic until a deal is agreed but growth 
could then pick up as businesses return to investing once the Brexit fog clears. This, in turn, could cause 
the MPC to raise rates quicker than currently forecast. On the other hand, a long delay to Brexit could 
also cause the MPC to take some action to raise Bank Rate as wage inflation is currently a cause for 
some concern.  If, however, the UK faces a general election in the next 12 months, this could result in a 
potential loosening of monetary and fiscal policy and therefore medium to longer dated gilt yields could 
rise on the expectation of a weak pound and concerns around inflation picking up.

193



USA.  President Trump’s massive easing of fiscal policy has fuelled a temporary boost in consumption 
during 2018 and caused  an upturn in the rate of strong growth from 2.2% (annualised rate) in quarter 1 
to 4.2% in quarter 2, and 3.4%, in quarter 3, followed by a tailing off  to 2.6% in quarter 4.  This left the 
overall growth rate for 2018 at 2.9%, which was the best performance since 2015.  However, forward 
indicators are headed downwards, confirming that the stimulus looks likely to have only caused a 
temporary spurt of exceptionally strong growth.  The strong growth in employment numbers over the last 
year and an unemployment rate of 3.8%, a recent 49 year low, has fed through to an upturn in wage 
inflation which hit 3.4% in February. However, CPI inflation overall fell to 1.6% in January and looks to be 
on a falling trend to continue below the Fed’s target of 2% during 2019. 

The Fed continued on its series of increases in interest rates with another 0.25% increase in December 
to between 2.25% and 2.50%, which was the fifth increase in 2018 and the ninth in this cycle.  However, 
they dropped any specific reference to expecting further increases at their January 30 meeting.  The last 
increase in December compounded investor fears that the Fed could overdo the speed and level of 
increases in rates in 2019 and so cause a US recession as a result.  There is also much evidence in 
previous monetary policy cycles of the Fed’s series of increases doing exactly that.  Consequently, we 
saw stock markets around the world falling under the weight of fears around the Fed’s actions, the trade 
war between the US and China and an expectation that world growth will slow. Since the more 
reassuring words of the Fed at their January meeting, equity values have rebounded on a return of 
investor confidence and positive news on progress in the US – China tariff talks, which appear to be 
heading towards a positive resolution. The Fed caught up with investor concerns at its March 19 meeting 
when it announced that it would halt its balance sheet run down in September 2019 and also cut the pace 
of monthly redemptions from up to $30bn to $15bn per month from May 2019. This measure would 
provide support to economic growth by putting some upward pressure on the price of Treasuries i.e. 
lowering Treasury yields and therefore interest rates in financial markets.

Eurozone.  Growth was 0.4% in quarters 1 and 2 but fell back to 0.2% in quarters 3 and 4 (1.2% y/y).  
Germany only narrowly avoided slipping into recession in quarter 4 whereas Italy did slip into recession.  
The trend of economic statistics is now indicating that growth is likely to weaken further in 2019.  Having 
halved its quantitative easing purchases of debt in October 2018 to €15bn per month, the European 
Central Bank ended all further purchases in December 2018. In its January meeting, it made a point of 
underlining that it will be fully reinvesting all maturing debt for an extended period of time past the date at 
which it starts raising the key ECB interest rates. Then in its March meeting, the ECB took action to 
counter the downturn in growth by announcing an economic stimulus measure via a third round of 
TLTRO1s, a policy measure which enables banks to borrow cheaply from the ECB with a two year 
maturity. Such loans will be capped at 30% of eligible loans and will be issued every three months from 
September 2019 until March 2021. The ECB also downgraded its growth forecasts for the EZ from 1.7% 
to only 1.1% in 2019, It also cut its forecasts for core CPI inflation to 1.2% for 2019, 1.4% in 2020 and 
1.6% in 2021, i.e. comfortably within its target range of 0 to 2%. 

China. Economic growth has been weakening over successive years, despite repeated rounds of central 
bank stimulus; medium term risks are increasing. Major progress still needs to be made to eliminate 
excess industrial capacity and the stock of unsold property, and to address the level of non-performing 
loans in the banking and credit systems. Progress has been made in reducing the rate of credit creation, 
particularly from the shadow banking sector, which is feeding through into lower economic growth. There 
are concerns that official economic statistics are inflating the published rate of growth.

Japan - has been struggling to stimulate consistent significant GDP growth and to get inflation up to its 
target of 2%, despite huge monetary and fiscal stimulus. It is also making little progress on fundamental 
reform of the economy. It is likely that loose monetary policy will endure for some years yet to try to 
stimulate growth and modest inflation.

1 TLTRO = Targeted Longer-Term Refinancing Operation

194



Emerging countries. Argentina and Turkey are currently experiencing major headwinds 
and are facing challenges in external financing requirements well in excess of their reserves of foreign 
exchange. However, these countries are small in terms of the overall world economy, (around 1% each), 
so the fallout from the expected recessions in these countries will be minimal.

INTEREST RATE FORECASTS
Interest rate forecasts provided by Link Asset Services are predicated on an assumption of an 
agreement being reached on Brexit between the UK and the EU.  On this basis, while GDP growth is 
likely to be subdued in 2019 due to all the uncertainties around Brexit depressing consumer and business 
confidence, an agreement is likely to lead to a boost to the rate of growth in subsequent years  which 
could, in turn, increase inflationary pressures in the economy and so cause the Bank of England to 
resume a series of gentle increases in Bank Rate.  Just how fast, and how far, those increases will occur 
and rise to, will be data dependent. The forecasts in this report assume a modest recovery in the rate and 
timing of stronger growth and in the corresponding response by the Bank in raising rates.

 In the event of an orderly non-agreement exit, it is likely that the Bank of England would 
take action to cut Bank Rate from 0.75% in order to help economic growth deal with the 
adverse effects of this situation. This is also likely to cause short to medium term gilt yields 
to fall. 

 If there was a disorderly Brexit, then any cut in Bank Rate would be likely to last for a 
longer period and also depress short and medium gilt yields correspondingly. Quantitative 
easing could also be restarted by the Bank of England. It is also possible that the 
government could act to protect economic growth by implementing fiscal stimulus. 

However, there would appear to be a majority consensus in the Commons against any form of non-
agreement exit so the chance of this occurring has now diminished.

The balance of risks to the UK
 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably neutral.
 The balance of risks to increases in Bank Rate and shorter term PWLB rates, are probably 

also even and are broadly dependent on how strong GDP growth turns out, how slowly 
inflation pressures subside, and how quickly the Brexit negotiations move forward positively. 

One risk that is both an upside and downside risk, is that all central banks are now working in very 
different economic conditions than before the 2008 financial crash as  there has been a major 
increase in consumer and other debt due to the exceptionally low levels of borrowing rates that 
have prevailed for ten years since 2008. This means that the neutral rate of interest in an economy, 
(i.e. the rate that is neither expansionary nor deflationary), is difficult to determine definitively in this 
new environment, although central banks have made statements that they expect it to be much 
lower than before 2008. Central banks could therefore either over or under do increases in central 
interest rates.

Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently include: 
 Brexit – if it were to cause significant economic disruption and a major downturn in the rate 

of growth.

 Bank of England takes action too quickly, or too far, over the next three years to raise Bank 
Rate and causes UK economic growth, and increases in inflation, to be weaker than we 
currently anticipate. 

 A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis, possibly Italy, due to its high level of 
government debt, low rate of economic growth and vulnerable banking system, and due to 
the election in March 2018 of a government which has made a lot of anti-austerity noise.  
The EU rejected the original proposed Italian budget and demanded cuts in government 
spending. The Italian government nominally complied with this rebuttal – but only by 
delaying into a later year the planned increases in expenditure.  This particular can has 
therefore only been kicked down the road. The rating agencies have downgraded Italian 

195



debt to one notch above junk level.  If Italian debt were to fall below investment grade, many 
investors would be unable to hold Italian debt.  Unsurprisingly, investors are becoming 
increasingly concerned by the actions of the Italian government and consequently, Italian 
bond yields have risen sharply – at a time when the government faces having to refinance 
large amounts of debt maturing in 2019. 

 Weak capitalisation of some European banks. Italian banks are particularly vulnerable; one 
factor is that they hold a high level of Italian government debt - debt which is falling in value.  
This is therefore undermining their capital ratios and raises the question of whether they will 
need to raise fresh capital to plug the gap.

 German minority government.  In the German general election of September 2017, Angela 
Merkel’s CDU party was left in a vulnerable minority position dependent on the fractious 
support of the SPD party, as a result of the rise in popularity of the anti-immigration AfD 
party. Then in October 2018, the results of the Bavarian and Hesse state elections radically 
undermined the SPD party and showed a sharp fall in support for the CDU. As a result, the 
SPD had a major internal debate as to whether it could continue to support a coalition that is 
so damaging to its electoral popularity. After the result of the Hesse state election, Angela 
Merkel announced that she would not stand for re-election as CDU party leader at her 
party’s convention in December 2018. However, this makes little practical difference as she 
has continued as Chancellor. However, there are five more state elections coming up in 
2019 and EU parliamentary elections in May/June; these could result in a further loss of 
electoral support for both the CDU and SPD which could also undermine her leadership.   

 Other minority EU governments. Sweden, Spain, Portugal, Netherlands and Belgium all 
have vulnerable minority governments dependent on coalitions which could prove fragile. 
The Spanish government failed to pass a national budget in mid February so a snap general 
election is now scheduled for April 28.

 Italy, Austria, the Czech Republic and Hungary now form a strongly anti-immigration bloc 
within the EU.  Elections to the EU parliament are due in May/June 2019.

 The increases in interest rates in the US during 2018, combined with a potential trade war 
between the USA and China, sparked major volatility in equity markets during the final 
quarter of 2018 and into 2019. Some emerging market countries which have borrowed 
heavily in dollar denominated debt, could be particularly exposed to investor flight from 
equities to safe havens, typically US treasuries, German bunds and UK gilts.

 There are concerns around the level of US corporate debt which has swollen massively 
during the period of low borrowing rates in order to finance mergers and acquisitions. This 
has resulted in the debt of many large corporations being downgraded to a BBB credit rating, 
close to junk status. Indeed, 48% of total investment grade corporate debt is now rated at 
BBB. If such corporations fail to generate profits and cash flow to reduce their debt levels as 
expected, this could tip their debt into junk ratings which will increase their cost of financing 
and further negatively impact profits and cash flow.

 Geopolitical risks, especially North Korea, but also in Europe and the Middle East, which 
could lead to increasing safe haven flows. 

Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates
 Brexit – if both sides were to agree a compromise that removed all threats of economic and 

political disruption. 

 The Fed causing a sudden shock in financial markets through a sharp change of mind 
from ‘being patient’, to resuming raising the Fed Funds Rate, and in the pace and strength of 
reversal of QE, which then leads to a fundamental reassessment by investors of the relative 
risks of holding bonds, as opposed to equities. This could lead to a major flight from bonds to 

196



equities and a sharp increase in bond yields in the US, which could then spill over into 
impacting bond yields around the world.

 The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank Rate and, 
therefore, allows inflationary pressures to build up too strongly within the UK economy, 
which then necessitates a later rapid series of increases in Bank Rate faster than we 
currently expect. 

 UK inflation, whether domestically generated or imported, returning to sustained 
significantly higher levels causing an increase in the inflation premium inherent to gilt yields. 

197



Appendix B

Annual Report on the Treasury Management Service 2018/19 (Incorporating Outturn 
Prudential Indicators)

1.0 Introduction and background

1.1 This appendix summarises: 
 Capital activity during the year;
 Impact of this activity on the Council’s underlying indebtedness (the Capital 

Financing Requirement);
 Reporting of the actual prudential and treasury indicators;
 Overall treasury position identifying how the Council has borrowed in relation 

to this indebtedness, and the impact on investment balances;
 Summary of interest rate movements in the year;
 Detailed debt activity; and
 Detailed investment activity.

2.0 The Council’s Capital Expenditure and Financing 2018/19

2.1 The Council undertakes capital expenditure on long-term assets.  These activities 
may either be:
 Financed immediately through the application of capital or revenue resources 

(capital receipts, capital grants, revenue contributions etc.), which has no 
resultant impact on the Council’s borrowing need; or

 If insufficient financing is available, or a decision is taken not to apply resources, 
the capital expenditure will give rise to a borrowing need.  

2.2 The actual capital expenditure forms one of the required prudential indicators.  The 
table below shows the actual capital expenditure and how this was financed.

2017/18
Actual
£’000

2018/19
Estimate 

£’000

2018/19
Actual
£’000

Non-HRA capital expenditure 3,138 8,352 5,031
HRA capital expenditure Nil Nil Nil
Total capital expenditure 3,138 8,352 5.031
Resourced by:
 Capital reserves   1,783   481
 Revenue Funding        34         2,227
 PFI scheme       77    722
 Capital grants    1,244  1,601
Total capital resourced    3,138 8,352    5,031

3.0 The Council’s overall borrowing need

3.1 The Council’s 2018/19 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy (as required by 
Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) Guidance) was 
approved as part of the Treasury Management Strategy Report for 2018/19 on 16th 
February 2018 (Council 22nd February 2018).

198



3.2 The Council’s underlying need to borrow is called the Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR).  This figure is a gauge of the Council’s capital borrowing need.  The Council 
does not currently have a positive CFR, and so has no underlying need to borrow for 
a capital purpose.  
There remains limited scope for further capital investment in the existing capital 
programme unless additional receipts are generated, revenue reserves are used or 
borrowing takes place.  
Prioritisation of capital projects in the future will be key to the best use of the Council’s 
resources.  Any future decision on borrowing for capital projects would only be supported 
if the business case for the projects does not place additional cost pressure on the tax 
payer through the council tax charge.

3.4 The Council’s CFR for the year is shown below, and represents a key prudential 
indicator.  This includes PFI and leasing schemes on the balance sheet, which 
increase the Council’s borrowing need, the CFR.  No borrowing is actually required 
against these schemes as a borrowing facility is included in the contract. The Council 
has complied with this prudential indicator.

31 March 2018
Actual
£’000

31 March 2019
Original 
Indicator 

£’000

31 March 2019
Actual
£’000

Investment balance (23,973) (18,000) (23,406)
Net borrowing position (23,973) (18,000) (23,406)
CFR 0 0 0

3.5 Net borrowing represents the total Investment balance at 31st March 2019.   Delays 
in the capital programme and the timing of income and payments increased the 
anticipated cash held at 31st March 2019.  £3,325k of capital spend has been carried 
over from 2018/19 to 2019/20. 

3.6 The authorised limit - the authorised limit is the “affordable borrowing limit” required 
by S3 of the Local Government Act 2003.  The Council does not have the power to 
borrow above this level.  The table over the page demonstrates that during 2018/19 
the Council has maintained gross borrowing within its authorised limit.  For 
Breckland, this contains the PFI scheme plus a £250k overdraft limit.   The PFI value 
is required as it is part of the Prudential Indicators, however it does not show in the 
gross borrowing position as the scheme is fully financed.

3.7 The operational boundary – the operational boundary is the expected borrowing 
position of the Council during the year.  Periods where the actual position is either 
below or over the boundary is acceptable subject to the authorised limit not being 
breached. 

3.8 Actual financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream - this indicator 
identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long term obligation 
costs net of investment income) against the net revenue stream.

199



2018/19

Authorised limit £8,527k
Maximum gross borrowing position £0k
Operational boundary £0k
Average gross borrowing position £0k
Financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream (1.68%)

4.0. Treasury Position  as at 31 March 2019

4.1 The Council’s debt and investment position is organised to ensure adequate liquidity for 
revenue and capital activities, security for investments and to manage risks within all 
treasury management activities. Procedures and controls to achieve these objectives are 
well established both through Member reporting detailed in the summary, and through 
officer activity detailed in the Council’s Treasury Management Practices.  At the beginning 
and the end of 2018/19 the Council‘s treasury position was as follows:

Actual borrowing position 31 March 2018 31 March 2019
Principal Average 

Rate
Principal Average 

Rate
Fixed Interest Rate Debt 0 0
Variable Interest Rate Debt 0 0
Total Debt 0 0
Capital Financing Requirement £0 £0
Over/(Under) borrowing - -

Investment position 31 March 2018 31 March 2019
Principal

£’000
Average 

Rate 
Principal

£’000
Average 

Rate 

Fixed Interest Investments (17,052) (20,079)
Variable Interest Investments   (6,876) (3,290)
Total Investments (23,927) 0.839% (23,369) 0.891%
Icelandic Balances        (46)       (37)
Net borrowing position (23,973) (23,406)
Capital Loans  *    (464) 0

   
 *       These loans are capital and not treasury loans.  There was no balance outstanding at 

31/3/2019.  As capital loans, these are not required to be disclosed in this report but for 
completeness, they are included to show the full picture of how the Council has invested 
“surplus” cash and the return of 0.891% includes the return from these capital loans.

4.2 During 2018/19 the Executive Director, Commercialisation managed the debt position at 
nil.  All investments were for less than 1 year.

5.0 The Strategy for 2018/19

5.1 In August 2018, bank rates increased from 0.50% to 0.75%. Investment returns have 
improved slightly in 2018/19 but remain low.    See section 6 for latest update.

  

200



5.2 Change in strategy during the year -
There are no changes to Strategy during 2018/19 that have not previously been reported.  

6.0 Investment Rates in 2018/19 (Link Asset Services narrative)

6.1 Economic and interest rate forecasting remains difficult with so many external 
influences weighing on the UK. Interest rate forecasts, (and MPC decisions), will be 
liable to further amendment depending on how economic data and developments in 
financial markets transpire over the next year. Geopolitical developments, especially 
in the EU, could also have a major impact. Forecasts for average investment 
earnings beyond the three-year time horizon will be heavily dependent on economic 
and political developments (see Appendix A for more information).

7.0 Actual debt management activity during 2018/19

7.1 The Council did not undertake any borrowing in 2018/19 therefore there was no 
specific debt management required.

8.0 Investment Outturn for 2018/19

8.1 Investment Policy – the Council’s investment policy is governed by MHCLG guidance, 
which was been implemented in the annual investment strategy approved by the Council 
on 16th February (Council 22nd February 2018) and updated in the mid- year report 14th 
December 2018.  This policy sets out the approach for choosing investment 
counterparties, and is based on Link Asset Services colour coding methodology.  

8.2 The investment activity during the year conformed to the approved strategy, and the 
Council had no liquidity difficulties. 

8.3 Resources – the Council’s longer term cash balances comprise, primarily, revenue and 
capital resources, although these will be influenced by cash flow considerations.  The 
Council’s core cash resources comprised as follows, and met the expectations of the 
budget:

Balance Sheet Resources (£’000) 31 March 2018 31 March 2019
Balances 2,669 2,500
Earmarked reserves 14,833 15,753
Provisions (924) (2046)
Usable capital receipts                         (25)                           (1)
TOTAL 16,553 16,206

8.4 Investments held by fund managers - The Council has no funds with Fund 
managers.  All investments are managed internally.

8.5 Investments held by the Council - the Council maintained an average balance of 
approximately £23m of internally managed funds.  The internally managed funds earned an 
average rate of return of 0.891%.  The comparable performance indicator is the average 3 
Month LIBID rate, which was 0.675%. This compares with a budget assumption of £18m 
investment balances earning an average rate of 0.775%.   

9.0 Performance Measurement 

9.1 This service has set the following performance indicators and operated within the 
boundaries set as detailed in the March performance report attached at Appendix C:

201



 Security
Risk of default
Average Weighted Life
To measure the risk level associated with the Council’s portfolio of 
investments.

 Liquidity
Instant access cash – The Council requires an average balance of £5m 
instant access cash to be available at any time.
Bank Overdraft – The Council’s approved overdraft facility is £250k

 Yield
3 month LIBID
Actual interest earned against budget.

202



Appendix C

Security

The low actual risk for the Council’s portfolio of investments reflects its cautious approach to 
counterparty selection which in turn is reflected in lower investment returns.

Maximum 
risk level

Actual 
risk level Variance

   Investments maturing in < 1 year 0.060% 0.019% 0.041%
   Investments maturing between 1 - 2 years 0.060% n/a -
   Investments maturing between  2 - 3 years 0.080% n/a -

Liquidity

The Council had an average of £6.7m instant access cash available during the reporting period.  This 
is slightly in excess of the working capital sum required (£5m) but reflects the potential requirement 
for funding for large asset purchases during the year.  The end of year balance is below the £5m.  
The council did not use its overdraft facility in this reporting period.

Yield

Budget Forecast Variance
Interest receivable 2018-19 £273,169 £276,405 (£3,236)
Yield (3 month LIBID1) 0.675% 0.891% (0.216%)

The rate of return of 0.891% includes cash investments and loans to 3rd parties and is higher than the 
target yield.  The additional income is a result of loans to 3rd parties at market rates continuing for a 
longer time frame than originally budgeted, higher balances than expected (due to lower spend on 
capital programme) and an increase to the base bank rate. 

Our exposure to different counterparties is shown in the graph below.

 

17,285,623, 73%

2,000,000, 9%

270,000, 1%

2,000,000, 9%

2,000,000, 8%

banks - UK

Banks - Non 
UK

Loans to 3rd 
Parties

building 
societies

Local 
authorities

Counterparty Exposure

Actions/Decisions required

None

1 LIBID – London Inter-bank Bid Rate

Currently 
18% of 

investments 
have a 

maturity of 
less than 1 

week.

203



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Director of Strategy & Governance/Monitoring Officer - Maxine 
O'Mahony  

To: Governance & Audit Committee – 25 July 2019

Author: Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy, Legal Services Manager

Subject: Annual report on Standards Arrangements

Purpose: to update Members on the work undertaken on standards matters and 
complaints received against District, Town and Parish Councillors from 1 
April 2018 to 31 March 2019

Recommendation(s): 

1) That members note the contents of the report.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 At the meeting of full Council on 5 July 2012, the arrangements for dealing with 
complaints against members were approved in line with the requirements of the Localism 
Act 2011.

1.2 As part of the arrangements it was agreed that the role of monitoring Standards issues 
would be delegated to the Governance and Audit Committee.

1.3 This report updates members on the work undertaken on Standards complaints received 
from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019. 

1.4 The current arrangements for dealing with complaints against Members were approved at 
the meeting of full Council on 6 April 2017.  These arrangements can be found on the 
Council’s website at: https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/6697/Complaints-about-
Councillors

1.5 At full Council on 16 May 2019, Bob Davis was re-appointed as the Council’s Independent 
Person until the Annual Council meeting in May 2023.

2.0   Annual Report on Standards 2018/19

2.1   Details of the number of complaints that have been received, and the relevant outcomes 
  are as follows.  

Number of complaints
(1 April 2017 – 
31 March 2018)

Number of complaints
(1 April 2018 – 
31 March 2019)

Stage 1 (Initial consideration of a complaint)

Complaints received 30 21

204

Agenda Item 12

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/6697/Complaints-about-Councillors
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/6697/Complaints-about-Councillors
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/6697/Complaints-about-Councillors


Complaint does not relate to a breach 
of the code

17 17

Resolved under informal resolution 
and matter closed 0 0

Referred to Police 5 1

Case file still open as at 1 July 2019 
(date report written) 10 

(inc 5 referred to Police)

3
(inc 1 referred to Police)

% of complaints completed within 3 
months 50% 61%

Stage 2 (Formal consideration of a complaint)

Considered by Monitoring Officer to 
not merit further consideration 0 0

Referred to Standards Panel as 
deemed inappropriate for Monitoring 
Officer to consider

0 0

Resolved through informal resolution 0 0

Stage 3 (Investigation)

Referred for investigation 3 1

No failure to comply found by the 
Monitoring Officer following 
investigation.

2 0

Hearing Panel held and finds failure 
to comply 1 0

Hearing Panel held and finds no 
failure to comply 0 1

Resolved through informal resolution 0 0

Of the above cases where sanctions 
recommended and accepted by 
District/Town/Parish council

1 0

3.0 OPTIONS

3.1 None, the report is for information

4.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

205



4.1 None, the report is for information

5.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

5.1 The agreed arrangements for dealing with complaints received against elected members 
within the Breckland area requires the Monitoring Officer to provide an annual report to the 
Governance & Audit Committee.

5.2 This enables the committee to monitor the number of complaints received and whether the 
arrangements are fit for purpose.

5.3 Bringing the report to members ensures compliance with the Standards arrangements of 
Breckland Council in line with the requirements of the Localism Act 2011.

6.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; Constitutional & 
Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. Where the report 
author considers that there may be implications under one or more of these headings, 
these are identified below.

6.1.1 Constitution & Legal
6.1.1 Breckland Council has a duty placed upon it by the Localism Act 2011 to have in place 

arrangements for dealing with complaints against members of the District, Town and Parish 
Councils within the District.  These arrangements have been adopted by Full Council as 
required.

6.1.2 The Terms of Reference for the Governance & Audit Committee can be found in the 
Council’s Constitution and they outline the Committee’s duties to monitor standards 
arrangements and receive updates.

7.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

7.1 All wards are potentially affected by the contents of this report.

8.0 ACRONYMS 

8.1 None.

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy, Legal Services Manager
Telephone Number: 01362 656219
Email: sarah.wolstenholme-smy@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

206



This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: None 

207



BRECKLAND COUNCIL GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME

Meeting Date Agenda Item
25 July 2019

Treasury Management Out-turn 2018-19
Audited Financial Statements 2018-19
Annual Report on Standard Arrangements
Quarter 1 Risk Report
Member Training: Dealing with Standards Cases

3 October 2019
Self Assessment (now annually)
Annual Audit Letter
Member training: Treasury management 

12 December 2019
Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2019-20
Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 2020-21
Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity 
Follow Up on Internal Audit Recommendations 
Q2 Strategic Risk Report

13 February 2019

208

A
genda Item

 13



Officer Responsible

Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 Officer)
Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 Officer)
Executive Director, Strategy & Governance
Executive Director, Strategy & Governance
Executive Manager Governance / Democratic Services Manager

Head of Internal Audit
External Audit
Chief Accountant

Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 Officer)
Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 Officer)
Head of Internal Audit
Head of Internal Audit
Executive Director, Strategy & Governance

BRECKLAND COUNCIL GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME

209



Document is Restricted

210

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	7 Training (Standing item)
	8 Q1 Strategic Risk Report
	Appendix 1 for Q1 Strategic Risk Report

	9 Audit Results Report
	10 Audited Financial Statements 2018-19
	Appendix 1 for Audited Financial Statements 2018-19
	Appendix 2 for Audited Financial Statements 2018-19

	11 Treasury Management Out-turn 2018-19
	Appendix A - Economy and interest rates
	Appendix B - Annual report including prudential Indicators
	Appendix C - March 2019 Treasury performance report

	12 Annual Report on Standards Arrangements
	13 Work Programme
	16 Q1 Strategic Risk Report

